**Alison Crawford** 

Institute of Immunology and Infection Research Ashworth Laboratories Edinburgh University EH9 3JT

Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Edinburgh University

AUP

December 2004

# Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been composed by myself, describes my own work and has not been submitted in any other application for a higher degree.

Alison Crawford

December 2004

"The covers of this book are too far apart."

## **Ambrose Bierce**

ł

## Contents

.

| DECLARATION   | I           |
|---|-------------|
| CONTENTS  | III         |
| LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES  | <b>v</b> 11 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  | XI          |
| ABSTRACT  | XII         |
| ABBREVIATIONS   | XIII        |
| INTRODUCTION  | 1           |
| Overview  | 1           |
| THE INITIATION OF ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES                       | 1           |
| Architecture of secondary lymphoid tissue                         | 2           |
| T cell activation   | 4           |
| Costimulation   | 7           |
| Th1/Th2 paradigm  | 9           |
| Migration of T cells to Peripheral Tissues                        | 11          |
| Peripheral Deletion   |             |
| IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY  |             |
| Development of immunological memory                               |             |
| Subsets of memory T cells   |             |
| Maintenance of memory T cells                                     | 16          |
| B CELL RESPONSES  | 17          |
| B cell subsets  |             |
| Formation of the Germinal Centre                                  |             |
| The B cell memory phenotype                                       |             |
| Migration of lymphocytes throughout the secondary lymphoid tissue |             |
| MAINTENANCE OF SECONDARY LYMPHOID ARCHITECTURE                    | 21          |
| Lymphotoxin   |             |
| Lymphotoxin in organogenesis                                      |             |
| B cell control of splenic architecture                            |             |
| Role of TNF and LT in immune responses                            |             |
| B CELL REGULATION OF T CELL RESPONSES                             |             |
| TRACKING ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T CELLS                                 |             |
|   |             |

iii

| Conclusion   |   |
|--|---|
| Aims of PhD  |   |
| CHAPTER 2 - MATERIALS AND METHODS  |   |
| ANIMALS  |   |
| ANTIGENS AND ANTIGEN ADMINISTRATION  |   |
| PREPARATION OF CELL SUSPENSIONS FOR ADOPTIVE TRANSFER  |   |
| T CELL PURIFICATION  |   |
| CFSE LABELLING   |   |
| BONE MARROW CHIMERAS   |   |
| PRODUCTION OF BONE-MARROW DERIVED DCS  |   |
| FLOW CYTOMETRY   | 41  |
| ANTIBODY PRODUCTION, BIOTINYLATION AND FITC CONJUGATION  |   |
| DIGESTION OF LUNGS AND LIVERS  |   |
| SERUM ELISAS   |   |
| CELL-BASED ELISAS  | 43  |
| PROLIFERATION ASSAYS   | 44  |
| IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY   | 44  |
| PCR FOR GENOMIC LTa  | 44  |
|  | T   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN   | 1   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE   | ı<br>50   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE   | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS  | <b>1</b><br><b>50</b><br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>Results<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System  | <b>1</b><br><b>50</b><br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation   | <b>1</b><br><b>50</b><br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues  | <b>1</b><br><b>50</b><br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division   | <b>1 50</b> 52525252525257  |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells   | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells<br>Backcrossing OT-II mice  | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells<br>Backcrossing OT-II mice  | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN   MICE  | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells<br>Backcrossing OT-II mice<br>DISCUSSION<br>T CELL RESPONSES IN MHC-II <sup>-/-</sup> B CELL CHIMERAS ARE REDUCED COMPARE<br>WILDTYPE CHIMERAS        | 1<br>   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells<br>Backcrossing OT-II mice<br>DISCUSSION<br>T CELL RESPONSES IN MHC-II <sup>-/-</sup> B CELL CHIMERAS ARE REDUCED COMPARE<br>WILDTYPE CHIMERAS        | 1<br>50<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br> |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS<br>The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System<br>The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in µMT mice after immunisation<br>OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues<br>The reduced OT-II T cell number in µMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division<br>Attempts to get OT-II memory cells<br>Backcrossing OT-II mice<br>DISCUSSION<br>T CELL RESPONSES IN MHC-II <sup>-/-</sup> B CELL CHIMERAS ARE REDUCED COMPARE<br>WILDTYPE CHIMERAS<br>INTRODUCTION<br>RESULTS                   | 1<br>50<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>57<br>59<br>64<br>D TO<br>68<br>68<br>68   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN   MICE   INTRODUCTION   RESULTS   The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System   The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in μMT mice after immunisation   OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues   The reduced OT-II T cell number in μMT mice is due to fewer cells entering division   Attempts to get OT-II memory cells   Backcrossing OT-II mice   DISCUSSION   T CELL RESPONSES IN MHC-II <sup>-/-</sup> B CELL CHIMERAS ARE REDUCED COMPARE   WILDTYPE CHIMERAS   INTRODUCTION   RESULTS   Creating bone-marrow chimeras | 1<br>50<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>57<br>62<br>64<br>D TO<br>68<br>68<br>68<br>68   |
| CHAPTER 3 – EXPANSION OF OT-II T CELLS IS REDUCED IN B CELL DEFICIEN<br>MICE   | 1<br>50<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>52<br>   |

-

| OT UT all numbers are reduced throughout the CD4+T call mimany response                         |             |
|---|-------------|
| OI-II I cell numbers are reauced in parishard ticeves of MHC II <sup>4</sup> . B cell chimeres  | 70          |
| UI-II I cell numbers are also reauced in peripheral lissues of MIIC-II B cell chimeras.         |             |
| The reduced OI-III Cell number in MHC-II Chimeras is due to less cells entering division        | 0n70        |
| The number of OI-II I cells undergoing apoptosis is similar in both types of chimeras           | ۲۷۲۹<br>۵۱  |
| In vitro restimulation of I cells to examine proliferation and cytokine production              | 01          |
| MHC-II <sup>T</sup> B cell chimeras do not form anti-DNP specific antibodies                    |             |
| MHC-II Tetramers were used to examine polyclonal T cell responses in MHC-II <sup>+</sup> B cell | 04          |
| chimeras  |             |
| Staining with tetramers   |             |
| Tetramer staining is specific for cells responding to the H19env peptide                        | 8/          |
| Polyclonal T cell expansion is reduced in MHC-II <sup></sup> B cell chimeras                    |             |
| Memory responses are reduced in the absence of MHC-II on B cells                                |             |
| DISCUSSION  | 91          |
| 4* T CELLS REQUIRE CD40 BUT THIS CD40 IS NOT DERIVED FROM B CELLS                               | ;98         |
| INTRODUCTION  |             |
| RESULTS   | 101         |
| OT-II T cell numbers are reduced in CD40 <sup>11</sup> mice after immunisation                  |             |
| OT-II T cell numbers are reduced throughout the primary response                                | 102         |
| Reduced OT-11 T cells numbers in $CD40^{-1}$ mice was not due to preferential migration to      |             |
| peripheral tissues  | 103         |
| Absence of CD40 does not affect the rate of T cell apoptosis                                    |             |
| CD40 on B cells is not required for T cell expansion  |             |
| CD40 on B cells is not required for in vivo CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cell responses                   | 106         |
| In vitro restimulations to examine cytokine production  | 106         |
| Antibody responses are reduced in chimeras where the B cells do not express CD40                | 109         |
| Polyclonal T cell expansion and memory responses  | 110         |
| Memory response in the absence of CD40 on B cells   | 113         |
| DISCUSSION  | 114         |
| Expansion in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> mice   | 114         |
| T cell responses in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras   | 115         |
| Polyclonal responses in CD40 <sup>1-</sup> B cell chimeras                                      | 118         |
| Conclusions   | 118         |
| CELL-DERIVED LTα IS NOT REQUIRED DURING T CELL EXPANSION  | <u>12</u> 1 |
|   | 101         |
|   | 100         |
| RESUL 15  | I Zi        |

v

| APPENDIX   | 147          |
|--|--------------|
|  |              |
| CONCLUSIONS  |              |
| DISCUSSION   |              |
| SUMMARY  | 141          |
| DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS   |              |
| DISCUSSION:  |              |
| Antibody production is unaffected by B cell-derived $LT\alpha$                       | 134          |
| ` The absence of B cell-derived LT does not affect T cell differentiation            |              |
| Migration of T cells to peripheral tissues is not affected by the absence of LT from | n B cells132 |
| OT-II T cell expansion is similar in the absence of B cell-derived LT $lpha$         |              |
|  |              |

## List of figures and tables

#### **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

| Table 1.1 TNF-family knockout | mice |
|-------------------------------|------|
|-------------------------------|------|

- Figure 1.1 Diagrammatic representation of the splenic architecture
- Figure 1.2 T cell interaction with an APC
- Figure 1.3 Differentiation of naïve T cells to memory cells
- Figure 1.4 The interaction of various cell types for the initiation of an immune response

#### **Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods**

| Table 2.1 | Mice |
|-----------|------|
|-----------|------|

- **Table 2.2**Staining for flow cytometry
- Table 2.3Immunohistochemistry stains

#### Chapter 3 - Expansion of OT-II T cells is decreased in B cell deficient mice

- Figure 3.1 The adoptive transfer system.
- Figure 3.2 FACs staining.
- Figure 3.3 The peak of OT-II T cell expansion occurs four days after immunisation.
- Figure 3.4 OT-II T cells undergo less proliferation in B cell deficient mice compared to wildtype mice.
- Figure 3.5 OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in the absence of B cells
- Figure 3.6 Less OT-II T cells enter cell division in µMT mice compared to wildtype mice
- Figure 3.7 The proportion of OT-II T cells in the blood of OT-II chimeras was variable
- Figure 3.8 The responses were variable in OT-II chimeras reflecting the variable numbers of OT-II T cells present
- Figure 3.9 Lack of a large memory pool when using OT-II cells.

# Chapter 4 – T cell responses in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are reduced compared to wildtype chimeras

- Figure 4.1 Diagrammatic representation of the bone-marrow chimera procedure
- Figure 4.2 Staining to check reconstitution
- Figure 4.3 Immunohistochemistry
- **Figure 4.4** OT-II T cell expansion is reduced in the spleen of MHC-II<sup>/-</sup> B cell chimeras after immunisation
- **Figure 4.5** OT-II T cell undergo less expansion in MHC-II<sup>/-</sup> B cell chimeras and this decreased cell number is maintained throughout the primary response
- Figure 4.6 OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in the absence of MHC-II on B cells

| Figure 4.7      | Less OT-II T cells enter division in MHC-IT <sup>/-</sup> B cell chimeras  |
|-----------------|--|
| Figure 4.8      | OT-II T cells do not undergo more apoptosis in the absence of a cognate interaction through MHC-II on B cells                                    |
| Figure 4.9      | In vitro restimulations to examine proliferation and cytokine production   |
| Figure 4.10     | A cognate interaction with cells is required for IgM and IgG responses   |
| Figure 4.11     | Diagram of MHC-II tetramer   |
| Figure 4.12     | Gating procedure   |
| Figure 4.13     | CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells that respond to H19env peptide <i>in vitro</i> also bind the MHC-II tetramers   |
| Figure 4.14     | Experimental protocol for examining polyclonal T cell responses to H19env  |
| Figure 4.15     | Polyclonal T cell expansion is reduced in the absence of a cognate MHC interaction with B cells  |
| Figure 4.16     | Polyclonal memory responses are reduced in MHC-II <sup>-/-</sup> chimeras  |
| Chapter 5 – CD4 | ↓ <sup>+</sup> T cells require CD40 but this CD40 is not derived from B cells  |
| Figure 5.1      | CD40 signalling enhances CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cell expansion   |
| Figure 5.2      | OT-II T cells initially proliferate in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> mice but this expansion is reduced compared to wildtype mice                          |
| Figure 5.3      | OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> mice  |
| Figure 5.4      | CD40 does not affect the rate of CD4+ T cell apoptosis   |
| Figure 5.5      | T cell expansion is normal in the absence of B cell-derived CD40   |
| Figure 5.6      | CD40 on B cells is not required for T cell expansion   |
| Figure 5.7      | Proliferation and cytokine production is similar in T cells from CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras   |
| Figure 5.8      | CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are deficient in antibody production in response to DNP-OVA/alum immunisation                                |
| Figure 5.9      | Diagrammatic representation of the immunisation protocol used to examine polyclonal response in wildtype and CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras |
| Figure 5.10     | Polyclonal T cell priming is not reduced in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras  |
| Figure 5.11     | Polyclonal memory responses are normal in CD40 <sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras  |
|                 |  |

## Chapter 6 – B cell-derived LT $\alpha$ is not required during T cell expansion

| Table 6.1  | Expression of TNF, LT, LIGHT and their receptors  |  |
|------------|---|--|
| Figure 6.1 | Hapten-carrier system to examine memory T cell development in $LT\alpha^{}$ mice                                  |  |
| Figure 6.2 | B cells do not express LT $\alpha$ in chimeras reconstituted with $\mu MT$ and LT $\alpha^{-\!\!/\!-}$ bonemarrow |  |
| Figure 6.3 | Immunohistochemistry  |  |
| Figure 6.4 | OT-II T cell expansion can reach normal levels when the B cells do not produce LT                                 |  |
| Figure 6.5 | T cell migration to peripheral tissues is unaffected by the absence of B-cell produced $LT\alpha$                 |  |
|            |   |  |

.

Figure 6.6 T cell differentiation is not affected by the absence of B cell-derived LT

.

**Figure 6.7** LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are efficient at antibody production in response to DNP-OVA/alum "I've had great times in my life. This wasn't one of them."

**Groucho Marx** 

Х

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, David Gray, for all the help and advice throughout my PhD. Thanks also to the others who read my thesis for corrections: Megan, Tom, Georgia and Meera.

The T cell memory experiments would have been impossible without the MHC-II tetramers produced and provided by Ton Schumacher, Koen Schepers and Mireille Toebes so I am deeply indebted to them.

Thanks to everyone in the lab, past and present, especially Megan, who have helped me during my PhD in various ways.

Thanks also to Meera for the much-needed coffee breaks and gossip sessions. Also, to Georgia for the chats and especially for fetching me chips on evenings where the FACs machine was becoming my best friend. Thanks to the Tuesday evening pub group (Megan, Mandy, Leigh and Kristin) for the much-needed alcohol and nachos and also Andrew and Steve for the chats, scientific and otherwise.

Finally, thanks to my family for their support.

This work was supported by the Wellcome Trust.

### Abstract

The role B cells play in influencing T cell priming and differentiation has been strongly debated for a number of years. Although studies using B cell deficient mice have been useful in understanding the importance of B cells under different conditions, it is difficult to then dissect exactly how B cells could be regulating T cell responses. By transferring OT-II transgenic T cells into either B cell deficient (µMT) or C57BL/6 mice, expansion and contraction of T cells can be tracked ex vivo. Expansion of OT-II T cells is reduced in  $\mu$ MT mice compared to C57BL/6 mice. Thus, B cells are required for efficient T cell expansion. In addition to cognate interactions with T cells, B cells can provide costimulatory signals, secrete cytokines and influence the lymphoid microarchitecture. To dissect which B cell factor(s) are involved in enhancing OT-II T cell expansion, a model system was used where one molecule on the B cells is depleted at one time. This was achieved by creating bonemarrow chimeras using a combination of µMT bone-marrow with wildtype or deficient bone-marrow. Thus, all the B cells are either wildtype or deficient for a particular molecule. The molecules examined were MHC-II, which is required for antigen presentation, CD40, due to its costimulatory role, and lymphotoxin-alpha, for its role in maintenance of splenic architecture. Using the OT-II adoptive transfer system, we have shown a requirement for MHC-II but not CD40 on B cells for efficient T cell expansion. In light of these observations, the role of B cell-derived MHC-II for T cell memory generation was examined. To do this, I used MHC-II tetramers to track a polyclonal population of T cells in the host. Using this technique, I have shown that T cell memory is also diminished when the B cells do not express MHC-II. Thus, a cognate interaction with B cells is required for both efficient expansion and memory generation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

# Abbreviations

| Ab    | Antibody   |
|-------|--|
| Ag    | Antigen  |
| APC   | Antigen presenting cell                              |
| BCR   | B cell receptor                                      |
| BM    | Bone-marrow  |
| BSA   | Bovine serum albumin                                 |
| CD    | Cluster of differentiation                           |
| CFA   | Complete Freunds adjuvant                            |
| CFSE  | 5,6 carboxyfluorescein diacetate, succinimidyl ester |
| DC    | Dendritic cell                                       |
| DNP   | Dinitrophenyl  |
| ELISA | Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay                    |
| FACs  | Fluorescence-activated cell sorting                  |
| FCS   | Foetal calf serum                                    |
| FDC   | Follicular dendritic cell                            |
| FITC  | Fluorescein isothiocyanate                           |
| GC    | Germinal centre                                      |
| IC    | Immune complex                                       |
| IFN   | Interferon   |
| Ig    | Immunoglobulin                                       |
| IL    | Interleukin  |
| i.p.  | Intraperitoneally                                    |
| i.v.  | Intravenously  |
| KLH   | Keyhole limpet haemocyanin                           |
| LN    | Lymph node   |
| LPS   | Lipopolysaccharide                                   |
| LT    | Lymphotoxin  |
| MHC   | Major histocompatibilty complex                      |
| MM    | Metallophilic macrophages                            |
| MOG   | myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein                  |
| MZM   | Marginal zone macrophages                            |

•

.

| OD      | Optical density                  |
|---------|----------------------------------|
| OVA     | Ovalbumin                        |
| PE      | Phycoerythrin                    |
| PBS     | Phosphate buffered saline        |
| PNA     | Peanut agglutinin                |
| PNPP    | P-nitrophenyl phosphate          |
| S.C.    | Subcutaneously                   |
| SRBC    | Sheep red blood cells            |
| TCR     | T cell receptor                  |
| Tg      | Transgenic                       |
| Th1/Th2 | T helper type 1/ T helper type 2 |
| TLR     | Toll-like receptor               |
| TNF     | Tumour necrosis factor           |
|         |                                  |

"Theft from a single author is plagiarism – from three or more is research."

## Mark Twain

#### Introduction

#### **Overview**

The initiation of an immune response requires the complex interaction of various cell types. The requirements for the different cellular interactions and the molecules involved are only beginning to be unravelled and will almost certainly differ depending on the pathogen or immunisation strategy. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are key regulators of the immune response and therefore understanding the cellular and molecular requirements for the expansion, differentiation, and the formation of memory of these cells is crucial to understanding how immune responses can be directed.

#### The initiation of adaptive immune responses

The immune system is comprised of two parts: the innate and the adaptive compartments. The innate immune response relies on the detection of evolutionarily distant biochemical products that are produced by pathogens, but not by their hosts. These are recognised by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Cells of the innate immune system form the first arm of defence against an invading pathogen; they are present in peripheral tissues and have the crucial job of picking up antigen (Ag) and travelling to lymphoid tissues to present this Ag to T cells.

The adaptive immune response, on the other hand, is Ag-specific and has the ability to carry out a faster response upon re-exposure to the same Ag, termed immunological memory. It is made up of lymphocytes, of which B and T cells are the two major types. T cells can also be further divided into two main groups: CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells recognise peptides presented by MHC-II molecules whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognise peptide on MHC-I molecules. MHC-II molecules (HLA-DR, -DP, and -DQ in humans and I-A and I-E in mice) are heterodimers

formed by non-covalent association of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains. They are constitutively expressed on professional antigen presenting cells and are upregulated upon activation. They can also be expressed on many other cell types upon inflammatory signals.

The CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response begins when the T cells recognise peptide/MHC-II complexes on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and receive APC-derived costimulatory signals. These interactions lead to the activation, proliferation and differentiation of Ag-specific T cells.

An adjuvant is an agent that increases immunological responses. Most infectious microorganisms contain built-in adjuvants such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or unmethylated CpG DNA. These are recognized by pattern recognition receptors, e.g. toll-like receptors (TLRs). Experimentally, there are a number of adjuvants used to enhance responses to antigen. The two main mechanisms of adjuvants are to form a depot of antigen or to modulate the cells of the immune system. Depot adjuvants, for example alum, give a slower release of the antigen. In theory, the slow release should increase the length of time the Ag is available to the immune system for processing. Complete Freunds adjuvant (CFA) is a depot adjuvant but also possesses immunostimulatory potential through the presence of killed mycobacteria. It is a very potent adjuvant but has the disadvantage that it can result in granulomas forming. Adjuvants are used in vaccines to increase immunological memory.

#### Architecture of secondary lymphoid tissue

Ag presentation to T cells occurs in secondary lymphoid tissues, including the spleen, lymph nodes (LNs) and Peyer's patches. These are highly ordered structures containing lymphocytes (B and T cells), myeloid cells, e.g. dendritic cells, and non-haematopoietic stromal cells. These tissues are crucial for the initiation of immune responses since they increase the probability of the low number of naïve T cells coming into contact with an APC expressing their specific peptide. By continually

recirculating throughout the different lymphoid organs, T cells are able to survey the many different tissues for their specific Ag in a matter of days.

The spleen is the largest of the secondary lymphoid organs and is important for the filtration of blood. It is divided into the red pulp, containing mostly red blood cells, and the white pulp, where lymphocytes are found (figure 1.1 provides a diagrammatic representation of splenic architecture). The T cell–rich compartment, called the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath (PALS), is focused around the central arteriole. The B cells are organised into areas called follicles. The T and B cell areas are bordered from the red pulp by the marginal sinus and marginal zone. The marginal sinus, where metallophilic macrophages are found, is embedded in a layer of marginal zone composed of predominantly marginal zone macrophages (MZMs) and resident IgM<sup>+</sup>, IgD<sup>low</sup> B lymphocytes.

DCs are present in various regions of the spleen. CD11c<sup>+</sup> DCs are found concentrated near the marginal zone at breaks in the macrophage sheaths and in the T area of the white pulp (Pulendran et al., 1997). The DCs in the T cell area are termed interdigitating dendritic cells and are thought to serve as important antigenpresenting cells early in the immune response.

In contrast to the spleen, lymph nodes (LNs) collect antigen from lymph, a fluid that moves from the extracellular spaces of tissues to lymphatic vessels and is returned to the blood via the thoracic duct. The T cell area of LNs is composed of one central area called the paracortex. The B cell area, termed the cortex, surrounds the T cell area. The medulla is the innermost area and is made up of large blood vessels and the medullary sinus and medullary chords (made up of macrophages and plasma cells).

The migration of lymphocytes into the spleen and LNs is very different. For the spleen, entry is non-specific and all cells enter through the splenic artery into the marginal zone where the T and B cells then migrate into the white pulp. Entry into

the LNs, in contrast, is very specific and involves entry via high endothelial venules (HEVs) using ligands on the HEV (e.g. peripheral lymph node addressin (PNAd) and CCL21/ SLC (secondary lymphoid-organ chemokine) and receptors on the lymphocytes (CD62L and CCR7) (Berg et al., 1991; Potsch et al., 1999).

#### T cell activation

The T cell response to Ag can be divided into several phases: expansion, contraction and memory. Once T cells become activated, they undergo IL-2-dependent proliferation and differentiate into effector cells that secrete various cytokines. The expansion phase reaches a peak and is followed by the death of around 95% of the effectors. The few cells that persist after the contraction phase are termed memory cells; though it still is not clear whether they are derived from early activated cells or differentiated effectors.

The first step towards the activation of T cells *in vivo* is the capturing of Ag by APCs and their movement to secondary lymphoid tissues where they can present this Ag to T cells. Dendritic cells (DCs) are possibly the only cells able to activate naïve T cells. The reason why this is so remains unclear, though it may be due to the high levels of peptide–MHC complexes present on the cell surface, high levels of adhesion molecules, chemokine production, and a large variety of costimulatory signals.

DCs are a heterogeneous cell population, which reside in most tissues. The two main subsets of DCs are the CD11c<sup>+</sup>CD8 $\alpha$ <sup>-</sup> myeloid DCs, which are situated in peripheral tissues and the CD11c<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> lymphoid DCs that are found in the T cell area of the spleen and lymph nodes (LNs). Immature DCs are constantly sampling the environment around them, taking up antigen and presenting it. Once exposed to bacterial and viral products or inflammatory cytokines, they undergo maturation, increase expression of costimulatory molecules and traffic to secondary lymphoid organs where they interact with antigen-specific T cells. This movement to

secondary lymphoid tissues is the result of changes in chemokine receptor and adhesion molecule expression (Sallusto et al., 1998). T cells then promote further maturation of the DCs through costimulatory molecules and cytokines. In APCs, the MHC-I and -II molecules are present in different intracellular vesicles resulting in MHC-II molecules being loaded with exogenous Ags in the endocytic pathway and the MHC-I molecules being loaded with endogenous Ag in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Recently however, this compartmentalisation in the DC has been shown to be somewhat lenient, giving rise to so called cross-presentation (Albert et al., 1998; Bevan, 1976).

Understanding the initial interaction between T cells and DCs has been enhanced greatly with the application of confocal microscopy and two-photon laser-scanning microscopy (TPSCM). TPSCM allows the 3D visualisation of living cells within intact LNs and is proving invaluable to our understanding of cellular interactions. It has additional benefits over confocal microscopy in that the longer wavelengths are less damaging and they can penetrate more deeply into tissues (Cahalan et al., 2002).

It had previously been suggested that T cells first encounter Ag as peptide presented on maturing DCs that have migrated to the spleen and LNs from the periphery. However, by injecting a fluorescently labelled soluble Ag, Jenkins and colleagues visualised Ag entering the LN via the afferent lymph within 15 minutes after injection. The question of whether this Ag can be picked up and presented by resident DCs was answered using antibodies specific for peptide MHC complexes. Itano *et al*, as well as Manickasingham and Reis e Sousa, have shown pMHC complexes on DCs early after s.c. injection of Ag. The timing is too short to be due to migration of DCs from peripheral tissues, which has been shown to take around 6 hours (Itano *et al.*, 2003; Manickasingham and Reis e Sousa, 2000). Thus, T cells first encounter Ag presented by resident DCs and the migrating DCs arrive later to give additional stimulation. These migrating DCs home to the LNs via the afferent lymphatics. This is where T cells enter the LN from the blood and therefore this

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses might enhance the ability of the DC to scan T cells entering the LN (Bajenoff et al., 2003).

Each DC can cluster with as many as 10–20 lymphocytes at a time (Bousso and Robey, 2003; Hommel and Kyewski, 2003). T cells interacting with DCs can do so either for a prolonged time (several hours) due to antigen recognition leading to synapse formation or through a transient interaction (Miller et al., 2002; Stoll et al., 2002).

Possibly, different Ags are presented in different ways. It is unclear how non-soluble antigen first gets to the spleen and LNs. Also, Ag presentation by resident DCs may depend on the molecular mass of the antigen. Nolte *et al* have recently described the presence of a conduit system in the spleen. Conduits are networks of collagen fibres encased by fibroblastic reticular cells. Since only low molecular mass molecules are able to move out of conduits (Nolte et al., 2003), perhaps resident DCs are more likely to present these molecules compared to large molecular mass molecules.

Since TPSCM allows us to look at living cells, it has been very useful in furthering our understanding of how the T cells move throughout the LNs. Although previous studies have shown that T cells move along chemokine gradients (Cyster, 1999), recent work using TPSCM has visualised T cells moving by what appears to be a random walk throughout the LNs (Miller et al., 2003). This area is still controversial with new theories suggesting that although it looks like the T cells are moving randomly, they are actually moving along a reticular network (Matsumoto et al., 1997).

The speed at which the T cells move is also unclear at this stage. It is possible that whether the T cells move randomly or along gradients and what speed they move at depends on the area of the LN that the T cell is present in. For example, Ron Germain and colleagues have recently shown T cells moving more slowly in the

cortex area of the LN compared to deeper areas (Stoll et al., 2002). Moreover, by injecting fluorescent dextrans i.v. it has been shown that many of the poorly motile cells are displayed along the vessel walls (Huang et al., 2004).

#### Costimulation

In order to become activated, T cells receive signals through the T cell receptor (TCR) when they recognise of peptide-MHC complexes on APCs; however, they also require additional signals provided by costimulatory molecules. Figure 1.2 demonstrates the interaction between a T cell and an APC. Many of the costimulatory molecules belong either to the TNF/TNF receptor family or the CD28 and B7 families and can either amplify or oppose the TCR signals. The costimulatory molecules vary greatly in their expression; some are only expressed on a few cell types whereas others are widely expressed. Furthermore, some are constitutively expressed, e.g. CD28 whereas others are induced, e.g. inducible costimulator (ICOS) and OX40.

There are two ways costimulatory molecules can enhance T cell responses. They can increase the activation of the T cell thus promoting more division, or they can enhance the survival of the T cells. B7:CD28 interactions are critical for activation of naïve cells. CD28 amplifies the TCR signal and is also crucial for efficient IL-2 production by activated T cells (Diehn et al., 2002; Jenkins et al., 1991).

CD40 is a member of the TNF receptor family of proteins and is expressed on APCs, e.g. DCs, B cells and macrophages. It enhances APC maturation and increases expression of late costimulatory molecules, e.g. OX40L. CD40:CD40L interactions also have an essential role in enabling T cell help for B cells. Lack of CD40 on B cells results in the absence of germinal centres (GCs), immunoglobulin (Ig) class switching, somatic hypermutation and B cell memory formation (Kawabe et al., 1994). The understanding of the CD40:CD40L interaction between B and T cells has become more complex since B cells have now been shown to express CD40L on

their surface as well as produce a soluble form (Wykes et al., 1998b) and activated T cells can express CD40 (Bourgeois et al., 2002). The expression of CD40 by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells has been shown to have a positive role in memory formation (Bourgeois et al., 2002) though others have disputed this finding through the use of mixed bone-marrow chimeras (Lee et al., 2003a).

Recently, it was shown that CD40L is expressed by Tg T cells in two waves; it is expressed very early after activation then is internalised after encounter with CD40 on the APC before being upregulated on the surface again (Lee et al., 2002). Interestingly, CD40L is expressed more by Th1 cells compared to Th2 cells, probably due to the fact that IL-4 abolishes the second wave of CD40L expression (Lee et al., 2002). Thus, CD40L expression may be one way Th1 and Th2 T cells regulate responses differently.

OX40 is a member of the TNF family and is expressed one to two days after T cell activation. It is important for the survival of activated T cells (al-Shamkhani et al., 1996) as it inhibits the peripheral deletion of  $CD4^+$  T cells *in vivo* after expansion in response to Ag (Gramaglia et al., 2000). This is achieved through maintaining the levels of the anti-apoptotic molecules Bcl-<sub>2</sub> and Bcl-<sub>XL</sub> (Rogers et al., 2001).

The requirements for the different costimulatory molecules in the activation of naïve T cells compared to memory T cells seems to differ. Memory T cells appear to be less dependent on costimulatory molecules compared to naïve cells (London et al., 2000). Different requirements for costimulatory molecules can lead to requirements for different cells for T cell activation. Whereas naïve T cells are activated by DCs and possibly activated B cells, memory T cells can also be stimulated by resting B cells and macrophages, although to a lesser extent than with activated DCs and B cells (Croft et al., 1994).

## Th1/Th2 paradigm

Once T cells have become activated, they direct the ongoing response through the secretion of various cytokines. Their differentiation places them in subsets according to the cytokines they produce. Th1 cells secrete IL-2, tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), lymphotoxin, and  $\gamma$ -interferon ( $\gamma$ -IFN). They support the activation of CD8 T cells and macrophages and promote immunoglobulin class switching to the IgG2a isotype. Th2 cells, on the other hand, express IL-4 and IL-5 and facilitate B-cell activation and the production of IgG1 antibody (Ab) (Whitmire et al., 1998). *In vivo*, progressive polarisation of the cytokine response occurs in response to chronic antigenic stimulation due to the self-augmentation and negative cross-regulation inherent in T cell differentiation (Abbas et al., 1996). Some pathogens, such as *Leishmania major*, can elicit clearly polarised CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses *in situ* (Scott, 1989). Th1 and Th2 responses are critical for the eradication of different pathogens; Th1 responses eradicate intracellular pathogens such as *Listeria monocytogenes* whereas Th2 responses eradicate extracellular organisms such as nematodes.

The differentiation pathway of naïve cells, which only secrete IL-2, into polarised T helper cells, remains unclear. The instructive model implies that all naïve T cells can differentiate down any of the various pathways, with commitment to one pathway being based upon the cytokines present. In the selective model, daughter cells adopt differentiation states in a random (stochastic) manner and a pure population can arise due to the selective outgrowth of one cell type (Coffman and Reiner, 1999). Thus, in the instructive model, cytokines cause commitment to Th1 or Th2 whereas in the selective model, cytokines merely induce the outgrowth of already committed cells. There are many exceptions to the Th1/Th2 paradigm, however, with coexpression of Th1 or Th2 cytokines being confined to a small minority of cells with most cells expressing just one or two cytokines (Karulin et al., 2000).

T cell polarisation involves the expression of specific transcription factors, as well as epigenetic changes in cytokine genes that increase their accessibility. The IFN- $\gamma$  gene is demethylated in T cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  whereas methylation is accompanied by

lack of expression (Fitzpatrick et al., 1999; Fitzpatrick et al., 1998). The transcription factor T-bet is rapidly induced in developing Th1 cells but not Th2 cells. T-bet is controlled by TCR signalling and IFN- $\gamma$ R signalling (Lighvani et al., 2001). Another transcription factor involved in Th1 differentiation is STAT4. It is a component of the IL-12 signalling pathway and its role is to augment the level of IFN- $\gamma$  produced by cells (Yap et al., 2000). A transcription factor important for Th2 differentiation is GATA-3. In addition to increasing the expression of Th-2 specific cytokines, it downmodulates the expression of IL-12R $\beta_2$  (Ouyang et al., 2000).

Factors that determine the subset of Th cells that predominate in a response include: the form of the antigen, costimulation, hormones, cytokines, and the genetic background (Conboy et al., 1997; Gorham et al., 1996). Due to their key role in activation of naïve T cells, DCs are thought to be involved in the decision of a T cell to become Th1 or Th2. Reports in the literature are consistent with three models through which DC may control T cell polarization: 1) subclasses of DC; 2) the nature of the stimuli that activate DC; and 3) the kinetics of DC activation (Langenkamp et al., 2000; Moser and Murphy, 2000). It is likely, however, that these theories are not mutually exclusive.

Several groups have shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell populations activated *in vitro* progressively lose the ability to change their cytokine profile when transferred from type 1 to type 2 polarising conditions or vice versa (Assenmacher et al., 1998; Murphy et al., 1996; Sornasse et al., 1996). This suggests that activated T cells ultimately become irreversibly committed to the expression of a particular cytokine profile *in vitro* (Doyle et al., 1999). The loss of multipotentiality of activated T cells is in agreement with the differential expression of cytokine receptors in polarised cells as well as demethylation of cytokine promoters, changes in chromatin structure, and induction of type-specific transcription factor expression (Agarwal and Rao, 1998; Fitzpatrick et al., 1998). Indeed, studies looking at the progeny of differentiated cells demonstrate that changes in chromatin configuration are inherited

by subsequent generations of differentiated cells (Kass et al., 1997), becoming independent of continued IL-4 stimulation or STAT6 activation.

This leads to the question of whether memory T cells are pre-programmed to express Th1 or Th2 cytokines. There are obvious advantages to a memory response that retains the information from the primary response. Being able to respond immediately without the need for the decision of if and how to react would enable a much faster response. However, the response made during the primary reaction may not be appropriate the second time the host meets this organism. There is also the increased risk of autoimmunity if memory cells are fairly independent of further instructions. The memory cell population has been shown to be able to express a polarised phenotype. When looking *in vivo*, it was demonstrated that the response induced by the primary CFA or IFA immunisation largely maintains its Th1 or Th2 cytokine recall and Ab isotype profile after the mice are re-injected with the opposite type of adjuvant (Yip et al., 1999). This finding is consistent with the notion that, unlike naive T cells, memory cells are committed to their Th1 or Th2 lineages (Swain, 1994). It is likely that any committed memory T cells will be a subset of the memory compartment and there will also be non-committed memory cells.

#### Migration of T cells to Peripheral Tissues

Once activated, T cells leave the secondary lymphoid tissue and migrate to peripheral tissues. It is believed that the APCs can direct the T cells to migrate to the tissue that the APC originated from. For example,  $CD8^+$  T cells stimulated *in vitro* by DCs derived from Peyer's patches selectively upregulated the gut-homing integrin  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  whereas CD8s stimulated with DCs from LNs or spleen did not (Mora et al., 2003). Also, intranasal immunisation with virus led to short-term cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) memory in the spleen but long-term in mesenteric LN whereas the opposite was seen with intraperitoneal injection (Sprent, 1997). However, recent research has suggested that activated T cells may migrate into all peripheral tissues. By infecting with a tissue-specific virus, Sendai virus, Masopust *et al* detected viral specific cells in a variety of tissues (Masopust et al., 2004). Also, tracking of CD8 memory cells

has recently been studied using parabiosis, the surgical joining of mice. Resting memory T cells tracked to both lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues although entry into certain tissues, e.g. the intestinal mucosa was more restricted (Klonowski et al., 2004).

#### **Peripheral Deletion**

The contraction phase of the T cell response is required to maintain the homeostasis of the T cell compartment. Death of the T cells can occur through death by neglect, due to lack of growth factors and survival factors, or activation induced cell death (AICD). AICD of  $CD4^+$  T cells occurs mainly by Fas/FasL interaction where FasL engages Fas on the same cell (suicide) or neighbouring cell (fratricide) (Lenardo et al., 1999; Mogil et al., 1995). Fas is expressed on a wide variety of cell types whereas the expression of FasL is more restricted, being expressed on  $CD4^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T cells only after their activation.

When cells are deprived of growth and survival factors, cytochrome c is released from the mitochondria resulting in caspase activation and apoptosis. In AICD, oligomerisation of Fas or TNFR leads to the recruitment of the Fas-adaptor protein FADD or TRADD, respectively. FADD contains death effector domains (DEDs), which recruit FLICE/caspase 8 resulting in activation of FLICE and the onset of apoptosis (Muzio et al., 1996). Since the apoptotic pathways differ between passive cell death and AICD, the inhibitory molecules also differ. Passive cell death is inhibited by Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL whereas AICD is inhibited by FLICE inhibitory protein (FLIP).

It is unclear to what degree the different cell death mechanisms contribute to the CD4<sup>+</sup> clonal deletion phase. It is possible that Fas–FasL interaction promotes cell death early in AICD whereas TNFRII–TNF functions at a later stage (Lenardo et al., 1999). Another theory is that the mechanism of cell death depends on the duration of

Ag presentation; transient presentation may result in death by growth factor removal whereas chronic presentation may induce AICD (Van Parijs et al., 1998).

#### Immunological memory

Immunisation with antigen under inflammatory conditions induces immunological memory. An example of immunological memory is the discovery that those living on the Faroe Islands were resistant to a measles outbreak if they had survived infection during the first outbreak 65 years before. Memory is described as the ability of the immune system to respond more efficiently to an antigen upon re-exposure. The memory response is both quantitatively and qualitatively different to the primary response; the number of antigen-specific memory T cells is up to several hundred-fold higher than naïve cells and memory cells respond to lower concentrations of Ag and release effector cytokines faster than naïve cells do (Pihlgren et al., 1996; Swain, 1994). Another important trait of memory cells is that they can be present in peripheral tissues, where a pathogen is first encountered.

One of the main difficulties in examining T cell memory is the lack of reliable phenotypic markers that distinguish memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from effector cells. In mice, effector and memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have a similar surface phenotype including CD45Rb<sup>10</sup>, CD44<sup>hi</sup>, LFA-1<sup>hi</sup> and CD62L<sup>10</sup> although CD45Rb and CD62L can vary. Paralleling the gradual transition of activated T cells into resting memory cells, the phenotype of long-lived memory cells shows a partial reversion towards a naïve phenotype (Bunce and Bell, 1997). Late memory CD4<sup>+</sup> cells are relatively quiescent and show only limited expression of typical acute activation markers such as CD69, CD25 and CD40L (Swain et al., 1996).

#### **Development of immunological memory**

The differentiation of naïve T cells into memory cells is still not fully understood. The linear differentiation model predicts that cells go through an effector stage before escaping death and becoming memory cells. The branched differentiation

model predicts that T cells become activated and either differentiate into effector cells or form memory cells. These pathways are outlined in figure 1.3. Substantial evidence suggests that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells go through an effector phase before becoming memory cells. For example, memory CD8 cells represent the descendants of proliferating cells, which, at least transiently, express effector molecules such as perforin (Opferman et al., 1999) and granzyme B (Jacob and Baltimore, 1999). Further support for memory cells differentiating from effectors comes from the finding that memory cell development can take several weeks (Kaech et al., 2002). However, it is possible that there may be several ways for memory cells to form since Manjunath *et al* has also reported that memory CD8<sup>+</sup> cells can form without going through an effector phase. They used the T-GFP Tg mouse, where all the naïve T cells express GFP but fully differentiated cells lose GFP expression. Cells differentiated under certain conditions did not develop effector function but exhibited characteristics of memory cells (Manjunath et al., 2001).

As for  $CD4^+$  T cell memory generation, CD4 effectors have been shown to differentiate into memory cells without further division, as shown by transfer of rested *in vitro* generated CD4<sup>+</sup> effectors into MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> hosts (Hu et al., 2001). Thus, effector cells can form memory cells at least under certain conditions. Whether all effector cells have the potential to develop into memory cells or just a subpopulation has not been elucidated. In support of the opinion that memory cells differentiate from effectors, there is a strong correlation between the number of effector cells generated and the number of memory cells that result for the CD8<sup>+</sup> compartment (Sprent and Tough) and this may also be the case for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Evans et al., 2001).

If memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are generated from cells that have not gone through an effector stage then the question remains why some cells are activated and differentiate into effectors whereas others become activated and form memory cells. One hypothesis is that activation at a late stage of the immune response and, thus, encounters of low doses of antigen, instructs T cells to become memory precursors.

This hypothesis is supported by experiments showing that exhausting infections do not lead to memory formation (Moskophidis et al., 1993). When mice were infected with a high dose of LCMV, the CTLs disappeared within fifteen days (Moskophidis et al., 1993).

The mechanism by which some T cells manage to evade AICD and become memory cells is still unknown. An important question is whether memory cell development is a default pathway that occurs in absence of cell death-inducing signals or if the cells require positive signals to become memory cells. IL-7 has recently been proposed as a potential positive signal (Kaech et al., 2003; Kondrack et al., 2003).

#### Subsets of memory T cells

Long-lived memory CD4 and CD8 T cells exhibit phenotypic heterogeneity based on the surface expression of various molecules including CD62L (Lalvani et al., 1997) and CCR7 (Sallusto et al., 1999). Sallusto and colleagues have defined two types of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in humans based on CCR7 expression. Human T cells expressing high levels of the chemokine receptor CCR7 and low levels of CD45RA mostly express IL-2 but not IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, or IL-5 when restimulated. In contrast, CCR7<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>low</sup> T cells express all four cytokines. CCR7<sup>-</sup> memory cells also express high levels of  $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 2 integrins, which are required for homing to inflamed tissues (Sallusto et al., 1999). Thus, CCR7<sup>+</sup> memory (central memory) T cells are found in lymph nodes whereas CCR7<sup>-</sup> (effector memory) cells are found in non-lymphoid tissues.

Whether central and effector memory populations occur in mice is a contentious issue. In support of this idea, Bjorkdhal *et al* created an antibody against mouse CCR7 and found that CCR7<sup>low</sup>CD44<sup>high</sup> cells were considerable more numerous in the blood and spleen than in lymph node (Bjorkdahl et al., 2003). In addition, IL-2 production was detected from the CCR7<sup>high</sup> population whereas IFN-γ was mainly

produced by the CCR7<sup>low</sup> population. However, in a different study, when Tg T cells against an LCMV epitope were examined, IFN- $\gamma$  production was seen in both CCR7<sup>+</sup> and CCR7<sup>-</sup> T cells (Unsoeld et al., 2002). In addition, although Ahmed and colleagues identified memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that fit the central and effector memory definition according to CCR7 expression, these cell types were found to exhibit similar effector functions *ex vivo* (Wherry et al., 2003).

Due to the heterogeneity among memory cells, it is possible that some memory cells are derived from activated cells whereas others originate from effectors. Figure 1.3 shows the possible pathways in memory cell development.

#### Maintenance of memory T cells

Since memory T cells generate a faster, stronger response, it is essential for the production of efficient vaccines that we understand how memory T cells are maintained. There are a number of extrinsic factors that may play a role in maintaining memory cell numbers. The two main factors that have been described are antigen and cytokines. Given that antigen can be retained on the surface of FDCs for long periods of time, it was suggested that T cells may see small amounts of antigen long after the primary response has waned and this is required for their maintenance (Gray and Matzinger, 1991). This view has been questioned, however, since both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells seem to survive in the apparent absence of antigen as shown by the persistence of memory cells in the MHC<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Murali-Krishna et al., 1999; Swain et al., 1999). However, merely examining memory cell numbers is not enough: the migration and function of these T cells are essential to their ability to mount a strong response against a pathogen. As shown by Kassiotis et al, although MHC-II does not appear to be required to maintain memory cells numbers, the CD4<sup>+</sup> memory cells from MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not have the ability to respond to naïve B cells, unlike those from wildtype mice. Thus, the numbers of memory cells are maintained but the function of these cells is defective (Kassiotis et al., 2002).

The role cytokines play in maintaining memory T cells has been receiving increasing interest recently. For CD8 cells, IL-15 is required for the maintenance of memory T cells (Becker et al., 2002). Becker *et al* described normal memory CD8 T cell generation in response to LCMV in IL-15<sup>-/-</sup> mice but these memory CD8 T cells were not maintained (Becker et al., 2002). Whether CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also require cytokines for maintenance as memory cells is unclear. It is generally agreed that CD4<sup>+</sup> memory T cells do not need IL-15 for generation or maintenance (Zhang et al., 1998). Lantz *et al* demonstrated activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and memory recall responses of  $\gamma_c$  chain<sup>-/-</sup> TCR Tg cells (Lantz et al., 2000) suggesting none of the  $\gamma_c$  chain cytokines are required for memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, although others have shown that resting Tg memory cells are not maintained after transfer into IL-7<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Kondrack et al., 2003).

#### B cell responses

B cells play an important role in protection from various pathogens. This is thought to be largely due to the production of antibodies that bind to the pathogen and lead to its destruction. Antibodies can block toxins from certain bacteria or bind them to aid the uptake of Ag by cells of the innate immune system. There are different classes of Ig and these have slightly different functions. For example, both IgM and IgG can activate complement, however, only IgG can be transferred across the placenta. Naïve B cells express only IgM and IgD but may switch to IgG, IgA or IgE upon activation. However, B cells are likely to have other roles in the immune response to pathogens. Once B cells take up Ag through their BCR, they internalise it and present it in the context of MHC-II on their surface and can therefore act as Ag presenting cells, possibly helping T cell priming.

#### **B** cell subsets

Not all B cells act in exactly the same way. B-cells can be subdivided into B1 B cells, marginal zone (MZ) B cells and follicular B cells with the different subsets having slightly different functions. B1 B cells are found mainly in the peritoneal and

pleural cavities and recognise bacterial antigens and a proportion express CD5 (Martin and Kearney, 2001). They produce 'natural' antibodies and their responses are mostly T cell-independent. MZ B cells ( $IgM^{bright}IgD^{dull}CD21^{high}$ ), on the other hand, have a partially activated phenotype (Martin and Kearney, 2002). They are non-recirculating and reside in the MZ of the spleen (Gray et al., 1982). Exposure to bacterial products or Ag initiates movement of the MZ B cells to the white pulp (Gray et al., 1984). It has recently been shown that they require sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P<sub>1</sub>) for localisation in the MZ (Cinamon et al., 2004). S1P<sub>1</sub> acts to counteract the CXCL13 signal, which guides B cells to follicles and therefore downregulation of S1P<sub>1</sub> may be the mechanism by which MZ B cells move to the white pulp (Cinamon et al., 2004).

Although MZ B cells were originally believed to be involved in T-independent responses, they may also regulate T-dependent responses. T-independent responses are against mitogenic stimuli (TI-1) or to repeating polymers (TI-2), which cross-link BCRs, whereas T-dependent responses are against protein Ags, requiring a cognate interaction with T cells to provide help for B cells to respond efficiently. MZ B cells have recently been shown to express high levels of B7.1 and B7.2 (Oliver et al., 1999) and therefore may be able to present Ag to naïve T cells. In addition, mice that lack MZ B cells (Pyk2<sup>-/-</sup> mice) also showed a defect in IgM responses to TD antigens (Guinamard et al., 2000).

Follicular B cells are found in secondary lymphoid tissue and respond to Tdependent antigens. They are IgM<sup>dull</sup>IgD<sup>bright</sup>CD21<sup>low</sup>CD23<sup>+</sup>. These B cells go on to form germinal centres giving rise to memory B cells.

#### **Formation of the Germinal Centre**

It is unclear how follicular B cells first see antigen. Antigen could either enter through the blood or lymph in soluble form (Itano and Jenkins, 2003) or as unprocessed antigen on the surface of APCs (Wykes et al., 1998a). Within a few hours of B cells recognising their specific antigen, they increase the expression of CCR7 and migrate into the PALS where they proliferate in the presence of cognate T cell help (Reif et al., 2002). T and B cells form stable interactions at this area between 24 and 48 hours after s.c. injection of antigen (Garside et al., 1998). The majority of activated B cells form plasma cells that initially secrete IgM but later switch to other isotypes. Some members of the expanded B and T cell populations migrate into follicles where they commence dividing and go on to form GCs. The GC is a specialised microenvironment where B cells can undergo proliferation, maturation and selection. While the B cells that stay and proliferate in the T cell area form short-lived plasma cells, cells arising from the germinal centre form either longlived plasma cells or memory cells. Molecules that are known to support the development of GCs include CD40 and CD40L (Foy et al., 1994a), CD28 (Ferguson et al., 1996), and B7-2 (Borriello et al., 1997). These molecules have the potential to act directly at the level of the B cell/T cell interactions that are required for maturation of B cells into GC cells (Fu and Chaplin, 1999). Figure 1.4 demonstrates the movement of the various cell types involved in the initiation of an immune response.

GCs tend to peak in number around fourteen days after immunisation and persist for around 30 days (MacLennan et al., 1997). The GC initially contains only dividing B cell blasts (centroblasts) but shortly resolves into dark and light zones with the light zone being the area rich in the FDCs (described below). While B cells proliferate in the dark zone, a hypermutation mechanism is activated which diversifies the rearranged variable region genes (Jacob et al., 1991; Liu et al., 1992). The cells are then selected for high affinity antibodies, possibly via immune complexes on FDC (Camacho et al., 1998). Those that do not produce high affinity antibodies by hypermutation can be rescued through another round of mutation and selection.

Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) are found in the B cell follicles of secondary lymphoid tissue and are therefore likely to play an important role in regulating B cell responses. The origin of these cells is still controversial with some studies suggesting

that FDC develop locally from the surrounding reticular network (Dijkstra et al., 1984) and others indicating that FDC migrate into the peripheral lymphoid organs (Kapasi et al., 1998). It may not be the case of one or the other. FDC in the spleen may develop from the surrounding reticular meshwork and FDC in the LN may develop from migrating cells, which enter via the subcapsular sinus (Ettinger et al., 1998).

Antigen is deposited on FDC, which retain antigen in its native state complexed with antibody and complement. These immune complexes (ICs) can be held on the surface of FDC for months if not years (Nossal et al., 1968). In addition to being a source of antigen long after the infection has cleared, FDC also provide contact-dependent antigen-nonspecific costimulatory signals that facilitate chemotaxis and proliferation of B cells (Cyster et al., 2000).

FDCs are thought to play a key role in GC responses. Although it was originally thought that FDCs were crucial for the initiation of germinal centres, studies showing GC formation in the absence of FDCs has questioned this role (Koni and Flavell, 1999). However, although GCs did form in the absence of FDCs, they were not sustained suggesting that FDCs are necessary to maintain GCs. Once the GC B cells exit cell cycle and become centrocytes they are programmed to die unless the receive a positive signal. If their BCR engages Ag on the FDCs, and they receive a CD40 signal from T cells, they obtain these survival signals and can exit the germinal centre (Casamayor-Palleja et al., 1996).

#### The B cell memory phenotype

The B cell memory response is faster than the primary response with higher antibody titres and antibody of higher affinity. Memory B cells display several differences to naive B cells: they have a lower threshold of activation and ability to directly present antigen to helper T cells. Memory B cells can either join the recirculating pool of lymphocytes or home to antigen draining sites such as the marginal zone of the
The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

spleen (Liu et al., 1996). They can be identified by lack of expression of sIgD and CD38 or by the expression of switched Ig isotypes IgG and IgA (although identification by this method excludes non-switched memory B cells).

#### Migration of lymphocytes throughout the secondary lymphoid tissue

Given that the initiation of immune responses requires the interaction of various cell types, it is essential that the cells are able to migrate throughout the secondary lymphoid tissues to interact with various cells. Chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules all play a role in maintaining the ordered structure of lymphoid tissues. Chemokines are soluble low-molecular weight molecules that have leukocyte activation and/or chemotactic activity. Several chemokines have been identified which direct the positioning of B and T cells within the splenic white pulp, e.g. CXCL13 (BLC) (Gunn et al., 1998a; Legler et al., 1998), CCL19 (ELC) (Ngo et al., 1998) and CCL21 (SLC) (Gunn et al., 1998b). Different cell types produce different chemokines; DCs and stromal cells in the PALS produce CXCL13 and attract B cells as well as some T cells to B cell follicles. CCL19 and CCL21 bind CCR7, expressed by naïve T cells and a subset of memory T cells whereas CXCL13 binds CXCR5 expressed on B cells and a subset of T cells.

#### Maintenance of secondary lymphoid architecture

Members of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) family, including TNF, lymphotoxin- $\alpha_3$  (LT $\alpha_3$ ) and LT $\beta$  (LT $\alpha_1\beta_2$ ), have been implicated in both the development and the maintenance of B cell follicles, FDC clustering and GC formation in mice (Alimzhanov et al., 1997; Koni et al., 1997).

#### Lymphotoxin

TNF- $\alpha$  and LT- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\beta$ ) are structurally related homotrimeric proteins, which share the receptors TNFR-I/p55 and TNFR-II/p75. LT also exists in a membrane-

associated form in combination with the  $\beta$  chain, a transmembrane protein, forming both  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  and  $LT\alpha_2\beta_1$ . The  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  heterotrimer is designated lymphotoxin- $\beta$  (LT- $\beta$ ) (Browning et al., 1991) and binds with high affinity to LT $\beta$ R (Crowe et al., 1994) on stromal cells in various lymphoid tissues (Ware et al., 1995). The  $LT\alpha_2\beta_1$ heterotrimer can interact with TNFR-I and TNFR-II, but its ability to interact with and activate the LT $\beta$ R is not fully defined or indeed even if the  $LT\alpha_2\beta_1$  heterotrimer is present in biologically meaningful quantities *in vivo* (Fu and Chaplin, 1999). LT $\alpha$ and LT $\beta$  are produced by activated T and B cells.

#### Lymphotoxin in organogenesis

The role of the lymphotoxin has been studied using various knockout mice. Mice lacking LT $\alpha$  (and therefore deficient in both LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$ ) have virtually no LN or Peyer's patches (PP). A certain number of the mice do contain mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN) but the number varies from 1%-20% depending on the investigator (Futterer et al., 1998) and in some mice they were reduced to one node (Fu and Chaplin, 1999). LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice are also deficient in MZMs and FDC and fail to achieve normal B/T segregation in the white pulp of the spleen (De Togni et al., 1994; Matsumoto et al., 1996). LT $\beta^{-/-}$  mice exhibit a similar phenotype to LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice with the exception that some LNs are retained (mesenteric and cervical) and the splenic architecture is less disturbed (Ngo et al., 1999). This suggests signalling through both LT $\beta$ R and the TNF receptors play a role in LN organogenesis and splenic architecture.

The different roles of LT and TNF are highlighted when comparing the phenotype of  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  mice with TNF or TNFR<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Mice deficient in TNF or TNF receptors develop a complete set of LNs (Fu and Chaplin, 1999), the splenic architecture is less disturbed, with T and B cell zones segregated (Le Hir et al., 1996; Pasparakis et al., 1996), and the marginal zone, albeit altered, is present in the spleen of these mice. This suggests that the disrupted LN formation, T/B segregation and marginal zones

in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice is mediated through a failure of signalling through the  $LT\beta/LT\beta R$  arm of the family. The phenotypes of the mice are outlined in table 1.1.

| Genotype                   | T/B<br>segregation | MZM | FDCs     | References                   |
|----------------------------|--------------------|-----|----------|------------------------------|
| TNF-α <sup>-/-</sup>       | +                  | +/- | -        | (Pasparakis et<br>al., 1996) |
| TNFR-1 <sup>-/-</sup>      | +                  | +/- | -        | (Pasparakis et<br>al., 1997) |
| TNFR-2 <sup>-/-</sup>      | +                  | +   | +/-      | (Erickson et<br>al., 1994)   |
| LTα- <sup>/-</sup>         | -                  | -   | -        | (De Togni et<br>al., 1994)   |
| LTβ- <sup>/-</sup>         | +/-                | -   | -        | (Alimzhanov et al., 1997)    |
| B cell- LTβ <sup>-/-</sup> | Mostly +           | +/- | Mostly - | (Tumanov et<br>al., 2002)    |

| Table 1.1 shows the phenotypes of the various 1141 of E1 knockout mich | Table 1 | 1.1 | shows | the | phenotype | es of | the | various | TNF | or | LT | knockout | mice |
|--|---------|-----|-------|-----|-----------|-------|-----|---------|-----|----|----|----------|------|
|--|---------|-----|-------|-----|-----------|-------|-----|---------|-----|----|----|----------|------|

Knockout mice are important for revealing the role of various molecules, however, they do not allow us to differentiate between a role for that molecule during development of the organism and an ongoing requirement for maintenance. Fusion proteins that block signalling are invaluable for uncovering an ongoing requirement for a particular molecule as they can be given at various times after birth. For example, treatment with the  $LT\beta R$ -Ig fusion protein led to the disappearance of FDCs in the LN within twenty-four hours (Mackay and Browning, 1998). In the spleen, FDC were also absent and the marginal zones were disrupted (Mackay et al., 1997). Thus, FDC require the continual presence of  $LT\beta$ .

#### **B** cell control of splenic architecture

B cells have a critical role in organising the splenic architecture. Spleens of  $\mu$ MT mice are around six-fold smaller than WT mice (Asano and Ahmed, 1996). In addition, Crawley *et al* showed that in mice lacking B cells, marginal zone DCs were no longer found at specific DC areas bordering the T cell area (Crowley et al., 1999). Moreover, there were almost no marginal zone macrophages and metallophilic macrophages, although the white and red pulp remained well-defined. There is a possibility that DC populations are different in  $\mu$ MT mice. Similar proportions of subsets has been described (Bradley et al., 2002; Moulin et al., 2000) with similar numbers of DCs (Linton et al., 2000). However, others have described decreased numbers of CD11c<sup>+</sup> DCs (Crowley et al., 1999; Ngo et al., 2001).

Wang *et al* have shown that either T- or B-cell-derived TNF in the context of B-cellderived LT is sufficient to form FDC and GC (Wang et al., 2001). Given that LTBR and TNFR-I are both expressed on FDC themselves (Ryffel and Mihatsch, 1993) it is reasonable to assume that the B cell delivers its LT signal directly to the FDC precursor.

#### Role of TNF and LT in immune responses

 $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice do not form GC though rare aggregates of PNA-binding cells can be detected around central arterioles when mice are immunised with sheep red blood cells (SRBCs) (Alimzhanov et al., 1997). The defect is less severe in  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  mice, with clusters of PNA positive cells present in the spleen and mLN although the size and number is reduced (Alimzhanov et al., 1997).

The presence of GC in the LNs of  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  mice but not in the spleen led to the suggestion that the lack of splenic GCs may be the result of disorganisation of splenic architecture (Koni and Flavell, 1999). Fu et al examined whether the reduced Ag-specific IgG response in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice was due to the absence of  $LT\alpha$  on the lymphocytes or the disrupted splenic architecture. When irradiated  $LT\alpha^{--}$  mice were reconstituted with wildtype splenocytes and immunised immediately with SRBC, the splenic microarchitecture remained disturbed and there was no IgG response. In contrast, when irradiated wildtype mice were reconstituted with  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  splenocytes, a strong IgG response resulted (Fu and Chaplin, 1999). Thus,  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  lymphocytes had no intrinsic defect in the ability to form an IgG response. Whether GC form when splenic architecture is disturbed may depend on the immunisation protocol used, as others have found that disrupted splenic architecture does not prevent GC formation. Using a transgene that expresses LT in the pancreas, kidney, and skin, this limited ectopic expression of LT restored LNs in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice but did not restore splenic architecture. Despite this, GC responses were restored in both the spleen and the LNs when immunising with OVA emulsified in CFA, a much stronger immunisation protocol (Sacca et al., 1997).

Along with a defect in GC formation,  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$ ,  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  and  $LT\beta R^{-/-}$  mice have impaired high affinity isotype switched Ig responses following primary and secondary immunisation with T cell dependent antigens without adjuvant (Futterer et al., 1998; Koni et al., 1997; Matsumoto et al., 1997).

The requirement for LT $\beta$  in GC responses appears to be continuous. Following treatment with LT $\beta$ R-Ig, no splenic GCs were formed upon immunisation with SRBCs. GCs were detected in the mLN of these mice though they were more diffuse and their number and size varied between experiments (Mackay et al., 1997). Memory B cell responses are also reduced in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice (Fu et al., 2000).

The role of LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$  in T cell responses is less well understood. Fu *et al* reported that the microenvironment of LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice could support the generation of memory T cells but not of memory B cells suggesting that T cell responses are less affected than B cell responses in these mice (Fu et al., 2000).

#### **B** cell regulation of T cell responses

Whether B cells are involved in regulating T cell responses is a contentious issue. The very first experiments looking at the role of B cells involved injecting mice with anti-mouse  $\mu$ -chain antibodies resulting in an almost complete loss of B cells (Janeway et al., 1987; Ron and Sprent, 1987). These studies showed that T cell priming to protein Ags does not occur in the absence of B cells. However, when mice with a genetic deficiency in B cells were produced, conflicting results arose.

B cell deficient mice were created either by disrupting the gene encoding the membrane-spanning exon of the  $\mu$  heavy chain ( $\mu$ MT mice) (Kitamura et al., 1991) or by disrupting the JH variable region of the Ig heavy chain (JHD mice) (Chen et al., 1993). Both types of mice have a block at the pre-B cell stage. Using these mice, B cells have been shown to be either essential or dispensable for every stage of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response (Epstein et al., 1995; Linton et al., 2000; Macaulay et al., 1998; Rivera et al., 2001; van Essen et al., 2000). There are several reasons why such conflicting results may have arisen. In addition to the different types of B cell deficient mice and the different genetic backgrounds the mice are maintained on, a diverse range of antigen dose, immunisation routes and *in vitro* read-outs have been used to examine T cell responses.

Nevertheless, even when the same antigen was used, conflicting results arose. A common antigen used to study T cell responses is the protein keyhole limpet haemocyanin (KLH). Immunisation with KLH has been reported to result in both reduced recall responses from µMT mice (Linton et al., 2000; Rivera et al., 2001)

26

and normal T cell responses (Constant et al., 1995; Epstein et al., 1995). Linton *et al* and Rivera *et al* both used *in vitro* recall assays to examine T cell responses. Epstein *et al* used a variety of tests including *in vitro* restimulations and also skin grafts and granuloma formation to schistosome eggs. Although Constant *et al* showed no difference between C57BL/6 mice and  $\mu$ MT mice in response to KLH, they did see reduced responses in  $\mu$ MT mice in response to ovalbumin (OVA) and pigeon cytochrome c (PCC).

In addition to responses to nominal antigens, the requirement for B cells has also been studied in various autoimmune diseases; for example,  $\mu$ MT NOD mice do not develop diabetes (Serreze et al., 1996). B cells are also required for the induction of some autoimmune diseases such as some models of EAE (Myers et al., 1992) but, confusingly, not for others (Hjelmstrom et al., 1998). The difference seems to be the method of EAE induction; Whereas induction of EAE with human MOG requires B cells, murine MOG does not (Oliver et al., 2003). In additions, B cells have also been shown to be important for the regulation of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)-induced EAE (Fillatreau et al., 2002).

By transferring activated B cells into  $\mu$ MT mice, several groups have shown that T cell priming can be restored. While some have found that using activated B cells that are specific for any antigen is sufficient (Linton et al., 2000), others have shown that the B cells must recognize the same antigen as the T cells and are therefore likely to be required for Ag presentation to T cells. For example, Rivera *et al* demonstrated that HEL-specific B cells did not rescue T cell responses to KLH whereas polyclonal B cells did (Rivera et al., 2001). Abbas and colleagues also demonstrated a requirement for Ag-specific B cells *in vivo* by transferring Ag-specific B cells into anti- $\mu$  treated mice (Kurt-Jones et al., 1988). Thus, whether B cells are required for Ag-presentation or some other B cell-derived factor remains unclear.

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

B cells can influence not only the expansion of T cells but also their differentiation, too. B cells may play a role in helping T cells to differentiate into Th2 cells. When OT-II T cells were transferred to  $\mu$ MT or C57BL/6 mice, the OT-II T cells from  $\mu$ MT mice produced less IL-4 (Linton et al., 2003). Since some cells were able to produce IL-4 in this study, B cells were not absolutely required for Th2 differentiation but the number of IL-4 secretors was greatly reduced. B cells may not always be required to enhance Th2 responses, though, as Epstein *et al* showed equivalent IL-4 production in  $\mu$ MT mice when they were infected with *Schistosoma mansoni* eggs (Epstein et al., 1995). This may be due to the fact that schistosomes are such potent Th2 inducers.

One mechanism by which B cells could promote IL-4 production is through costimulation. The costimulatory molecule OX40L appears to be involved in Th2 differentiation. Indeed, when  $CD4^+$  T cells were stimulated *in vitro* with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28, they produced significantly more IL-4 in the presence of an OX40L transfectant compared to a control cell line (Flynn et al., 1998). A role for B cell-derived OX40L for *in vivo* IL-4 production by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells has also been shown. B cells from C57BL/6 mice could reconstitute IL-4 production by OT-II T cells in  $\mu$ MT mice but OX40L<sup>-/-</sup> B cells could not (Linton et al., 2003).

A reason why B cells may preferentially promote Th2 over Th1 responses is that Th2 cells may preferentially migrate into B cells follicles to provide help to B cells (randolph et al., 1999). However, Th1 cells can also enter follicles to provide help to B cells (Smith et al., 2004). This is not completely surprising considering that Th1 responses promote production of high affinity IgG2a antibodies.

The case for B cell involvement in CD8 responses is equally controversial. While several investigators have found that the CD8 response to influenza is normal in  $\mu$ MT mice, others have shown that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses are decreased (Bergmann et al., 2001; Kopf et al., 2002). However, despite the conflicting reports, there is a

general trend that B cells are not required for acute infections such as influenza but may be required for persistent infections such as chronic LCMV infection (Thomsen et al., 1996; Topham et al., 1996).

Understanding the importance of B cells in modulating  $CD8^+$  T cell responses has the additional complication that  $CD4^+$  T cells may also regulate CD8 responses in some cases. Thus, it has to be considered whether B cells have a direct role in affecting CD8 responses or an indirect role through the regulation of CD4 responses. Shen *et al* examined CD8 responses to recombinant *Listeria monocytogenes (L. monocytogenes)* expressing a peptide for LCMV (gp33) (Shen et al., 2003). Both CD4 and CD8 expansion was similar in  $\mu$ MT and wildtype mice but the contraction phase of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was greatly enhanced in  $\mu$ MT mice resulting in fewer memory cells. The enhanced contraction phase was only partly due to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, since it was only slightly enhanced in CD4<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Thus, B cells appear to directly modulate the CD8<sup>+</sup> clonal deletion phase in the response to *L. monocytogenes*. This similar expansion but greater decline was also witnessed in  $\mu$ MT mice in response to LCMV infection (Asano and Ahmed, 1996).

Several studies have shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may provide help for CD8 responses (Matloubian et al., 1994; Shedlock and Shen, 2003; Sun and Bevan, 2004). The mechanism suggested some time ago was through CD4 T cells further activating APCs and thus allowing the APC to efficiently activate the CD8 T cells. This was termed "licensing" (Lanzavecchia, 1998) and is thought to be achieved through CD40:CD40L interactions. The importance of CD40 was revealed by the finding that some CD8 responses are being reduced in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Whitmire et al., 1999). Also, expansion of OT-I CD8 T cells can occur by immunising with soluble OVA in the presence of an agonistic anti-CD40 mAb (Lefrancois et al., 2000).

The discovery that CD40 is also expressed on  $CD8^+$  T cells led to the hypothesis that perhaps  $CD4^+$  T cells could directly interact with  $CD8^+$  T cells through CD40 on the

29

CD8 T cell and CD40L on the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell (Bourgeois et al., 2002), though this possibility has been challenged by others (Lee et al., 2003a; Schoenberger et al., 1998).

A difficulty in understanding the role of B cells in modulating T cell responses is the many and various ways B cells could affect T cell responses. In addition to MHC-dependent cognate interaction, B cells can provide costimulatory signals (Linton et al., 2003), secrete cytokines, such as IL-10 (O'Garra et al., 1990) and LT $\beta$  (Tumanov et al., 2002), produce antibodies, and affect the lymphoid microarchitecture (Tumanov et al., 2002). Therefore, to fully understand what role B cells play in regulating T cell responses, individual molecules on B cells must be examined. The use of bone-marrow chimeras allows us to dissect how the B cells are helping T cells by allowing us to deplete one molecule at a time.

## Tracking antigen-specific T cells

In a mouse, as few as one in one hundred thousand T cells are specific for a single Ag. In the past, many of the assays used to detect T cell responses *in vivo* relied on functional tests, e.g. limiting dilution assays (LDAs). LDAs give an indication of how many cells are able to perform a particular function in response to antigen. However, not all cells will produce a particular cytokine or are cytotoxic so the number of antigen-specific cells present is often underestimated. To overcome this problem, TCR transgenic mice were produced where all the T cells were specific for a single antigen. Due to the large number of antigen-specific cells and the absence of T cell memory in these mice (Croft et al., 1994) an elegant solution was to transfer TCR transgenic cells into a wildtype recipient mouse allowing the number of antigen-specific cells to be present at a more physiological number (Kearney et al., 1995). The antigen-specific cells can then be tracked *ex vivo* using an anti-idiotypic antibody or antibodies to a congenic marker. The advantage to transferring antigen-specific cells is that the increased number of Ag-specific cells allows them to be tracked even before immunisation.

30

The OT-II Tg mouse is on the C57BL/6 background and recognises the OVA peptide 323-339. Unlike the DO.11.10 Tg cells, which can be tracked using an antibody to the TCR (anti-idiotypic antibody), the OT-II cells do not have an anti-idiotypic antibody. Instead, they are tracked using the V $\alpha$  and V $\beta$  chains of the TCR. Since there are a certain number of T cells in a C57BL/6 mouse that also use this combination of TCR genes, around 0.5% of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells stain for V $\alpha_2$ V $\beta_5$  even in a C57BL/6 mouse. To overcome this problem, many have now crossed these mice with mice expressing a congenic marker, e.g. Ly5.1 mice, allowing the cells to be tracked with antibodies to this marker.

Transgenic mice do possess a certain number of T cells with an additional V $\alpha$  chain as a result of incomplete allelic exclusion and therefore around 5-10% of T cells show a memory phenotype in these mice. The transgenic mice can be crossed with RAG<sup>-/-</sup> mice to prevent this incomplete allelic exclusion.

Altman and co-workers devised the revolutionary concept of using multimers of MHC molecules with peptide to detect antigen-specific cells (Altman et al., 1996). MHC tetramers allow the detection of a polyclonal T cell response in an unmanipulated mouse. This is especially important since the different transgenic cells used may be biased towards particular responses due to their affinity for the peptide-MHC complex or the genetic background. The limitation of MHC tetramers comes with the low number of T cells present before immunisation; clonal expansion must occur before the cells are readily detectable, hampering the ability to study the initial expansion of the T cells.

#### Conclusion

T cells are critical for secreting cytokines at the site of infections and also for directing B cell responses. The factors that T cells require to mount efficient

responses remain undefined. Although it is generally agreed that T cells are first activated via interactions with DCs in the T cell areas of secondary lymphoid tissues, other cells may play an important role in regulating T cell responses. In support of this, many T cells responses are reduced in the absence of B cells, thus, B cells or a B cell-derived factor play a role in modulating the T cell response. Whether the requirement for B cells is due to a requirement for Ag presentation, costimulation or some other factor, for example cytokines, is not clear.

#### Aims of PhD

In order to understand how B cells can regulate T cell responses, a number of potential factors have been examined in this project. Possibly the most important way B cells could regulate a T cell response is through the presentation of Ag. However, B cells may also provide costimulatory molecules, such as CD40. Another possibility is that B cells affect T cell responses indirectly by affecting the microarchitecture of the secondary lymphoid tissues. Therefore, T cell responses in the absence of B cell-derived MHC-II, CD40 or LT $\alpha$  has been determined.



**Figure 1.1.** Diagrammatic representation of the splenic architecture. Different cell types are compartmentalised into different areas of the spleen. The T cell area is surrounded by the B cells area and both are encompassed by the marginal zone and marginal sinus.



**Figure 1.2.** T cell interacting with an APC. T cells require multiple signals to become fully activated. Signal 1 is the interaction between the TCR and peptide-MHC complexes on the APC. Signal 2 consists of interactions between various costimulatory molecules.



**Figure 1.3.** There are a number of possible pathways for the differentiation of naïve T cells into memory cells. Naïve T cells could fully differentiate into effectors before becoming memory cells (A). Alternatively, naïve T cells may differentiate either into effectors, which then go on to die by AICD, or activated cells that become memory cells (B). A third possibility is that effector memory cells are generated from fully differentiated effectors whereas central memory cells are derived from activated cells that have not differentiated into effectors (C).

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses



DC enter from periphery

**Figure 1.4.** The initiation of the adaptive immune responses requires the interaction of various different cell types. T cells are first activated by DCs and then migrate towards the border of the T cell zone. Meanwhile, B cells are being activated in B cell follicles and are migrating towards the border T cell/B cell border to interact with T cells. Once this interaction occurs, the B cells either differentiate into plasma cells in the T cell area or migrate back to the follicles to initiate GC formation.

"A theory is something nobody believes, except the person who made it. An experiment is something everybody believes, except the person who made it."

## **Albert Einstein**

## **Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods**

#### Animals

All animals were maintained under specific pathogen free conditions at the University of Edinburgh facilities. All mice were bred in-house except  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice, which were obtained from Neil Mabbott at the Institute for Animal Health, Edinburgh. The conditions and the screening protocol are outlined in the table below (Table 2.1). For screening, mice were bled from the tail and 50µl of blood was added to 50µl of heparin at 100U/ml (AAH Pharmaceuticals, West Midlands, UK) to prevent coagulation. Red blood cells were removed using red blood cell lysing solution (Sigma, Dorset, UK), cells were stained with antibody and antibody binding was detected by flow cytometry. All experiments involving animals were performed under guidance from the appropriate Home Office personal and project licenses.

## Antigens and antigen administration

For adoptive transfer experiments, ovalbumin (OVA) (Sigma) was coupled to dinitirophenyl (DNP) (Sigma) by reacting 32µl of 2, 4-dinitrofluorobenzene (DNFB) solution (Sigma) per mg of OVA in 0.1M sodium borate buffer, pH 8.4 (Sigma). The reaction was then dialysed against PBS to remove free hapten. Protein antigens were precipitated in alum with 9% aluminium potassium sulfate dodecahydrate (Sigma) solution and washed three times in PBS. Mice were immunised intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 200µg alum precipitated DNP-OVA in 200µl.

For tetramer experiments, mice were immunised with H19env peptide (EPLTSLTPRCNTAWNRLKL), the epitope of moloney murine leukaemia virus presented by I-A<sup>b</sup>. Before immunisation, the peptide was emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) by sonication of equal amounts of peptide with CFA then adding a little extra CFA. Peptide OVA (pOVA) (ISQAVHAAHAEINEAGR) emulsified with CFA was used as a negative control. Both H19env and pOVA were obtained from the Advanced Biotechnology Centre (ABC), Imperial College, London, UK.

When immunising with DCs, DCs were pulsed with peptide for 90 minutes before  $10^6$  DCs being transferred s.c. into the hind legs (50µg each leg) or i.v. (200µl).

#### Preparation of cell suspensions for adoptive transfer

Peripheral lymph nodes (popliteal, inguinal, auxillary, brachial, superficial cervical, and iliac), and mesenteric lymph nodes were mashed using Nytex mesh (Wm Ritchie, London, UK) and forceps in Iscoves modified Dulbeco's medium (IMDM, Sigma) with 2% foetal calf serum (FCS, Labtech International, Andover, MA, USA), 2mM L-glutamine (Gibco<sup>TM</sup>, Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK), 100U/ml penicillin, 100 $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco<sup>TM</sup>) and 50 $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ -ME, BDH Ltd, Poole, UK). They were then washed once in IMDM with no added serum and resuspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, Sigma). The cells were passed through parachute silk before being injected intravenously into mice.

## T cell purification

Where stated, LN and spleen preparations were depleted of B cells, other MHC-II <sup>+</sup>ve cells and CD8 cells before being transferred. Cells were incubated with biotinylated anti-kappa (187.1, in-house), anti-MHC-II (M5114, (Bhattacharya et al., 1981), anti-IgM (Southern Biotechnology Associates, AL, USA) and anti-CD8 (53.6.72, in-house).

#### **CFSE** labelling

Cells were washed in PBS then resuspended at  $1 \times 10^7$ /ml in 5µM CFSE (Molecular Probes, Paisley, UK) in serum-free IMDM for 8 minutes at 37°C. The reaction was quenched with an equal volume of FCS and the cells washed several times. If cells were used for adoptive transfers, cells were washed in serum-free IMDM and resuspended in PBS (Sigma). If used for culture, cells were washed in complete IMDM.

#### **Bone Marrow Chimeras**

Chimeras were made as described in Fillatreau *et al* (Fillatreau and Gray, 2003). Recipient mice were lethally irradiated with 1150cGy  $\gamma$  radiation from a caesium source. Bone marrow cells were removed (femur, tibia and humerus) from donor mice and flushed with IMDM containing 2% FCS. They were then passed through an 18 gauge needle then a 25 gauge needle to generate a single cell suspension. Red blood cells were removed using red blood cell lysing solution (Sigma) and the cells washed in 2% IMDM. Bone marrow cells were depleted of T cells using anti-Thy1 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and separated on a MACS magnetic column (Mitenti Biotec) according to the manufacturers instructions. The bone marrow cells were resuspended in PBS and mixed to the desired ratio of 80%  $\mu$ MT and 20% WT or KO BM. Between 3×10<sup>6</sup> and 5×10<sup>6</sup> cells were injected into the irradiated recipients. The chimeric hosts were then left for eight weeks to allow loss of radiosensitive cells and for establishment of transferred bone-marrow. Reconstitution was confirmed by staining for T cells and B cells by flow cytometry.

#### Production of Bone-marrow derived DCs

Femurs and tibias were removed and single cells obtained as described above. Cells were resuspended in RPMI medium (Sigma) with 10% FCS, 2mM L-glutamine (Gibco<sup>TM</sup>), 100U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco<sup>TM</sup>) and 5% GM-

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

CSF supernatant (from X-63 transfected cell line (Stockinger et al., 1996)). Cells were plated at  $3.75 \times 10^5$  cells per well in a 24 well plate. Cells were washed on day 3 by swirling plates then removing 1ml of medium and replacing with new media. Cells were also washed on day 6 but this time media was replaced with RPMI containing 1% mouse serum (Harlan Sera-Lab, Leicestershire, UK) instead of 10% FCS. The DCs were harvested on day 7 by pipetting up and down. They were incubated overnight with LPS (0.1µg/ml) (Sigma) at 1×10<sup>6</sup> cells per ml then washed and peptide-pulsed (50µg/ml) for 90 minutes before being washed and resuspended in PBS then passed through parachute silk before being transferred into mice.

#### Flow cytometry

Single cell suspensions of spleens and LNs were prepared and the RBCs lysed from spleens. Up to 10<sup>6</sup> cells were stained in 50µl FACs buffer (PBS with 2% FCS) for 15 minutes on ice, then washed in FACs buffer. The secondary antibody was incubated for a further 15 minutes on ice then the cells washed twice before transferring to FACs tubes. Details of the antibodies used are outline in table 2.1. Most antibodies were purchased from Pharmingen (San Diego, CA, USA). Stained samples were acquired using a FACScalibur (Becton Dickinson) and Cellquest software. FACS analysis was completed using Flowjo software (Tree Star Inc, CA, USA).

For detection of polyclonal cell populations, MHC-II tetramers were used. These were produced in Ton Schumacher's lab in the Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam. Splenocytes and LN cells were plated in round bottom 96-well plates (Corning Inc, Costar, VWR International Ltd, Poole, UK) at 1×10<sup>6</sup> cells per well and labelled with the class II tetramers in 10% IMDM at 37°C. Plates were gently agitated every 20-30 minutes for 3 hours then additional stains added. CD4-APC (Pharmingen), F4/80-RPE-Cy5 (Serotec, Oxford, UK) and CD44-FITC (142.5 clone) were added for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed in FACs buffer (2% FCS in PBS with 0.05% sodium azide (Sigma)) and added to FACs tubes (BD Falcon, San Diego, CA, USA). Just before acquisition of the FACScalibur,

41

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses propidium iodide (PI) (Pharmingen) was added to identify dead cells. Cells were

gated for live cells and 200,000 events in this gate were collected.

In some experiments, CFSE-labelled splenocytes were also stimulated with peptide for three days then stained with tetramers. For *in vitro* stimulation, splenocytes were labelled with CFSE and plated with  $1\mu$ g/ml H19env for three days at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. They were then stained as before except CD44 was not added.

#### Antibody Production, biotinylation and FITC conjugation

Hybridomas were grown in culture flasks in 5% IMDM until transferred to roller bottles where they were cultured in 2% IMDM and bubbled with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The contents of the roller bottles were filtered to remove cells and immunoglobulin was precipitated with 291g of ammonium sulphate (Sigma) per litre of supernatant. Precipitates were dissolved in PBS and dialysed against PBS. Antibodies were purified by binding to a 5ml Hitrap protein G column (Amersham biosciences, Bucks, UK) at pH 7 and eluted at pH 2.8 using the AKTA*prime* (Amersham biosciences). The antibody was then dialysed against PBS until pH was neutral.

Purified antibodies were conjugated to biotin by reacting with 204µg EZ-Link<sup>TM</sup> NHS-LC-Biotin (Pierce, Cheshire, UK) in dimethyl formamide (DMF, Sigma) per mg of antibody. FITC conjugation was carried out by reacting 1mg antibody with 50ng FITC in 0.05M carbonate-bicarbonate buffer, pH 9. In both cases, conjugated antibodies were dialysed against PBS.

#### Digestion of lungs and livers

Mice were euthanised with  $C0_2$  individually and the rib cage immediately opened up. The hepatic vein was cut and the mouse perfused through the heart with PBS containing 75U/ml heparin. The liver and lungs were then removed and the tissue was passed through cell strainers (BD falcon, CA, USA). Livers were spun at 30g for

42

3 minutes to remove large parenchymal cells then the supernatant layered onto Lympholyte-M (Cedarlane Laboratories, Hornby, Ontario, Canada). Lung cells were also layered onto Lympholyte-M and both liver and lung cells were span at 2000g for 20 minutes. The opaque layer of cells, containing lymphocytes, was removed and washed in complete IMDM.

#### Serum ELISAs

Blood was left on ice for 4 hours to allow coagulation and then span at 15000rpm to collect serum. Microtitre plates were coated with 5µg/ml DNP-BSA overnight at 4°C. After washing with PBS, two-fold dilutions of sera were added to wells starting with a 1 in 5 dilution and left for 2-4 hours at room temperature. After washing again with PBS, alkaline-phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibodies, anti-IgM and anti-IgG were added (Southern Biotechnology Associates, AL, USA) for 2 hours at room temperature. Antibody binding was detected using P-nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP, Southern Biotechnology Associates, AL, USA) dissolved in 0.5M magnesium chloride in 9.6% diethanolamine. Readings were made at an OD of 405nm.

#### Cell-based ELISAs

T cells were plated at  $2 \times 10^5$  cells per well with  $2 \times 10^6$  irradiated APCs in a 96-well plate. The OVA peptide was diluted in log-fold dilutions at a starting concentration of 100µM. After 48 hours, 100µl of cells were transferred to maxisorb plates coated the day before with anti-cytokine antibodies (IFN- $\gamma$  (clone R4-6A2), IL-2 (clone JESE-1A12) or IL-4 (clone 11B11) (Pharmingen) and cytokine standards added to top rows. The following day, plates were washed and biotinylated antibodies (IFN- $\gamma$  (clone XMG1-2), IL-2 (clone JES6-5H4) or IL-4 (clone BVD6-24G2)) (Pharmingen) added for two hours at room temperature. Plates were then washed and extravidin-AP (Sigma) added at 1/10,000 for one hour at room temperature. Antibody binding detection was performed as described above.

#### **Proliferation Assays**

Cells were plated as for cell-based ELISAs. After 48 hours, 0.5µCi of [*methyl*-3H]Thymidine (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK) was added per well. 16 hours later, the cells were harvested onto filter mats (Wallac, Turku, Finland) using a 96well harvester (Wallac). The mats were dried on a hot plate then wax was melted onto them (Wallac) then allowed to re-solidify. The mats were counted using a Micrbeta scintillation counter and software (Trilux, Arnsberg, Germany).

#### Immunohistochemistry

Spleens were frozen in OCT-embedding medium (BDH, Dorset, UK) in cryomoulds (BDH, Dorset, England) on dry ice and stored at -80°C. Tissue sections (5µm thick) were cut onto glass multi-well slides (Hendley-Essex, London, UK) using a cryostat (model CM1510, Leica, Germany) and left overnight to dry before fixation in acetone for 10 minutes. Sections were stained in the combinations stated in table 2.3. Primary stains were left for 2 hours and secondary stains for one hour. After staining, sections were mounted with the embedding medium moviol (Hoechst, Frankfurt, Germany) and analysed using an Olympus BX50 microsope. Images were captured with a Hamamatsu digital camera and Openlab imaging software (Improvision, Coventry, UK).

#### PCR for genomic LTa

B cells were purified using CD19 beads and LS magnetic columns from miltenyi biotec according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were lysed in 200μl lysis buffer (100mM Tris-HCl pH8.5, 5mM EDTA, 0.2% SDS, 200mM NaCl, 100μg/ml proteinase K) then proteinase K inactivated by incubating at 99°C for 10 minutes. 1μl of this was then used in a PCR reaction with the following cycling conditions (94°C for 3 mins then 94°C for 30 secs, 62°C for 30 secs and 72°C for 1 min for 35 cycles followed by 72°C for10 mins). Primer sequences were given by Neil Mabbott: Lymphotoxin alpha Oligos. (band at 550bp)

LTa11 - CTC CAC ATG ACA CTG CTC GG

LTa22 – CTC TCC AGA GCA GTG AGT TC

| Strain                                      | Reference                  | Conditions kept in   | Screening   |  |  |
|---|----------------------------|--|---|--|--|
| C57BL/6                                     |                            | Normal cages with water  | None  |  |  |
| BALB/c                                      | •                          | Normal cages with water  | None  |  |  |
| CD40-/-                                     | (Kawabe et al.,<br>1994)   | Filter topped cages with borgal  | Bled occasionally and<br>stained with<br>antibodies (Ab) to<br>CD40 |  |  |
| µMT-H2⁵                                     | (Kitamura et<br>al., 1991) | Breeders kept in isolator,<br>weans removed from<br>isolator and kept in filter<br>topped cages with | Bled occasionally and<br>stained with Ab to<br>B220                 |  |  |
|   |                            | borgal   |   |  |  |
| I-A <sup>b-/-</sup>                         | (Cosgrove et<br>al., 1991) | Filter topped cages with borgal  | Bled occasionally and<br>stained with Ab to<br>CD4 and MHC-II       |  |  |
| OT-II (H-<br>2A <sup>b</sup><br>restricted) | (Barnden et al.,<br>1998)  | Normal cages with water  | Bled and stained with<br>Ab to CD4, V $\alpha$ 2 and<br>V $\beta$ 5 |  |  |

Table 2.1 Animal strains

| Detection                 | on Antibody Clone       |       | Source                     | Dilution |  |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|-------|----------------------------|----------|--|
| OT-II T cell              | CD4-APC                 |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/400    |  |
| expansion                 | Va2-PE                  |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/200    |  |
|                           | Vβ5-biotin              |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/100    |  |
|                           | CD44-FITC               | 142.5 | In house                   | 1/100    |  |
|                           | SA-QR                   |       | Sigma                      | 1/100    |  |
| OT-II                     | CD4-APC                 |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/400    |  |
| Annexin-V                 | Va2-FITC                |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/200    |  |
| stanning                  | Vβ5-biotin              |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/100    |  |
|                           | Annexin V-PE            |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/100    |  |
|                           | SA-QR                   |       | Sigma                      | 1/100    |  |
| Chimera<br>reconstitution | B220-PerCP              |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/300    |  |
|                           | CD8-PE                  |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/200    |  |
|                           | MHC-II-FITC             | M5114 | In house                   | 1/100    |  |
|                           | CD40-biotin             |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/100    |  |
|                           | SA-APC                  |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/200    |  |
| MAC                       | CD4-APC                 |       | All                        | 1/300    |  |
| purification              | B220-PerCP              |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/200    |  |
|                           | CD8-PE                  | -     |                            | 1/400    |  |
| Tetramer                  | CD4-APC                 |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/400    |  |
| binding                   | F480-RPE-Cy5            |       | Serotec                    | 1/400    |  |
|                           | CD44-FITC               |       | In house                   | 1/100    |  |
|                           | PI                      |       | Pharmingen                 | 1/400    |  |
|                           | MHC-II<br>tetramers- PE |       | Ton<br>Schumacher's<br>lab | 1/10     |  |

Table 2.2 Staining for flow cytometry

,

.

;

.

| Stain | 1° Ab              | Source   | Diluti | 2° Ab  | Diluti | Source   |
|-------|--------------------|--|--------|--|--------|--|
|       |                    |  | on     |  | on     |  |
| No. 1 | Ant-Thyl<br>FITC   | In-house   | 1/100  |  |        |  |
|       | Anti-IgM-<br>TRITC | Serotec  | 1/200  |  |        |  |
|       | FDC-M2<br>biotin   | Immunokontact  | 1/100  | Alexa<br>fluor 350                                   | 1/100  | Molecular<br>Probes                                    |
| No. 2 | Ant-Thyl<br>FITC   | In-house   | 1/100  |  |        |  |
|       | Anti-IgM-<br>TRITC | Serotec  | 1/200  |  |        |  |
|       | ERTR9              | Supernatant<br>from G. Kraal,<br>Dept of Cell<br>Biology and<br>Immunology,<br>Amsterdam,<br>Netherlands |        | Anti-rat<br>IgM biotin<br>then<br>Alexa<br>fluor 350 | 1/100  | Southern<br>biotechnol<br>ogies<br>Molecular<br>Probes |

Table 2.3 Immunohistochemistry stains

.

.

"We've made great medical progress in the last generation. What used to be merely an itch is now an allergy."

### Mark Twain

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

.

.

# CHAPTER 3 – Expansion of OT-II T cells is reduced in B cell deficient mice

#### Introduction

 $CD4^+$  T cells help to direct the immune response through the production of various cytokines, which act to regulate many cells of the immune system. For example, IFN- $\gamma$  promotes the activation of macrophages whereas IL-4 promotes B cell activation. Since  $CD4^+$  T cells play an integral role in regulating immune responses, it is crucial for vaccine design to understand the mechanisms involved in T cell activation.

Although DCs are thought to be the only cell capable of activating a naïve T cell, other cells may be crucial for enhancing T cell responses or in controlling the differentiation of T cells. After initial activation by a DC in the T cell area, T cells migrate to the border of the B cell follicle where they interact with B cells (Garside et al., 1998). Whether this interaction is required merely for B cell activation or whether it is also critical for T cell activation or differentiation is unclear.

Several studies have attempted to examine the activation of T cells in the absence of B cells. However, many of these have relied on *in vitro* restimulation assays to measure T cell responses, and this may not provide a complete picture of the events occurring *in vivo*. In addition, many of these *in vitro* assays detect a T cell function, for example, limiting dilution assays can be used to detect effector functions, such as cytokine production. However, the problem with this assay is that not all activated cells will necessarily have this function. Thus, it tends to underestimate the numbers of activated T cells (Doherty, 1998). In this study, the OT-II adoptive transfer system was used to follow CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion *ex vivo* in the presence or absence of B cells.

In addition to T cell expansion, B cells may also play a role in regulating T cell memory generation. For example, memory T cell responses to KLH have been reported to be reduced in the absence of B cells (van Essen et al., 2000). In these experiments, SCID mice, which contain neither T nor B cells, were reconstituted with T cells by transplantation of foetal thymi. The mice were then immunised and a cohort of these given B cells at the same time. The mice that also received B cells had significantly more KLH-specific T cells 10 weeks after immunisation than those that did not (van Essen et al., 2000).



#### Results

#### The OT-II Adoptive Transfer System

The adoptive transfer system was used to follow T cell responses ex vivo. Figure 3.1 shows a diagrammatic representation of the adoptive transfer system used. OT-II TCR Tg mice contain CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that are specific for a peptide from chicken ovalbumin, 323-339. The spleens and LNs from OT-II TCR Tg mice were removed and APCs, especially B cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were depleted. To deplete these cells, splenocytes were incubated with biotinylated antibodies against MHC-II, IgM, Igk and CD8 then using streptavidin microbeads and running on a magnetic column was used to deplete Ab-bound cells, as described in the MACs protocol. The crucial cell to be depleted is B cells to ensure that no B cells are transferred into the  $\mu MT$  mice. The cells that did not bind the antibodies were transferred into recipient mice by injection into the tail vein. The mice were then immunised in the peritoneum the next day with DNP-OVA/alum and sacrificed at various days after immunisation to examine OT-II T cell expansion. The OT-II T cells use the V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5 chains for their TCR therefore antibodies to the V $\alpha$ 2 and the V $\beta$ 5 chains were used to identify the transgenic cells ex vivo (shown in figure 3.2). The peak of expansion in this system occurs four days after immunisation (figure 3.3).

## The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen is lower in $\mu MT$ mice after immunisation

To determine if B cells play a role in regulating T cell expansion, OT-II T cells were transferred into  $\mu$ MT or wildtype (C57BL/6) mice and the mice immunised the following day. On day four after immunisation, the peak of the response, spleens were isolated and the number of OT-II T cells as a percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were determined. The percentage of OT-II cells was lower in spleens from  $\mu$ MT mice compared to wildtype mice (figure 3.4). This shows that in the absence of B cells, T cell proliferation is reduced. Therefore, B cells play a role in regulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses.



Day 0

Day-1

Immunise with 200µg DNP-OVA/Alum

Days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10

Assess percentage of OT-II T cells in different tissues

**Figure 3.1.** The adoptive transfer system. To follow antigen-specific T cell responses *ex vivo*, an adoptive transfer system was used. Spleens and lymph nodes from OT-II Tg mice were removed and APCs and  $CD8^+$  T cells depleted using biotinylated antibodies against IgM, IgK, MHC-II and CD8. Streptavidin beads were then added and cells depleted using a MACs column according to the manufacturer's instructions. Between one and two million T cells were transferred into the tail vein of each mouse and, the following day, mice were immunised with 200µg DNP-OVA/alum. T cell responses were followed on various days after immunisation.



**Figure 3.2.** FACs staining. APCs and CD8 T cells were depleted from spleens and LNs of OT-II mice and the remaining cells were transferred. Less than 1% of cells are positive for B220 and around 60% are T cells (Figure 3.2A). OT-II T cells can be identified by the V $\alpha$  and V $\beta$  chains used to form their TCR. They are double positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5 (figure 3.2B).



**Figure 3.3.** The peak of OT-II T cell expansion occurs four days after immunisation. OT-II T cells were transferred into C57BL/6 mice and immunised with DNP-OVA/alum the following day. Mice were euthanised on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for both V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean (SEM).



**Figure 3.4.** OT-II T cells undergo less proliferation in B cell deficient mice compared to wildtype mice.  $CD4^+$  T cells from OT-II mice were transferred into  $\mu$ MT or C57BL/6 mice. The mice were then immunised intraperitoneally with 200 $\mu$ g DNP-OVA/alum. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells that are positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and VB5. Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. Day four was examined three times with a minimum of three mice per group.

## OT-II T cell numbers are also decreased in peripheral tissues

There are two possible reasons why there are decreased numbers of OT-II T cells in the spleens of  $\mu$ MT mice compared to wildtype mice. Either the cells have proliferated less in  $\mu$ MT mice or, in the absence of B cells, the T cells preferentially exit the spleen and migrate to peripheral tissues. To examine T cell migration, the mice were sacrificed various days after immunisation then immediately perfused and the percentage of OT-II T cells in the lungs and livers of  $\mu$ MT and wildtype mice were examined. The numbers of OT-II T cells in these organs was also reduced in  $\mu$ MT mice compared to wildtype mice (figure 3.5). Therefore, there was no preferential migration of cells to peripheral tissues in  $\mu$ MT mice and the reduced numbers of OT-II T cells in the spleens of  $\mu$ MT mice is due to reduced T cell expansion.



**Figure 3.5.** OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in the absence of B cells. After transfer of OT-II T cells and immunisation, mice were euthanised and perfused on various days after immunisation and the liver and lung examined for the percentage of OT-II T cells. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons were calculated using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. This experiment was done twice with a minimum of three mice per group.
### The reduced OT-II T cell number in $\mu$ MT mice is due to fewer cells entering division

To determine whether this reduced expansion of OT-II T cells was due to less T cells entering division or the T cells undergoing fewer divisions, OT-II T cells were labelled with CFSE (carboxyfluoroscein succinimidyl ester) before transfer. CFSE brightness is reduced linearly with each division (Lyons and Parish, 1994) allowing the number of divisions a cell has gone through to be tracked. OT-II T cells lose CFSE very quickly so the CFSE loss was examined on day 3 after immunisation. For these experiments, OT-II/Ly5.1 mice were used so that the transgenic cells could be followed using the anti-Ly5.1 antibody instead of antibodies to the TCR. In  $\mu$ MT mice, more T cells appeared to be either undivided or in the first few rounds of division than in wildtype mice but those that did divide could divide to a similar degree as T cells in wildtype mice (figure 3.6A). Indeed, when the numbers of cells that were undivided or had undergone only one or two divisions were examined, there was statistically more cells at this stage in the  $\mu$ MT mice. Thus, in the absence of B cells, the decreased expansion of OT-II T cells is due to less T cells entering cell division rather than cells dividing fewer times.

c

1000

10

FL1-H: clse

10 FL1-H: cfse

μΜΤ

10000



C57BL/6 Non-Immunised

C57BL/6 Immuni

Cells

10

FLI-H: cise

Cells

10

FL1-H: cfse

-1

1000

**Figure 3.6.** Less OT-II T cells enter cell division in  $\mu$ MT mice compared to wildtype mice. OT-II/Ly5.1 splenocytes were depleted of APCs and CD8 cells then CFSE-labelled before being transferred into  $\mu$ MT or C57BL/6 mice. The mice were then immunised intraperitoneally with 200 $\mu$ g DNP-OVA/alum and sacrificed three days after immunisation. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells positive for Ly5.1 were examined for CFSE labelling (A). Using FlowJo, gates were set for each division and the proportion of Tg cells having undergone les than two divisions were examined using the unpaired T-test.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. This experiment was done twice with four mice per group.

A

B

### Attempts to get OT-II memory cells

Given that T cell expansion is reduced in  $\mu$ MT mice, I wanted to determine if memory T cell generation and recall responses were similarly reduced. Such experiments were however hindered by an inability to generate memory cells in the OT-II transfer model, as indicated by the percentage of V $\alpha$ 2/V $\beta$ 5 cells present in the spleen. Between ten and twenty days after immunisation, the percentage of V $\alpha$ 2/V $\beta$ 5 T cells in the spleen of the transferred mice had returned to background levels and did not increase in number when the mice were re-immunised. There are several reasons why the OT-II T cells may be disappearing. The OT-II T cells may have an inherent deficiency, perhaps because their TCR is of too low an affinity causing the OT-II T cells to be out competed with host cells. Another possibility is that they are being rejected by host responses to the cells due to minor histo-compatibility differences.

In order to address whether there was minor histo-compatibility differences, I attempted two methods to overcome this potential problem. The first was to backcross the mice an extra four times onto the C57BL/6 background. The second was to create OT-II bone-marrow chimeras by transferring a mixture of OT-II and C57BL/6 bone-marrow into lethally irradiated C57BL/6 mice. This would mean that the OT-II T cells have grown up in the C57BL/6 environment. The theory here was that since there is bone-marrow present from the OT-II mice, the minor histo-compatibility Ags from the OT-II cells will be presented in the thymus and the T cells will therefore be tolerant to these antigens.

OT-II chimeras were made by reconstituting lethally irradiated mice with 90% C57BL/6 and 10% OT-II bone-marrow. Mice were allowed to reconstitute for five weeks before being bled to examine the percentage of OT-II T cells in the blood. Disappointingly, the percentages of OT-II T cells were extremely variable between mice (figure 3.7). To examine expansion, the OT-II chimeras were immunised in the peritoneum with DNP-OVA/alum and the proportions of OT-II cells examined in the

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

spleen at four and ten days after immunisation. As a comparison to the original system, C57BL/6 mice were transferred with ten million OT-II T cells and similarly immunised. Ten million OT-II T cells were transferred as opposed to the usual number of around one million since the percentages of OT-II T cells were much larger in the OT-II chimeras and the two systems would therefore be more comparable. Both the transferred C57BL/6 mice and the OT-II chimeras showed expansion of OT-II T cells (figure 3.8A). However, the expansion in the OT-II chimeras was lower than I would have expected given that the percentages of OT-II cells in the blood were very high in some of the chimeras. Despite the lower than expected expansion, OT-II T cells were still present in significant numbers ten days after immunisation suggesting that this could be a suitable system to generate memory OT-II cells.

In order to analyse the memory recall response *in vivo*, a cohort of the chimeras were immunised and left for three weeks and examined for the proportions of OT-II T cells remaining and the expansion after reimmunisation. The percentage of OT-II T cells present three weeks after immunisation was very low in both the transferred mice and the chimeras. Although there was an OT-II response three days after reimmunisation, the proportions of OT-II T cells was very variable (figure 3.8B) and was therefore not significantly different. This would make it difficult to compare relatively small groups of chimeras. In order to overcome this difficulty, one possibility would be to bleed the mice before the immunisation to examine proportions of OT-II cells in the blood of the chimeras then mice with similar proportions of OT-II cells could be compared.

60







**Figure 3.8.** The responses were variable in OT-II chimeras reflecting the variable numbers of OT-II T cells present. The OT-II chimeras were immunised with DNP-OVA/alum and spleens were analysed for proportions of OT-II T cells four and ten days after immunisation (A). Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. This experiment was done only once.

### **Backcrossing OT-II mice**

A second approach to achieving a population of OT-II memory cells was to backcross the mice further. Therefore, the OT-II Tg mice were backcrossed a further four times onto the C57BL/6 background. OT-II T cells as before or OT-II T cells from the mice that were backcrossed a further four times (OT-IIBx4 mice) were transferred into C57BL/6 mice. They were then immunised and examined for expansion. Expansion was large in both groups of mice (figure 3.9A).

To examine memory responses, cohort of mice were left for eight weeks before being re-immunised with pOVA/CFA to determine if memory cells were present. In the spleen, neither the mice given OT-II T cells nor those given the OT-IIBx4 cells contained a memory population that was visible after re-immunisation (figure 3.9B). In the LN, however, there was a slight increase in OT-IIBx4 cell numbers after reimmunisation (figure 3.9B). However, since the background of  $V\alpha 2/V\beta 5$  cells can be slightly over 0.5% of CD4s, the numbers of OT-II cells is barely above background levels. Thus, even by backcrossing the mice an extra four times, I could not achieve a sufficiently high number of memory cells to examine memory formation using this system. It is unlikely that more backcrossing of the mice would help given that they had already been backcrossed at least five times before we received them (i.e. a total number of at least 9 backcross generations).



**Figure 3.9.** Lack of a large memory pool when using OT-II cells. There is a very small memory response in the LN of mice re-immunised with pOVA/CFA. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of  $CD4^+$  cells positive for Va2 and VB5. Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. This experiment was done only once.

A

### Discussion

From this study, it is clear that B cells or B cell-derived factor(s) are required for efficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion. The absence of B cells resulted in decreased CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion by day 3 after immunisation and the number of OT-II T cells remained lower throughout the response. This decrease in OT-II T cell number was seen in both lymphoid and peripheral tissues and was due to fewer T cells entering division rather than increased migration to peripheral tissues.

Although the ability of B cells to stimulate T cells *in vivo* has not been clearly shown, Castiglioni *et al* recently demonstrated that cells other than DCs could activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells *in vivo* (Castiglioni et al., 2003). In this study, bone-marrow chimeras were made from relB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which lack functional DCs. When these mice were immunised with plasmid DNA under the control of a B cell-specific promoter, activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells occurred at levels similar to C57BL/6 chimeras. Thus, T cells were activated in the absence of DCs using this stimulatory protocol.

Since the OT-II T cells tended to go back to background levels quite soon after immunisation, attempts were made to generate a memory population in these mice. It is interesting that some groups have achieved memory populations with OT-II T cells suggesting that it is not an inherent defect in the cells that results in defective memory generation (Kondrack et al., 2003; Reinhardt et al., 2001).

Perhaps the OT-II T cells were being rejected due to histo-compatibility differences. Therefore, the OT-II Tg mice were backcrossed a further four times. Unfortunately, a large memory population was still not obtained with OT-II T cells from the further backcrossed mice. When bone-marrow chimeras were made where the C57BL/6 mice were reconstituted with a combination of OT-II and C57BL/6 bone-marrow, OT-II T cells were present in these mice several weeks after immunisation. However, the variability in reconstitution would make it difficult to interpret minor differences. Also, it is difficult to interpret whether the expansion in the OT-II chimeras was due The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

to memory cells responding or due to newly-developed naïve T cells exiting the thymus. A timecourse of the response and possibly cytokine production is needed to attempt to differentiate between a primary response and a memory response.

Although it is unlikely that the inability to achieve memory cells is due to histocompatibility differences, an experiment that would allow us to exclude this possibility is to lethally irradiate OT-II and C57BL/6 mice and reconstitute with C57BL/6 bone-marrow. After reconstitution, OT-II T cells can be transferred in and the maintenance in the two different sets of chimeras examined. If there were histocompatibility differences, the OT-II T cells would be maintained when OT-II mice were used as hosts but not when C57BL/6 were used as hosts.

As stated earlier, other groups have been able to generate a population of OT-II memory cells. Reinhardt *et al* immunised mice with pOVA and 25-50µg LPS as the adjuvant (Reinhardt et al., 2001). Similar to my results, they reported that most of the cells had disappeared from the secondary lymphoid organs by day eleven after immunisation and that the number of OT-II T cells in non-lymphoid tissues also markedly reduced around this time. However, numbers then stabilised such that similar numbers were present 60 days after immunisation. Kondrack *et al* immunised with OVA/alum and B. pertussis and found that the OT-II T cells underwent four- to five-fold expansion and around 50% of these were still present in the mice around one month later (Kondrack et al., 2003).

It is possible that a stronger inflammatory protocol is needed to achieve memory OT-II T cells. For example, 25-50µg LPS, which is a reasonably large amount of LPS to use and giving B. pertussis along with alum, gives a stronger response. Therefore, using a stronger adjuvant to increase the response or increasing survival of OT-II T cells could allow us o achieve memory in this system.

65

The costimulatory molecule OX40 is present on T cells and plays a role in aiding the survival of cells. Adding the anti-OX40 Ab after immunisation has been shown to increase the number of memory cells. Another method of achieving memory is by transferring the OT-II T cells into sublethally irradiated RAG<sup>-/-</sup> mice (shown by Pepi Stamou in the lab). However, it is impossible to look at memory generation in this system. Given more time, it would have been interesting to use MHC-II tetramers to look at memory responses in these mice.

It would have been interesting to look more intensely at T and B cell interactions with immunohistochemistry. For example, to see if I could detect undivided T cells interacting with B cells, especially since Marc Jenkins has suggested that it is such a rare even for a naïve T cell to interact with a B cell, that it is more likely that T cells divide first to increase their numbers before interacting with B cells.

In summary, T cell expansion is reduced in B cell deficient mice. The reduced number of T cells is seen in both lymphoid and peripheral tissues and is the result of fewer cells entering division and more cells in the first few rounds of division. There are several possible reasons why I see this reduced expansion. B cells may be required to present Ag to T cells to help T cells to divide. Another possibility is that B cells are required to provide costimulatory molecules and a third is that it is a Bcell derived factor rather than B cells themselves that is important. B-cell derived factors include antibodies and cytokines. It is unlikely that Ab plays an important role in this system because this is a primary response and B cells require several days to become activated and secrete high amounts of IgG antibody. B cell-derived cytokines are required for maintenance of splenic architecture and as a result of this splenic architecture is disrupted in µMT mice. Perhaps the disrupted architecture is the reason for reduced T cell responses rather than a requirement for interaction with B cells. I went on to examine these possibilities using bone-marrow chimeras allowing me to deplete one molecule on B cells alone and allow other APCs to express this molecule.

66

"Enough research will tend to support your theory."

### Mark Twain

# T cell responses in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are reduced compared to wildtype chimeras

### Introduction

Having shown in the previous chapter that OT-II T cell expansion is decreased in the absence of B cells, I wanted to address whether this requirement for B cells was due to a requirement for B cell Ag presentation to T cells. Although studies carried out in vitro have shown that activated B cells can stimulate naïve T cells, whether B cell Ag presentation plays a role in vivo is controversial. Croft et al reported that activated, but not resting, B cells can stimulate naïve T cells in vitro (Croft et al., 1994) and Cassell et al demonstrated that activated B cells could stimulate T cells to secrete IL-2 albeit with less efficiency than DCs (Cassell and Schwartz, 1994). This presentation of antigen is greatly enhanced if the B cells possess the surface Ig for that Ag (Sanders et al., 1986) and may be crucial for efficient stimulation of T cells. For example, TNP-specific B cells presented TNP-coupled Ag at 1,000 to 10,000fold lower concentrations than non-TNP proteins (Abbas et al., 1985; Rock et al., 1984). This increased stimulatory capacity is likely to be due to a number of factors including the upregulation of costimulatory molecules, e.g., B7 as a result of BCRmediated signalling and the impact the BCR has on Ag processing and presentation (Cheng et al., 1999).

There have been only a limited number of studies demonstrating a potential role for B cell antigen presentation *in vivo* and these studies have tended to use Tg B cells (Constant, 1999; Kurt-Jones et al., 1988). From these investigations it has been shown that B cells can present antigen to T cells very early after immunisation. For example, by immunising Ig transgenic mice then using purified B cells from these mice to stimulate T cells, Constant *et al* demonstrated that B cells could stimulate T cells as early as 4-6 hours after immunisation (Constant, 1999). Moreover, the presentation of peptide-MHC complexes by B cells *in vivo* has been witnessed 4 hours after i.v. injection of hen egg lysosyme (HEL)(Zhong et al., 1997).

Further evidence for B cells as more than just antibody-producing cells comes from studies using mice that possess B cells that cannot secrete antibodies. MRL/lpr mice develop nephritis but when they are crossed onto the B cell deficient JHD mouse, nephritis is attenuated (Chan and Shlomchik, 1998). To examine whether secreted antibodies were involved, mice that can only produce membrane-bound Ig were crossed onto the MRL/lpr background. In this situation, nephritis still developed (Chan et al., 1999). Thus, B cells themselves, in the absence of secreted antibody, are involved in the development of nephritis.

Studies in B cell deficient mice have greatly enhanced our understanding of the role B cells play in regulating T cell responses. However, experiments comparing T cell responses in B cell-deficient mice to those in wildtype mice ignore other deficiencies in these mice, for example, the disrupted architecture of the spleens and LNs. To overcome the problems with comparing B cell deficient mice with wildtype mice, and to assess whether Ag presentation by B cells is important, we created bonemarrow chimeras where the T cells could not interact with B cells in a cognate Agspecific manner. This was achieved by transferring a combination of µMT and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow to irradiated recipients. Thus, all the B cells are derived from the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow. This results in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras in which the architecture of the spleen is normal and the B cells are able to provide costimulatory signals and cytokines but they cannot present antigen. Thus, T cells could only recognise Ag on the surface of APCs other than B cells. Transferring OT-II Tg T cells into these mice allowed me to ascertain whether a cognate interaction between the TCR and MHC-II on B cells is required for normal T cell expansion or if it is some other B cell-derived factor that is important.

An alternative method of tracking antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells *in vivo* is through the use of MHC-II tetramers. I used MHC-II tetramers in these chimeras to determine whether there is a role for MHC-II on B cells in the primary expansion and T cell memory generation during a polyclonal T cell response as opposed to a The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

monoclonal response with Tg cells. The tetramers were a tool provided via collaboration with Ton Schumacher in Amsterdam (Schepers et al., 2002).

### Results

#### Creating bone-marrow chimeras

To address the question of whether B cell antigen presentation may play a role in enhancing T cell responses, bone-marrow chimeras were created. By combining 80%  $\mu$ MT and 20% MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow, the resulting chimeras contain B cells that lack MHC-II whereas the majority of other APCs express MHC-II and can therefore present Ag to T cells. As controls, we created bone-marrow chimeras containing a normal B cell compartment by combining 80%  $\mu$ MT and 20% C57BL/6 bonemarrow. Figure 4.1 shows a diagrammatic representation of the bone-marrow chimera procedure.



**Figure 4.1.** C57BL/6 mice that were 6 weeks of age were lethally irradiated and reconstituted with  $5 \times 10^6$  bone-marrow cells the following day. Wildtype chimeras were created by combining 80%  $\mu$ MT bone-marrow with 20% C57BL/6 bone-marrow. MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras were created by combining 80%  $\mu$ MT bone-marrow with 20% MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow. The mice were allowed to reconstitute for 8 weeks before use.

### Bone-marrow chimeras were fully reconstituted before use

The cellular compartments of the wildtype or MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras were compared using FACS and immunohistochemistry to ensure full reconstitution of haematopoietic cells and also to ensure that the cell numbers and architecture of the spleen are similar in both types of chimeras. The chimeras contained similar total splenocyte cell numbers and proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (figure 4.2A). As expected, in the chimeras created using  $\mu$ MT and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow, B cells were negative for MHC-II whereas the control chimeras contained MHC-II-expressing B cells (figure 4.2B). Thus, I have created mice that possess B cells that are deficient in MHC-II to examine the role of Ag presentation by B cells.



4.2B

% of B cells positive for MHC-II



**Figure 4.2.** To ensure complete reconstitution had occurred, mice were sacrificed and splenocytes stained for CD4 and B220. The proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup> and B220<sup>+</sup> cells in the spleen are similar in both types of chimeras (figure 4.2A). Spleens from chimeras were stained for B cells and MHC-II. Figure 4.2B shows representative staining.

### Splenic architecture is normal in bone-marrow chimeras

An important difference between µMT mice and wildtype mice is the splenic architecture. In addition to the absence of B cells, µMT mice lack FDCs and marginal zones, making comparisons between the mice difficult. I examined the splenic architecture in our bone-marrow chimeras to ensure that there were no differences between wildtype and deficient B cell chimeras. MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> and wildtype chimeras contained distinct T and B cell areas, FDCs and marginal zone macrophages (MZMs) to a similar degree. The architecture of the spleen is therefore normal in both types of chimeras (figure 4.3).



C57BL/6 CHIMERA

MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> CHIMERA

B

A



C57BL/6 chimera

MHC-II-/- chimera

**Figure 4.3.** Spleens were removed and frozen in cryo-m-bed before sectioning. Sections were stained for the T cell area in green (anti-Thy1-FITC), B cell area in red (anti-IgM-TXRD) and FDCs in blue (FDC-M2 biotin and SA-AMCA) (A) or T cell area, B cell area and MZMs (ERTR9 spernatant + anti-rat biotin + SA-AMCA) (B).

### OT-II T cell expansion is reduced in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras compared to wildtype chimeras

To examine whether an interaction between the TCR and MHC-II on B cells is required for T cell expansion, OT-II T cells were transferred into wildtype or MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and the mice immunised the following day. On day four after immunisation, spleens were isolated and the percentage of OT-II cells determined as in the previous chapter. Although OT-II T cells did expand in both types of chimeras, the number of OT-II cells is lower in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras ( $\blacktriangle$ ) compared to wildtype chimeras ( $\blacksquare$ ) (figure 4.4). This shows that T cells can expand in the absence of a cognate Ag-specific interaction with B cells but this expansion is reduced demonstrating that B cell Ag-presentation can play a role in T cells expansion *in vivo*.



**Figure 4.4.** OT-II T cell expansion is reduced in the spleen of MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras after immunisation. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from OT-II mice were transferred into bone-marrow chimeras where the B cells lack MHC-II or control chimeras and the mice immunised the following day. Mice were euthanised on day 4 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and VB5. Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons are by un-paired Ttest.  $\star \star$ , p<0.01. Day four was examined three times with a minimum of four mice per group.

### OT-II T cell numbers are reduced throughout the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell primary response

To determine if Ag-presentation by B cells is required throughout the T cell primary response, mice were sacrificed on various days after immunisation and analysed for proportions of OT-II T cells in the spleen. Figure 4.5 shows the expansion of OT-II T cells at various days after immunisation in the spleen. Although the kinetics of the response are similar, decreased numbers of OT-II cells could be seen in the spleen at day 3 after immunisation and this reduced T cell number was found throughout the primary response. Thus, MHC-II on B cells is required early in T cell expansion and the effect of the absence of B cell MHC-II is seen throughout the T cell response.



**Figure 4.5.** OT-II T cells undergo less expansion in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and this decreased cell number is maintained throughout the primary response. OT-II T cells were transferred into bonemarrow chimeras where the B cells lack MHC-II or control chimeras and the following day the mice were immunised. Mice were euthanised on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons were completed by the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05. All days were examined twice with a minimum of three mice per group.

# OT-II T cell numbers are also reduced in peripheral tissues of MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras

There are two possible explanations for detecting less Ag-specific T cells in the spleen: either the T cells have divided less efficiently; or the T cells have left the spleen and migrated to peripheral tissues. To determine if the T cells had preferentially migrated to peripheral tissues in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras, the mice were perfused to remove blood from the tissues and then the lungs and livers were examined for the presence of OT-II T cells. As shown in figures 4.6 A and B, OT-II T cells were present in equal or lower number in the peripheral tissues of MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Thus, T cells did not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues, and the reduced OT-II T cell numbers seen in the spleen is due to less expansion in the absence of MHC-II on B cells.



**Figure 4.6.** OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in the absence of MHC-II on B cells. After transfer of OT-II T cells and immunisation, mice were euthanised and perfused on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the liver and lung examined for the percentage of transgenic cells. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for Va2 and VB5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons were calculated using the un-paired T-test. **\***, p< 0.05. This experiment was done only once with four mice per group.

### The reduced OT-II T cell number in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras is due to less cells entering division

There are several possible explanations for the decreased expansion of T cells. B cells could affect T cell expansion by increasing the number of T cells entering division or increasing the number of divisions they undergo. To determine which of these occurred, OT-II T cells were labelled with CFSE and examined three days after immunisation, as described in the previous chapter. In MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras, more T cells were either undivided or in the first few rounds of division than in wildtype chimeras but those T cells that did divide could divide fully (figure 4.7). This suggests that Ag-specific cognate interactions with B cells are important in inducing T cell division.



**Figure 4.7.** Less OT-II T cells enter cell division in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras ( $\blacktriangle$ ) compared to wildtype chimeras ( $\blacksquare$ ). CD4<sup>+</sup> cells from OT-II mice were CFSE-labelled and transferred. The mice were then immunised the following day. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells positive for V $\alpha 2/V\beta 5$  were examined for CFSE labelling (4.7A). Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons were made using un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05. Day four was examined three times with a minimum of four mice per group. This experiment was done twice with a minimum of three mice per group.

# The number of OT-II T cells undergoing apoptosis is similar in both types of chimeras.

There are several phases of the T cell response: clonal expansion, clonal deletion and memory generation. In addition to clonal expansion, B cells may also be required for clonal deletion or memory generation of T cells. During the clonal deletion phase, the majority of activated T cells undergo apoptosis and the extent of the clonal deletion phase may affect the number of cells entering the memory compartment. To determine if the clonal deletion phase was similar in the presence of absence of a cognate MHC-II interaction with B cells, the proportions of OT-II T cells undergoing apoptosis was determined on various days after immunisation.

It is difficult to detect apoptotic cells *ex vivo* because the cells of the immune system are very efficient at phagocytosing and removing apoptotic cells. Thus, apoptosis has to be detected at a very early stage. One of the earliest signs that a cell is undergoing apoptosis is the movement of the membrane phospholipids phosphatidylserine (PS) from the inner membrane to the outer membrane. Annexin V binds to PS and can therefore be used to detect early apoptotic cells. When OT-II T cells in the spleen were examined for expression of annexin V at various days after immunisation, there was no consistent difference between the numbers of OT-II T cells undergoing apoptosis in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> and wildtype chimeras (figure 4.8 A and B). In the first experiment there was more apoptotic T cells in the chimeras lacking MHC-II on B cells at four and ten days after immunisation (figure 4.8A). However, when this was repeated, this effect was not seen. Thus, MHC-II on B cells does not have a clear role in regulating the deletion phase of the OT-II response.

79

#### A. First Experiment







**Figure 4.8.** OT-II T cells do not undergo more apoptosis in the absence of a cognate interaction through MHC-II with B cells. OT-II T cells in the spleen were examined for apoptosis by annexin V staining at various days after immunisation. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05,  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. This experiment was completed twice with a minimum of three mice per group.

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

### In vitro restimulation of T cells to examine proliferation and cytokine production

To determine whether the absence of MHC-II on B cells influences cytokine production by T cells, the splenocytes from chimeras that received OT-II T cells were harvested at various days after immunisation and examined for *in vitro* proliferation and cytokine production. Figure 4.9A shows the proliferation of T cells from wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras after three days restimulation *in vitro*. In agreement with *in vivo* data, the T cells from MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras proliferate less well than those from wildtype chimeras. Consistent with the reduced proliferation, IL-2 production was reduced in the absence of MHC-II on B cells. The MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimera group also showed less IL-4 and IFN-γ production, suggesting an overall reduction in response rather than skewing to a Th1 or Th2 cytokine profile (figure 4.9B). One difficulty in comparing cytokine expression by the two groups is that the starting populations contained different numbers of OT-II T cells. To account for this, the cytokine production was re-analysed for the amount of cytokine produced per 10<sup>4</sup> OT-II T cells. All cytokines were still reduced using this analysis (figure 4.9C).

#### 4.9A. Proliferation assay



The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses



4.9C. Cytokine production per 10<sup>4</sup> OT-II T cells per well



**Figure 4.9.** Proliferation and cytokine production was reduced in T cells from MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras ( $\blacktriangle$ ) compared to wildtype chimeras ( $\blacksquare$ ). Pooled splenocyte populations from both groups were depleted of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and MHC-II positive cells. The cells plated at 2×10<sup>5</sup> cells per well with 2×10<sup>6</sup> irradiated splenocytes with varying concentrations of peptide. Ag-specific proliferation (figure 4.9A) and IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4 production was examined three days after *in vitro* restimulation (figure B and C). The wildtype chimeras produced amounts of IFN- $\gamma$  that were in excess of the limit of detection (100ng/ml) at 100µM pOVA but are shown as 100ng/ml. These graphs show results from six days after immunisation and are representative of all other days examined. The proliferation assays and ELISAs were competed twice for each day.

#### Chapter 4: Results

### MHC-II- B cell chimeras do not form anti-DNP specific antibodies

B cells require a cognate interaction with T cells to form germinal centres and to isotype switch in response to protein antigens. B cells in the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are unable to form a cognate MHC-TCR interaction and therefore should not produce IgG antibodies in response to DNP-OVA. To determine if this was so, serum was examined from mice immunised 10 days previously with DNP-OVA/alum. MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras could not produce any IgG anti-DNP antibodies and produced greatly reduced amounts of IgM anti-DNP antibodies indicating a requirement for cognate MHC-TCR interactions (figure 4.10).

IgM



IgG



**Figure 4.10.** A cognate interaction with T cells is required for IgM and IgG responses. Mice were immunised with DNP-OVA/alum and ten days later serum was examined by ELISA for antibodies present. Results are expressed as the amount of Ab relative to control serum. Symbols represent individual mice. The error bars show the SEM. Results are representative of two separate experiments.

### MHC-II Tetramers were used to examine polyclonal T cell responses in MHC-II<sup>+</sup> B cell chimeras

Given that the transferred OT-II transgenic cells tended to disappear between 10 and 20 days after immunisation, this system could not be used to examine CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell memory generation. Instead, MHC class-II tetramers were used. These were supplied as part of a collaboration with Dr Ton Schumacher in Amsterdam, where the tetramers are produced. The tetramer constructs were created as follows: the alpha chain of the MHC-II was modified by the addition of a Velcro leucine zipper to promote heterodimerisation in insect cells and a His-tag to aid purification. The T cell epitope was covalently attached to the beta chain and the beta chain was modified by the addition of a leucine zipper and a biotinylation signal to allow tetramer formation. Tetramers were formed using streptavidin-PE and monomers were removed by gel filtration chromatography. The recombinant MHC molecules are assembled into multimers to provide multiple ligands for enhanced interaction with Ag-specific TCRs (figure 4.11). It should be noted here that it is possible that multimers other than tetramers are formed but for simplicity I will refer to them as tetramers.

The tetramers contain a peptide from the H19env protein of the retrovirus moloney murine leukaemia virus and therefore responses to either the virus itself or to the H19env peptide can be examined. The response to the H19env peptide was characterised by Megan MacLeod in the lab as part of her PhD project.



Figure 4.11. The MHC-II tetramers present a peptide from moloney murine leukeamia virus. They were multimerised by streptavidin-PE due to the biotin site on the  $\beta$  chain.

### Staining with tetramers

The conditions required for staining with MHC-II tetramers are more stringent than those for MHC-I tetramers. Staining with MHC class II tetramers is highly temperature-dependent and requires prolonged incubation. Cameron *et al* have demonstrated that MHC-II tetramers are internalised, requiring cytoskeletal rearrangements, which is an active process (Cameron et al., 2001).

To identify tetramer positive cells, macrophages (F480 positive) and dead cells (PI positive) must be gated out to remove the majority of the background staining, as tetramers stick to them. CD4 cells were then gated and the proportions of cells that were expressing high levels of CD44, showing activation, and were positive for tetramer staining were examined. Figure 4.12 shows the gating procedure. The level of background staining was set using mice immunised with the irrelevant peptide OVA<sub>323-339</sub>. This peptide is from chicken ovalbumin and is a common peptide used to examine T cell responses.



**Figure 4.12**. To examine tetramer positive cells, a lymphocyte gate is first drawn then the macrophages (F4/80 positive) and dead cells (PI positive) are removed. The remaining cells are then gated for  $CD4^+$  cells and the proportions of tetramer positive cells that are  $CD44^{hi}$  are examined.

### Tetramer staining is specific for cells responding to the H19env peptide

To confirm that the cells binding the tetramers were responding to the peptide, splenocytes from mice immunised with H19env peptide were CFSE-labelled and restimulated for 3 days with peptide. The cells that bound the tetramers had also divided in response to the H19env peptide showing that the tetramers were recognising H19env-specific T cells (figure 4.13).



**Figure 4.13.**  $CD4^+$  T cells that respond to H19env peptide also bind the MHC-II tetramers. Splenocytes from immunised mice were red blood cell lysed and labelled with CFSE. They were plated at  $1 \times 10^6$  cells per well in a 96-well plate in the presence of  $10 \mu g/ml$  H19env peptide and supernatant from ConA-stimulated rat splenocytes for 4 days. They were then examined for tetramer staining and CFSE fluorescence.

### Polyclonal T cell expansion is reduced in MHC-II<sup>+-</sup> B cell chimeras

To examine whether MHC-II on B cells is also required for T cell memory generation, MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras or wildtype chimeras were immunised with H19env in CFA into the hind leg, forming an Ag depot. Mice were examined for primary expansion or were rested and examined for memory responses. For memory response, mice were left for around 10 weeks and either examined for remaining tetramer positive cells or the mice were boosted with H19env-pulsed bone-marrow dendritic cells to examine the memory recall response *in vivo*. Figure 4.14 illustrates the immunisation protocol.

### The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses

The primary T cell response to H19env in CFA is reduced in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras compared to wildtype chimeras (figure 4.15). Therefore, in both the transgenic system and using MHC-II tetramers, the  $CD4^+$  T cell response is reduced in the absence of MHC-II on B cells.



**Figure 4.14.** Experimental protocol for examining polyclonal T cell responses to H19env. Mice were immunised with H19env emulsified with CFA then examined for primary expansion or left for around ten weeks to examine memory cells

The Role of B cells in Influencing T cell Responses



Day 15



**Figure 4.15.** Wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were immunised with H19env/CFA and the number of tetramer positive cells examined on days nine and fifteen after immunisation. Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05,  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. This experiment was done three times with four mice per H19env group. Although the other repeats the difference did not reach significant levels, there was an obvious trend towards reduced response in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras.

### Memory responses are reduced in the absence of MHC-II on B cells

The numbers of tetramer positive memory cells were examined in mice ten weeks after initial immunisation and some were also re-immunised to examine memory recall responses *in vivo*. The number of memory cells remaining in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was significantly less than those in wildtype chimeras suggesting that either fewer memory cells were generated or fewer memory cells were maintained in the absence of MHC-II on B cells. When the mice were re-immunised, the memory recall response was also lower in these mice (figure 4.16A).

To establish whether the recall response is higher than the primary response, a cohort of the wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras were also immunised for the first time at this stage. The percentage of tetramer positive cells after re-immunisation was much higher than during the primary response (Figure 4.16B). Thus, a memory response has occurred in these chimeras. Therefore, I have shown that memory cells can be generated using this system in both wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras, however, the memory cells remaining and the memory recall response is much lower when B cells do not express MHC-II on their surface.



4.16B



**Figure 4.16**. Polyclonal memory responses are reduced in MHC-IT<sup>/-</sup> chimeras. Wildtype and MHC-IT <sup>/-</sup> B cell chimeras were immunised with H19env/CFA and left for 10 weeks (MVP memory) then some were re-immunisation with H19env-pulsed BM DCs (MVP re-immunised). Mice were immunised with H19env-pulsed BM DCs for the first time to compare primary and memory responses (MVP primary). Symbols show the result of an individual mouse and lines show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons are by un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05. This experiment was done three times with four H19env-immunised mice per group.

#### Discussion

Bone-marrow chimeras provide a unique system to examine the mechanism by which B cells can regulate T cell responses. By combining  $\mu$ MT bone-marrow with wildtype or MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow, mice were created which differ only in the expression of MHC-II on B cells. Around 98% of B cells in the wildtype chimeras stain positive for MHC-II whereas less than 2% in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras are positive for MHC-II. These chimeras can be compared to wildtype chimeras created by combining  $\mu$ MT and C57BL/6 bone-marrow. The cellular proportions in the spleen are similar in wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras as is the splenic architecture.

By transferring transgenic T cells into these chimeras, the expansion of T cells can be tracked *ex vivo*. In these experiments I have shown that when T cells cannot form a cognate interaction with B cells via MHC-II they can expand but this expansion is reduced. The reduced expansion is seen by day three after immunisation, before the peak of expansion, and continues throughout the primary response.

Given that I saw decreased numbers of OT-II T cells in the spleen of MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras, it was important to examine whether T cells were more likely to migrate to peripheral tissues when B cells lack MHC-II since this could be the reason for the decreased numbers of OT-II T cell in the spleen. After initial activation with DCs, T cells move to the edge of the B cell follicles and interact there with B cells (Garside et al., 1998). It was possible that without a cognate interaction with B cells, T cells do not remain in the spleen and instead migrate to peripheral tissues. Interestingly, the numbers of OT-II T cells in the spleen is the result of decreased expansion rather than preferential migration of the T cells to peripheral tissues. These results show that a cognate interaction with MHC-II on B cells can enhance CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion *in vivo*.

To determine whether this reduced expansion of T cells was due to fewer cells entering division or the cells dividing fewer times, the OT-II T cells were CFSElabelled before transfer. The CFSE labelling illustrated that the reduced expansion of the OT-II T cells seen in the absence of MHC-II on B cells is the result of less cells entering division rather than the cells undergoing less division. Therefore, B cell MHC-II interactions play a role in regulating the number of T cells entering division and in the first few rounds of division.

It is unclear why less T cells enter division. If T cells move randomly through lymphoid tissues, then perhaps B cells activate the T cells that randomly move near to the B cell follicle region. Since B cells can move to the edge of the follicle within five hours of antigen uptake (Reif et al., 2002), this means they are in a prime location to interact with antigen-specific T cells. This theory is controversial, however, as many believe that the DC is the only cell capable of activating a naïve T cell.

Alternatively, it is possible that T cells may undergo several short interactions with DCs or other APCs instead of one continuous interaction (Miller et al., 2004). Although several groups have witnessed long-term stable interactions of T cells and DCs lasting up to 15 hours (Stoll et al., 2002), Miller *et al* recently demonstrated that in the first few hours after Ag administration T cells made serial contacts with DCs with a mean interaction time of 11.4 mins. Up to 14 hours after Ag administration the T cells remained with DCs for over an hour but the T cells constantly changed their position and some even moved away. Thus, short successive contacts with DC may be enough for T cell activation. Therefore, perhaps some T cells that only undergo a short interaction with a DC have not yet been primed enough to undergo cell division and the second interaction with the B cells enables this to occur. It has been shown by several groups that T cells require several hours of stimulation before they are able to undergo proliferation and that this stimulation can be intermittent (Mempel et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2004).

92
Having shown that the primary expansion of T cells is decreased in the absence of MHC-II on B cells, the clonal deletion phase was then examined to determine if MHC-II on B cells plays a role here too. Of note, it has been demonstrated that the clonal deletion phase is more extreme in  $\mu$ MT mice when examining the T cell response to *Listeria monocytogenes* (Shen et al., 2003). However, there was no consistent difference in the amount of apoptosis of the OT-II T cells at various days after immunisation. Thus, the absence of MHC-II on B cells did not affect the clonal deletion of the OT-II T cells.

Given that others have demonstrated that B cells may regulate not just T cell expansion but also T cell differentiation (Linton et al., 2003), cytokine production was examined by ELISAs. When stimulated in vitro, the OT-II T cells from MHC-II <sup>1</sup> chimeras underwent less proliferation and produced less IL-2 as well as less IL-4 and IFN-y. Although there was reduced cytokine production with all three cytokines, the IL-4 production by T cells from MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was more greatly reduced. There it does suggest a possible defect in Th2 differentiation in the absence of a cognate MHC-II interaction with B cells. Even when the data has been normalised for the percentage of OT-II T cells in the wells at the beginning of the assay, the wells with T cells from wildtype chimeras proliferated much more in vitro and therefore there are many more of these cells at the end of the three day culture. In light of this, it is difficult to determine whether the reduced effector cytokine production was due to less Ag-specific T cells or the T cells producing less cytokine per cell. ELISPOTs would enable me to determine the amount of cytokine produced per cell and therefore to examine the possible defect in Th2 differentiation more clearly. Alternatively, using the LIGHTcycler to determine the amount of mRNA for various cytokines in the OT-II T cells directly ex vivo would allow me to examine cytokine mRNA levels in the absence of in vitro restimulations.

93

To examine the B cell response in these chimeras, serum ELISAs were carried out. As expected, when B cells could not undergo a cognate interaction with T cells through MHC-II, they did not produce significant amounts of anti-DNP IgM and IgG antibodies. Thus, the B cell response was defective in these mice. The absence of IgG antibodies in the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras is unlikely to affect the T cell response because reduced numbers of T cells is seen by day three, before the B cell IgG production is efficiently underway.

MHC-II tetramers were used to study a polyclonal response in these chimeras and to determine if MHC-II on B cells was required for the development and/or maintenance of T cell memory. MHC-II tetramers were chosen for a number of reasons. Although the use of the adoptive transfer system allows T cells to be examined at a near-physiological number compared to transgenic mice, the numbers of Ag-specific T cells are still larger than would occur naturally. Also, the Tg T cells used in this study did not remain at detectable numbers for long periods of time and could not therefore be used to examine T cell memory. When mice were immunised with H19env emulsified in CFA and MHC-II tetramers used to detect expansion, the number of tetramer positive cells in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was reduced compared to wildtype chimeras. Thus, in both the transgenic system, using a monoclonal population of T cells, and the tetramer system, examining a polyclonal population of T cells, expansion is reduced when B cells cannot interact with T cells using MHC-II.

A relatively stable population of memory cells could be detected after immunisation with peptide in CFA. I have shown that the numbers of memory cells is lower in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras compared to wildtype chimeras and a reduced memory recall response was also seen after re-immunisation. The finding that less Ag-specific T cells are present in the primary response and less memory cells remain supports the hypothesis that the initial clonal burst size affects the size of the memory compartment. This has been shown in a variety of systems with CD8 T cells but has not been shown conclusively for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Sprent and Tough).

From these experiments it is difficult to ascertain whether the reduced memory response is merely a result of the reduced primary response or if MHC-II on B cells is also required for memory recall responses. There are two ways this could be examined: CD4<sup>+</sup> memory T cells could be purified from wildtype chimeras previously immunised with H19env in CFA and transferred to wildtype or MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras before re-immunising; alternatively, wildtype B cells could be transferred into wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras to determine whether they are able to enhance the memory response.

In addition, it is possible that the absence of MHC-II on B cells could affect the ability of the memory cells to respond to further stimulation. Of note, it has been reported that although memory  $CD4^+$  T cells can remain in the absence of MHC-II molecules, they are functionally deficient (Kassiotis et al., 2002). Thus, it would be interesting to examine whether memory T cells generated in wildtype mice but transferred to MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cells chimeras behave differently. It is possible that MHC-II on B cells is the major source of MHC-II for the maintenance of memory cell effector function. To do this, T cells purified from H19env/CFA immunised wildtype chimeras as controls and rested before being tested for memory cell function. To test for memory cell function, the T cells could be stimulated *in vitro* with naïve B cells or professional APCs as Kassiotis *et al* did with transgenic memory cells (Kassiotis et al., 2002). By definition, memory cells require less costimulation and so should be able to be activated by naïve B cells whereas naïve T cells would not be activated.

In conclusion, T cells do not undergo optimal T cell expansion when they cannot interact with B cells through MHC-II and this reduced expansion is due to less T cells entering division. When T cell responses were examined using MHC-II tetramers, there was less expansion as well as a lower memory recall response in the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Therefore, a cognate interaction with MHC-II on B cells

95

increases the number of T cells that proliferate in response to Ag *in vivo* and allows a greater memory response.

.

"The great tragedy of science – the slaying of a beautiful hypothesis by an ugly fact."

# **Thomas Huxley**

.

,

.

# CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells require CD40 but this CD40 is not derived from B cells

## Introduction

In addition to the recognition of Ag in the form of peptide on MHC molecules, T cells require costimulatory interactions to become activated and proliferate. There are a number of different costimulatory molecular interactions including B7:CD28, B7h:ICOS and CD40:CD40L. CD40:CD40L interactions have been shown to be important for responses to both immunisations with peptide in adjuvant (DiPaolo and Unanue, 2002) and viral immune responses (Whitmire et al., 1999). CD40L is expressed on activated T cells (Lane et al., 1992) whereas CD40 is expressed by DCs and B cells (Caux et al., 1994). However, the role of CD40 in T cell responses is not completely clear as there has been at least one report that showed normal T cell priming in response to viral infections (lymphocytic choriomeningitis (LCMV) and vesicular stomatitis (VSV)) (Oxenius et al., 1996). This could possibly be explained by the ability of some infectious agents to bypass the need for CD40 due to the strong inflammatory response they induce. Indeed, CD8 responses to these viruses have been shown to be independent of CD4 help suggesting that the licensing of APCs is not required for responses to these viruses (Marzo et al., 2004; Matloubian et al., 1994).

The use of the adoptive transfer system to examine the role of CD40 in T cell expansion has also generated conflicting results. Using CD40L<sup>-/-</sup> Tg T cells, Grewal *et al* reported that these T cells fail to expand *in vivo* (Grewal et al., 1996) while others have shown initial expansion to be similar but lower numbers are seen by the peak of the response (Howland et al., 2000). This initial expansion then abortive response was also observed using anti-CD40L antibodies in wildtype mice and immunisation with CD40<sup>-/-</sup> DCs s.c. (Miga et al., 2001).

It is clear that CD40:CD40L interactions between T and B cells are required for B cells to form GCs, develop into memory cells and class switch (Foy et al., 1994b; Lumsden et al., 2003) but the importance of this interaction for the T cell is unclear. T cells may require an interaction between CD40L and CD40 on B cells for effective responses. For example, CD40 on B cells can enhance T cell proliferation *in vitro*; Ozaki *et al* demonstrated that DO.11.10 Tg T cells stimulated with CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cells proliferated less well *in vitro* than T cells cultured with wildtype B cells (Ozaki et al., 1999).

In vivo evidence that costimulatory molecules on B cells are important for T cell priming arose from experiments showing that either activated B cells or Ag-pulsed DCs restored T cell priming in  $\mu$ MT mice (Linton et al., 2000). Since either cell-type could restore priming, the authors proposed that the primary deficit in these mice was costimulation. Moreover, B cells from OX40L<sup>-/-</sup> mice were unable to restore CD4 T cell responses in  $\mu$ MT mice whereas wildtype B cells could (Linton et al., 2003) showing the importance of OX40L expression by B cells for T cell activation.

Clonal expansion is only one part of a T cell response. T cells are also required to differentiate into cytokine-secreting effectors. Support for the involvement of CD40 in promoting the differentiation of T cells has been shown by decreased IFN- $\gamma$  production in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice using a variety of systems including LCMV infection (Whitmire et al., 1999) and adoptive transfer of Tg T cells (Howland et al., 2000; Miga et al., 2001). It is unclear how CD40 affects IL-4 production, however, as Cunningham *et al* reported IL-4 to be normal in the absence of CD40L (Cunningham et al., 2004) whereas Poudrier *et al* demonstrated that IL-4 production was reduced from LNs of CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to wildtype mice when immunised with KLH (Poudrier et al., 1998).

To evaluate the requirement for CD40 costimulation by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, OT-II CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred into C57BL/6 or CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice. This allowed me to follow the response from initial activation and expansion to clonal deletion in both secondary lymphoid tissues and peripheral tissues. Once I had observed a role for CD40 in the clonal expansion of the OT-II T cells, I went on to evaluate whether B cell provision of CD40 could influence T cell responses. To do this, bone-marrow chimeras were created in which the CD40 defect was limited to B cells, allowing other APCs to provide CD40 costimulation to T cells.

#### Results

# OT-II T cell numbers are reduced in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice after immunisation

To assess the role of the co-stimulatory interaction CD40:CD40L in T cell priming, OT-II cells were transferred into C57BL/6 mice or CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The percentage of OT-II T cells in the spleen was examined four days after immunisation with DNP-OVA in alum. Although OT-II T cells expanded in both groups of mice, the percentage of OT-II T cells was reduced in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice (figure 5.1). Thus, T cells can divide in the absence of CD40:CD40L interactions but this expansion is reduced.



**Figure 5.1.** CD40 signalling enhances CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion. OT-II T cells were transferred into C57BL/6 and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the mice immunised the following day with DNP-OVA/alum. Mice were euthanised on day 4 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined as described in previous chapters. Symbols show the percentage of CD4 cells that are OT-II in individual mice and lines are used to show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05. Day 4 was examined twice with at least three mice per group.

# OT-II T cell numbers are reduced throughout the primary response

To determine if CD40:CD40L signals are required throughout the OT-II T cell response, mice that received OT-II T cells were sacrificed at various days after immunisation and analysed for OT-II T cell numbers. Interestingly, three days after immunisation OT-II T cells had expanded to a similar degree in the spleens of C57BL/6 and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice (figure 5.2). Yet, by day four after immunisation there was significantly less OT-II T cells and this reduced T cell number was seen throughout the rest of the primary response. Therefore, although CD40 is not required for the initial activation and expansion of OT-II T cells, it is essential for their continued expansion.



**Figure 5.2.** OT-II T cells initially proliferate in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice but the expansion is reduced compared to wildtype mice. OT-II T cells were transferred into C57BL/6 or CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the following day the mice were immunised. Mice were euthanised on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined as described previously. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the SEM. Each symbol is representative of at least 3 mice. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. All days were examined twice with three mice per group.

Reduced OT-II T cells numbers in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice was not due to preferential migration to peripheral tissues

Having demonstrated that CD4 T cell expansion is reduced in the absence of CD40, the number of OT-II T cells in the lungs and liver were examined at various times after immunisation. This allowed me to determine if the reduced number of OT-II T cells seen in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice was due to the cells preferentially migrating to peripheral tissues. OT-II T cells did not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice suggesting that the decreased numbers of OT-II T cells in the spleens of CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice was due to decreased expansion (figure 5.3). Thus, T cells expanded less efficiently in the absence of CD40.



**Figure 5.3.** OT-II T cells do not preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice. After transfer of OT-II T cells and immunisation, mice were euthanised and perfused on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the liver and lungs examined for the percentage of transgenic cells. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the SEM. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01.  $\star \star \star$ , p< 0.001. All days were examined only once with three mice per group.

# Absence of CD40 does not affect the rate of T cell apoptosis

There have been studies showing that T cells undergo abortive proliferation in  $CD40^{-/-}$  mice leading to the rapid disappearance of the T cells. This should mean that greater numbers of OT-II T cells undergoing apoptosis should be detected. Although I did not see an obvious difference in the clonal deletion phase in  $CD40^{-/-}$  mice by tracking OT-II cell numbers, the amount of apoptosis was examined by staining with annexin V. However, when I examined the proportions of OT-II T cells staining positive for annexin V at various days after immunisation, there was no significant difference between the numbers of OT-II T cells undergoing apoptosis in  $CD40^{-/-}$  mice ( $\blacktriangle$ ) compared to C57BL/6 mice ( $\blacksquare$ ) (figure 5.4). This shows that the absence of CD40 does not affect the rate of OT-II T cell apoptosis *in vivo*.



**Figure 5.4.** CD40 does not affect the rate of  $CD4^+$  T cell apoptosis. OT-II T cells in the spleen were examined for apoptosis by annexin V binding at various days after immunisation. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the SEM. Statistical comparisons were completed by the un-paired T-test. This was completed only once with three mice per group.

# CD40 on B cells is not required for T cell expansion

Having shown that OT-II T cells expand less efficiently in the absence of CD40, I went on to examine whether B cells were the source of this CD40 *in vivo*. To do this, bone-marrow chimeras were made where the B cells are deficient in CD40 but other APCs can provide CD40 costimulation. C57BL/6 mice were lethally irradiated and bone-marrow was transferred. For CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras, 80% µMT bone-marrow and 20% CD40<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow was transferred whereas wildtype chimeras were created using 80% µMT and 20% C57BL/6 bone-marrow. After reconstitution, OT-II cells were transferred as described previously and the chimeras immunised with DNP-OVA/alum. At four days after immunisation, there was no difference in expansion of the OT-II T cells in the presence or absence of CD40 on B cells (figure 5.5). Thus, B cells are not required to provide CD40 for T cell expansion.



**Figure 5.5.** T cell expansion is normal in the absence of B cell-derived CD40. OT-II T cells were transferred into wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and the mice immunised the following day. Mice were euthanised on day 4 after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined. Symbols show the number of OT-II T cells as a percentage of CD4s of an individual mouse and lines are used to show the mean of each group. Statistical comparisons are by un-paired T-test. Day four was examined twice with a minimum of four mice per group.

#### CD40 on B cells is not required for in vivo CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses

To determine if CD40 costimulation by B cells is required at any stage of the OT-II T cell primary response, mice were sacrificed at various days after immunisation and analysed for OT-II T cell numbers. Figure 5.6 shows the expansion of OT-II T cells at various days after immunisation in the spleen, lungs and liver of wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. There was no significant difference in OT-II T cell numbers throughout the primary T cell response in the spleen. Therefore, CD40 expression by B cells is not required to provide T cell costimulation at any stage of the T cell response. In addition, there was no difference in OT-II T cell numbers in the lungs and liver at most days showing that T cell migration was unaffected by the absence of CD40 on B cells. However, significantly higher numbers of OT-II T cells were seen in the liver of CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras at six days after immunisation.

# In vitro restimulations to examine cytokine production

CD40 has been shown to play a role in T cell differentiation:  $CD40^{-/-}$  mice were found to produce less IFN- $\gamma$  using a variety of immunisation protocols (Howland et al., 2000; Miga et al., 2001; Whitmire et al., 1999). To determine whether B cellderived CD40 affects T cell differentiation, the splenocytes from chimeras that received OT-II T cells were examined for *in vitro* proliferation and cytokine production. Proliferation and IFN- $\gamma$  production of T cells from wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were found to be similar (figure 5.7). Therefore, B cell-derived CD40 does not affect IFN- $\gamma$  production. Unfortunately, the production of IL-4 was consistently below the level of detection in these experiments and so it could not be compared.

#### A. SPLEEN



#### B. LUNG



C. LIVER



**Figure 5.6.** CD40 on B cells is not required for T cell expansion. After transfer of OT-II T cells and immunisation, mice were euthanised and perfused on days 3, 4, 6, 8 and 10 after immunisation and the spleen, liver and lungs examined for the percentage of transgenic cells. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and V $\beta$ 5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the SEM. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star$ , p< 0.05. For the spleen, all days were examined twice with a minimum of three mice per group. For lungs and livers, days three, four and six were examined twice whereas days eight and ten were only examined once.

# A. Proliferation



# B. Cytokine production



**Figure 5.7.** Proliferation and cytokine production is similar in T cells from CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and wildtype chimeras ( $\blacksquare$ ). Pooled splenocyte populations from both groups were depleted of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and MHC-II positive cells. The cells were analysed for proliferation and cytokine production as described in the previous chapter. These graphs show results from four days after immunisation but the other days showed similar results. The proliferation assays and ELISAs were pooled data from at least three mice per group and were done twice for each day.

# Antibody responses are reduced in chimeras where the B cells do not express CD40

In the absence of CD40, germinal centres (GCs) and immunoglobulin (Ig) class switching do not occur (Kawabe et al., 1994). Since T cells have recently been shown to express CD40 and B cells to express CD40L, ELISAs were carried out to determine whether the B cells must express CD40 to generate efficient antibody responses. Serum from mice immunised ten days previously with DNP-OVA/alum was examined for anti-DNP IgM and IgG levels. CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were deficient in both anti-DNP IgM and IgG production (figure 5.8). Therefore, B cells themselves must express CD40 to produce efficient levels of antigen-specific antibodies.



**Figure 5.8.** CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are deficient in antibody production in response to DNP-OVA/alum immunisation. The amount of anti-DNP antibodies in serum from wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras immunised ten days previously was examined by ELISA. Serum was diluted down the plate and amounts of antibody compared to control serum. Two mice from each group were examined.

160

8 0

320

640

0.00

10

4 0

# Polyclonal T cell expansion and memory responses

Since OT-II T cells disappear within a few weeks after immunisation, MHC-II tetramers (described in the previous chapter) were used to enable us to examine a polyclonal primary T cell response and T cell memory generation in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. These experiments were done in collaboration with Megan MacLeod in the lab as part of her PhD.

For these experiments, mice were first primed with peptide-pulsed DCs then rested to allow memory cells to form before being re-immunised with H19env in CFA to look at the recall response *in vivo* (figure 5.9). When immunising with peptide pulsed DCs, the response peaks earlier than when immunising with CFA. Therefore, the primary response was examined on day seven after immunisation. Furthermore, after DC immunisation, the mice need to be re-immunised to view the memory response because the tetramer positive cells fall below the level of detection by twenty days after immunisation with DCs. This means that the number of memory cells remaining before re-immunisation cannot be examined. The immunisation protocol was changed from that in the previous chapter to allow us to compare the results in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras to those in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice; work by Megan MacLeod showed that tetramer staining could not be seen in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice when they were immunised with peptide in CFA. Wildtype DCs were used to restore the primary immune response in these mice and allow T cell memory to develop (see Appendix 1).

CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and wildtype chimeras were immunised with DCs s.c. in the hind leg. As expected, the percentage of tetramer positive cells in the spleen was equivalent in both types of chimeras at the peak of expansion, day seven after immunisation and also at day eleven, although there was a trend for the numbers to be slightly higher in the CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras (figure 5.10). This is likely to be due to the response in wildtype chimeras being lower than expected, rather than the CD40<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras responding better than expected. Although the differences in the

spleen were not significant, the tetramer staining in the LN was significantly higher in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras.

Unfortunately, when these experiments were repeated, poor priming was found in both types of chimeras, so strong conclusions cannot be drawn from these experiments. The main point to make is that the tetramer staining was not reduced in the CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras suggesting that with both the transgenic T cell response and a polyclonal T cell response, B cells do not appear to be required to provide CD40 costimulation.

It is difficult to understand why there was poor priming in two out of three of these experiments. OT-II T cells respond well in bone-marrow chimeras so we did not expect to see poor priming in these mice. We also immunised some of these chimeras with H19env in CFA since responses were seen when immunising the wildtype and MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup>chimeras with this immunisation protocol but the responses were still very poor.



**Figure 5.9.** Diagrammatic representation of the immunisation protocol to examine polyclonal responses in wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Mice were immunised with peptide-pulsed DCs and examined on days seven and eleven for primary expansion or left for memory to develop and re-immunised with peptide in CFA.

# A. Seven days after immunisation



# B. Eleven days after immunisation



**Figure 5.10.** Polyclonal T cell priming is not reduced in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were immunised with H19env-pulsed DCs and the number of tetramer positive cells examined seven (A) and eleven (B) days after immunisation. Symbols represent individual mice and lines show the mean of each group.

# Memory response in the absence of CD40 on B cells

A cohort of mice were left for ten weeks then re-immunised with H19env in CFA to examine *in vivo* recall responses. The mice were examined for tetramer staining five days after immunisation with CFA (figure 5.11). Despite low primary expansion, a recall response could be seen in these mice and the memory response was similar in both types of chimeras suggesting that CD40 on B cells is not required for T cell memory generation or recall responses *in vivo*.



**Figure 5.11.** Polyclonal memory responses are normal in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were immunised with H19env-pulsed DCs and left for 10 weeks before reimmunisation with H19env/CFA in the hind leg. Mice were immunised with pOVA as controls. Four wildtype chimeras were immunised with H19env/CFA for the first time to compare primary and memory responses. Symbols represent individual mice and lines show the mean of each group. The memory response was examined twice with four mice per group.

## Discussion

# Expansion in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice

The OT-II adoptive transfer system was used to determine if CD40 was required for *in vivo* expansion of T cells. Interestingly, the initial expansion of OT-II T cells was normal in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice, however, by the peak of the response, there were significantly more OT-II T cells in wildtype mice compared to CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Therefore, CD40 is not required for initial activation and expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells but it is required for sustained CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation.

The fact that T cells undergo initial expansion in the absence of CD40 is not surprising since CD40L is only upregulated on activated T cells. It is likely that other costimulatory molecules are required for initial expansion. For example, CD28:B7 interactions are likely to be one of the first costimulatory interactions required by T cells. CD28 is constitutively expressed on T cells and CD80 is expressed on naïve DC and B cells, although it is further upregulated after activation. CD28 signalling results in IL-2 production and T cell proliferation (Jenkins et al., 1991).

The similar early expansion in the absence of CD40 correlates with published data by Miga *et al* and Howland *et al*. However, my results show that the kinetics of the T cell contraction phase is similar, with the OT-II T cells declining slowly at a rate similar to that of wildtype mice. This contrasts with published data showing a dramatic reduction in T cell number after initial expansion (Howland et al., 2000; Miga et al., 2001). Miga *et al* transferred OT-II T cells and DCs with or without the addition of anti-CD154 mAb to block CD40L signalling. When the anti-CD154 mAb was added, they showed initial expansion of T cells but by day five the cells had dramatically decreased in number (Miga et al., 2001). Similarly, Howland *et al* showed that DO.11.10/CD40L<sup>-/-</sup> cells had decreased dramatically in number by seven days after immunisation.

The similar rate of clonal deletion in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to wildtype mice in my system was confirmed by examining the number of OT-II T cells that were undergoing apoptosis at different days after immunisation. There was no difference in the proportions of cells staining positive for annexin V showing that clonal deletion was similar in the presence or absence of CD40.

It is unclear why my results are different to those published. A dramatic reduction in T cell numbers would mean that CD40:CD40L interactions are required for the survival of T cells. One reason for a dramatic crash in T cell numbers is due to peripheral deletion leading to tolerance. However, Miga *et al* reported that tolerance was not induced in their system.

There are numerous reasons why CD40 on APCs may be important for T cell responses. CD40 interactions result in signalling through the association of several TNF receptor-associated factor (TRAF) family molecules leading to the activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Ishida et al., 1996a; Ishida et al., 1996b). As a result of CD40 ligation, there is an increase in various molecules on the surface of DCs and B cells including MHC-II (Cella et al., 1996; Clatza et al., 2003), CD80 (Cella et al., 1996; Clatza et al., 2003)} and CD86 (Cella et al., 1996; Jenkins, 1994) making them more efficient antigen presenting cells. Another possibility is that CD40 affects migration of APCs to the lymphoid tissues or plays a role in maintaining them once they are there (Miga et al., 2001; Moodycliffe et al., 2000).

# T cell responses in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras

Having confirmed that CD40 is important for OT-II T cell expansion *in vivo* and in light of the MHC-II chimera data, where OT-II T cell expansion is decreased when B cells don't express MHC-II, the hypothesis was that perhaps B cells are also required to provide CD40 costimulation. This is particularly likely given the importance of the CD40:CD40L interaction between T and B cells for the B cell response. Therefore, CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were created to examine OT-II T cell expansion when the T

cells can only receive CD40 signals from APCs other than B cells. The expansion of OT-II T cells was similar in both wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras showing that T cells do not require a CD40 signal from B cells for primary responses for expansion or clonal deletion.

Since OT-II T cell expansion was reduced in the absence of MHC-II on B cells but not when CD40 on B cells was absent, it is tempting to speculate that T cells require further Ag-presentation by B cells for complete expansion but do not need further costimulatory signals. There are a large number costimulatory signals, however. It would be interesting to examine T cell responses when B cells cannot provide key costimulatory molecules such as the B7 molecules or OX40L. The B7.1/B7.2 molecules are very important for T cell responses. Mice that are deficient in both B7.1 and B7.2 are readily available and therefore it would be possible to create chimeras where the B cells are unable to provide B7.1 and B7.2 signals. However, CD40 signalling results in the upregulation of costimulatory molecules, including the B7 molecules (Clatza et al., 2003) therefore it is possible that there will be no difference in T cell expansion when B cells do not express B7.

We chose to examine CD40 because CD40L is expressed on activated T cells. Since T cells are thought to come into contact with B cells only after initial activation with DCs, late costimulatory molecules may be more important in the T and B cell interaction. Another costimulatory molecule, which may be important on B cells, is OX40L. The receptor, OX40, is expressed on activated T cells and its ligand (OX40L) is upregulated on DCs and B cells after CD40 ligation or Ig cross-linking on B cells (Stuber et al., 1995). There are several reasons why OX40 may be important in the interaction between T and B cells. OX40:OX40L interactions have been shown to induce CXCR5 expression on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells *in vitro* (Flynn et al., 1998). CXCR5 is a chemokine receptor involved in T and B cell migration to the B cell follicles. Additional support for the involvement of OX40L comes from studies reconstituting µMT mice with B cells. When wildtype B cells were used to reconstitute µMT mice, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion was restored. However, OX40L<sup>-/-</sup> B

cells could not restore T cell priming showing that OX40L on B cells is required for this restoration (Linton et al., 2003). Again, since CD40 signalling is important in the upregulation of OX40L, this may suggest that OX40L is not playing a major role in this system though OX40L may be upregulated by other signalling events.

Given that IFN- $\gamma$  production is reduced in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice, I examined the cytokine production when the CD40 deficiency was restricted to B cells alone. I saw no reduction in IFN- $\gamma$  production by the splenocytes suggesting that CD40 on B cells does not affect T cell expansion or differentiation.

Although CD40 is known to be required for germinal centre formation and isotype switching, the recent finding that B cells can also express CD40L and CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can express CD40 has opened up the possibility that perhaps CD40L on B cells can interact with CD40 on the T cells (Bourgeois et al., 2002). Therefore, it is possible that chimeras where the B cells are deficient in CD40 may still be able to undergo isotype switching through the interactions of CD40L on the B cells and CD40 on the T cell. In light of these findings, the amount of anti-DNP antibodies was determined from both wildtype and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras. Mice where the B cells lacked CD40 were inefficient at producing Ag-specific IgM and IgG antibodies. This finding is in agreement with Lee *et al* (Lee et al., 2003b).

It would also be interesting to examine IgA responses in both the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> and CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras as Sangster *et al* showed that IgM and IgG antibodies were not produced against influenza but normal IgA production occurred suggesting that IgA production did not require cognate interaction involving MHC-II and CD40 on B cells (Sangster et al., 2003).

# Polyclonal responses in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras

MHC-II tetramers were used to examine polyclonal T cell responses in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras, allowing us to compare results using two different systems, Tg T cell transfer and endogenous polyclonal T cell responses.

When immunising with H19env-pulsed DCs or H19env in CFA, T cell priming in the CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was very low, making it difficult to determine whether primary expansion was affected by the loss of CD40 on B cells. However, in one of the experiments tetramer staining above background levels was measurable and the expansion in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was not below that of wildtype chimeras, which correlates with the adoptive transfer results.

Although the primary response was relatively low, memory cells were formed and the recall response in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras was equivalent to wildtype chimeras. Thus, CD40 on B cells was not required for memory T cell development, maintenance or a memory recall response to antigen. Thus, although CD40 is required for efficient T cell responses *in vivo*, B cells are not required to provide this CD40.

# Conclusions

By examining OT-II Tg T cell responses in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> and wildtype mice, I have shown that CD40 is not involved in the initial activation and expansion of these T cells but becomes required at later stages. Due to my previous findings of reduced OT-II T cell expansion in the absence of MHC-II on B cells and reduced expansion in the absence of CD40, CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were created to determine if B cells were required to provide CD40. T cell expansion was normal in these mice suggesting that B cells are not the source of CD40. Interestingly, memory responses were also normal in the absence of B cell-derived CD40. Thus, B cells are not required to provide the

CD40 signal *in vivo* is DCs. CD40 is important for the further enhancing of the APC activation, leading to further upregulation of other costimulatory molecules, which act to promote T cell expansion or survival.

"I don't have a solution but I admire the problem."

# Anon

# B cell-derived LT $\alpha$ is not required during T cell expansion

# Introduction

The initiation of an immune response requires the interaction of a naïve T cell with an APC presenting the T cells specific ligand. Since Ag-specific naïve T cells are very rare, the secondary lymphoid tissues play an important role in concentrating the cells of the immune system into a small area thereby increasing the likelihood that these cells interact. The architecture of these organs is formed and maintained by various cytokines and chemokines. The cytokine and chemokine milieu required for the maintenance of the lymphoid organs is a delicate balance kept in check by positive and negative regulation. For example, the FDCs in the B cell follicles attract B cells, which express LT $\beta$  on their surface inducing maturation of the FDCs and resulting in increased CXCL13 expression (Ngo et al., 2001). B cells have been shown to play a crucial role in maintaining splenic architecture. For example, B cell-deficient mice have a multitude of architectural defects in the spleen including the absence of FDCs, marginal zone macrophages (MZMs) and metallophilic macrophages (MMs) (Crowley et al., 1999) and also decreased expression of chemokines such as CCL21 (MandikNayak et al., 2001).

A growing number of mouse mutants have helped to unravel the various molecules involved in the generation of secondary lymphoid tissues. For example, the cytokines  $LT\alpha$  ( $LT\alpha_3$ , the secreted form) and  $LT\beta$  ( $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$ , the membrane form) are produced by activated T and B cells and play key roles in the organisation of secondary lymphoid tissues (see table 6.1 for expression of the lymphotoxins and their receptors).  $LT\alpha$ deficient mice (deficient in both the secreted  $LT\alpha$  form and the membrane  $LT\beta$  form) lack LNs and have greatly disrupted splenic architecture. The crucial role of B cellderived  $LT\alpha$  in lymphoid architecture was shown by the transfer of  $LT\alpha^{+/+}$  T or B cells into SCID mice; only  $LT\alpha^{+/+}$  B cells could restore T/B segregation and FDCs,  $LT\alpha^{+/+}$  T cells could not (Gonzalez et al., 1998).

#### Chapter 6: Results

| Cytokine                                      | Expressed by   | Receptors       | Receptor<br>expression                                   |
|---|--|-----------------|--|
| LT $\alpha_3$ (formally called TNF- $\beta$ ) | Activated T cells<br>Activated B cells<br>NK cells   | TNFRI<br>TNFRII | Most cell types<br>including<br>lymphocytes              |
|   |  | HVEM            | Lymphocytes<br>Monocytes                                 |
| $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$                           | Activated T cells<br>Activated B cells<br>NK cells<br>CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD3 <sup>-</sup><br>progenitors | LTβR            | Macrophages<br>DCs<br>Stromal cells, e.g.<br>FDCs + HEVs |
| $LT\alpha_2\beta_1$                           | As $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$   | TNFRI<br>TNFRII | As above   |
|   |  | LTBR weakly     | As above   |
| LIGHT   | T cells  | LTβR            | As above   |
|   | Granulocytes<br>Monocytes<br>Immature DCs  | HVEM            | As above   |
| TNFα  | Macrophages  | TNFRI<br>TNFRII | As above   |

Table 6.1. Expression of TNF, lymphotoxin, LIGHT and their receptors

Given the importance of B cell-derived  $LT\alpha$ , the role of B cell-derived  $LT\beta$  has been examined by creating mice where only the B cells are deficient in  $LT\beta$  (Tumanov et al., 2002).  $LT\beta$  expression was approximately 60% lower in the spleen of these mice showing that B cells are the major source of  $LT\beta$  in the spleen. These mice had reduced numbers of FDCs, MZMs and MMs. In addition, there was a substantial disruption of the B cell follicles although the T cell areas were not disturbed.

Studies have now focussed on trying to understand what effect disrupted splenic architecture has on T and B cell responses.  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice have been shown to have an impaired ability to clear viral infections, including lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) and they also have delayed responses to infection with influenza (Lund et al., 2002; Muller et al., 2002; Suresh et al., 2002).

There have been a number of studies examining B cell responses in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  and  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  mice. In general, low stimulatory antigen protocols show impaired IgG responses in both  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  and  $LT\beta^{-/-}$  mice (Banks et al., 1995; Eugster et al., 1996; Fu et al., 1997) but this can be overcome by using high doses of Ag (Matsumoto et al., 1996) or adjuvant (Fu et al., 1997). However, although Fu *et al* witnessed a robust IgG response when  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice were immunised with Ag in adjuvant, when rechallenged three months later, they had a weak B cell memory response (Fu et al., 2000). Therefore, B cell memory appears to be defective in the absence of  $LT\alpha$ , even with high stimulatory immunisation protocols.

When using knockout mice, it is difficult to interpret whether the decreased responses are due to an inherent defect in the cells, or as a secondary result of disorganised splenic architecture. To determine which of these possibilities is true for B cell responses, Fu *et al* sublethally irradiated wildtype mice then transferred  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  splenocytes at the same time as giving sheep red blood cells (SRBCs) (Fu et al., 1997). Normal IgG responses developed under these circumstances showing that the B cells had no inherent deficiency in responding to this Ag. In contrast, when wildtype splenocytes were transferred into

#### Chapter 6: Results

irradiated  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice with SRBCs, no IgG response occurred. Since the mice were immunised at the same time as cell transfer, the architecture of the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice was still disrupted. Thus, the microarchitecture of the spleen appears to be the factor preventing normal B cell responses; B cells did not have to express  $LT\alpha$  themselves to become activated and isotype switch.

To determine what role LT $\alpha$  plays in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation during LCMV infection, Suresh *et al* measured CD8 T cell activation in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice using MHC-I tetramers and by examining IFN- $\gamma$  production. CD8 T cell activation was reduced in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice but T cell activation could be restored by transferring LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  T cells into wildtype mice. Thus, as with B cells, the defective T cell activation was likely to be due to abnormal splenic architecture and not an inherent defect of the cells (Muller et al., 2002; Suresh et al., 2002).

Given that under certain conditions B cells become activated and isotype switch in the absence of LT $\alpha$  but cannot form memory cells, it is important to examine T cell memory formation as well as T cell activation. Fu *et al* used a hapten carrier system to examine the generation of memory T cells in the absence of LT $\alpha$  (illustrated in figure 6.1) (Fu et al., 2000). Wildtype or LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice were immunised with SRBCs and sixty days later T cells were purified from the spleen. These were transferred along with B cells from NP-KLH primed mice to irradiated wildtype recipients. T cells from either wildtype and LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice could help B cells to produce NP IgG antibodies in response to immunisation with NP-SRBCs suggesting that memory T cells can form and survive in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice. Although this technique shows that memory T cells are capable of forming in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice, it does not allow a detailed enough study of any small differences in expansion, the kinetics of the response, or T cell differentiation.

#### Chapter 6: Results

124



**Figure 6.1.** Hapten-carrier system to examine memory T cell development in  $LT\alpha^{-/}$  mice. Wildtype or  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice were immunised and the T cells purified 60 days later. The T cells along with activated B cells were transferred into wildtype mice and the memory T cells tested for the ability to provide help to B cells.

Responses to both infections and SRBCs have been shown to be reduced in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice and these reduced responses are likely to be due to the disrupted architecture of the mice. However, exactly how this disrupted architecture causes reduced responses is unclear. The disruption of splenic architecture could cause decreased T cell responses by a number of mechanisms: myeloid DCs may be unable to migrate to the T cell area to activate T cells; T and B cell interactions may be reduced; or the trapping of particulate Ag by the marginal zone may be inhibited.

A key role for Ag trapping in the control of certain infections was revealed when decreased trapping of *L. monocytogenes* in the marginal zone led to impaired early control of the infection (Aichele et al., 2003). This was shown by giving mice low-

#### Chapter 6: Results

density clodronate liposomes, which are taken up by macrophages, which then rapidly undergo apoptosis (Naito et al., 1996). Therefore, in this system both MZMs and MMs were depleted. A separate study has also revealed a correlation between control of infection and splenic architecture. Muller *et al* revealed a correlation between reduced amounts of LCMV virus recovered from the spleen and the extent of splenic microarchitecture disruption (Muller et al., 2002). This is thought to be because early virus infection of the splenic marginal zone allows priming of the immune system.

The architecture of secondary lymphoid tissues is dependent on factors required during organogenesis and those required continuously for the maintenance of the architecture. In order to examine if the disrupted architecture in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice could be rescued by the presence of  $LT\alpha$  after organogenesis has occurred, Fu *et al* reconstituted lethally irradiated  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice with wildtype bone-marrow (Fu et al., 1997). When this was done, FDCs, GCs and strong IgG responses were restored although the follicles remained small and T and B cells were not completely separated. Thus, the deficiency in FDCs and GCs in these mice is not set and can be rescued by the presence of  $LT\alpha$  after development has occurred.

Given the crucial role of B cells in maintaining splenic architecture and, therefore, the disrupted architecture seen in  $\mu$ MT mice, this may be one of the reasons for the reduced expansion of OT-II T cells observed in these mice (shown in chapter three). Since LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$  play a major role in maintaining the splenic architecture, I created chimeras where the B cells were deficient in LT $\alpha$  whereas other cell types (e.g. T cells and NK cells) were sufficient. The chimeras were created as described in chapter four but using  $\mu$ MT and LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  bone-marrow. Since all B cells were derived from the LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  bone-marrow, the B cells could not produce LT $\alpha$  or LT $\beta$ . These bone-marrow chimeras have several advantages to LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice: they exclude the problems of dissecting whether LT is required during organogenesis or continually because the C57BL/6 mice had formed LNs before being irradiated and reconstituted; and the LT deficiency is restricted to one cell

#### Chapter 6: Results

type allowing the importance of one cell type as a source of LT to be examined. In these circumstances, I am examining a requirement for continual LT expression by B cells. As described in chapter three, the OT-II transfer system provides an opportunity to detect  $CD4^+$  T cell proliferation *ex vivo*.

# Results

# The architecture in LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras is mildly disrupted

Bone-marrow chimeras were created where the B cells are deficient in LT $\alpha$  to determine whether B cell-derived LT can affect T cell responses. The absence of LT $\alpha$  expression by B cells from mice reconstituted with  $\mu$ MT and LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  bone-marrow was verified by purifying splenic B cells using CD19 MACs beads screening for genomic LT $\alpha$  by PCR amplification using specific primers (figure 6.2). Genomic DNA for LT $\alpha$  was detected from control chimeras but not LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras.



**Figure 6.2**. B cells do not express LT $\alpha$  in chimeras reconstituted with  $\mu$ MT and LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  bone-marrow. B cells were purified using anti-CD19-beads and the cells lysed then analysed for the presence of LT $\alpha$  DNA. The results are from 3 pooled mice. This experiment was done once.

Chapter 6: Results
To determine whether the absence of LT $\alpha$  on B cells affects the splenic architecture, spleens from LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and wildtype chimeras were examined by immunohistochemistry. 5µm thick sections were cut and the sections stained for T cells, B cells, FDC and MZMs. The results show that the T and B cell segregation was not affected by the absence of B cell-derived LT (figure 6.3A). However, FDCs were absent in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras and MZMs were reduced (figure 6.3 B + C). Therefore, B cells are the source of LT that is required for the maintenance of FDCs and a complete MZM compartment and this LT is required continuously. However, the segregation of T and B cells areas does not require a continuous supply of LT from B ells to be maintained.

To determine whether GCs can form in the absence of FDCs, mice were immunised with DNP-OVA/alum and the spleens removed ten days later. They were immunised with this Ag because this is the Ag used during the experiments to examined CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion. Sections were stained with the lectin peanut agglutinin (PNA), which binds to germinal centre B cells. I observed that GCs could form in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras when using this immunisation protocol (fig 6.3D). This confirms other studies showing that germinal centres can occur in the absence of FDCs (Koni and Flavell, 1999) and also that GCs can form in the absence of LT $\alpha$  when a strong immunisation protocol is used (Fu et al., 1997; Matsumoto et al., 1996).

WT Chimera LTa- chimera LT a- Mouse B C D LT<sup>-/-</sup> Chimera WT Chimera

**Figure 6.3.** Immunohistochemistry. Spleens were removed and frozen in cryo-m-bed before sectioning. Sections were stained for the T cell area (green), B cell area (red) (A) The areas in blue are FDCs in (B), MZMs in (C) and Germinal centres in (D).

Chapter 6: Results

A

## OT-II T cell expansion is similar in the absence of B cell-derived LT $\alpha$

To examine whether LT $\alpha$  production by B cells is necessary for T cell expansion, OT-II T cells were transferred into wildtype or LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and the mice immunised the following day. The percentage of OT-II T cells was examined on days three, four, six and eight after immunisation. The initial expansion of OT-II T cells was lower in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$ B cell chimeras compared to wildtype chimeras. However, by the peak of the response there was no significant difference in expansion between the two types of chimeras (figure 6.4). Thus, the expansion of OT-II T cells is initially lower in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras but is able to reach normal levels by the peak of expansion.



**Figure 6.4.** OT-II T cell expansion can reach normal levels when the B cells do not produce LT.  $CD4^+$  T cells from OT-II mice were transferred into bone-marrow chimeras where the B cells cannot produce LT or control chimeras and the mice immunised the following day. Mice were euthanised on various days after immunisation and the percentage of transgenic cells determined. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for Va2 and VB5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test.  $\star \star$ , p< 0.01. All days were examined twice with a minimum of three mice per group.

# Migration of T cells to peripheral tissues is not affected by the absence of LT from B cells

Given the differences in splenic architecture in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  chimeras, the migration of T cells from the spleen after immunisation may be affected in these chimeras. To determine whether the absence of LT expression by B cells led to differences in the migration of OT-II T cells to peripheral tissues, mice were perfused and the lungs and livers examined for the presence of OT-II T cells. In the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras, no differences in T cell migration were seen (figure 6.5 A and B). Therefore, in the absence of proper splenic architecture T cells do not change their migration to peripheral tissues



**Figure 6.5.** T cell migration to peripheral tissues is unaffected by the absence of B-cell produced LT $\alpha$ . After transfer of OT-II T cells and immunisation, mice were euthanised and perfused on days 3, 4, 6 and 8 after immunisation and the liver and lung examined for the percentage of transgenic cells. Expansion is expressed as the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for V $\alpha$ 2 and VB5. Symbols show the mean of each group and the error bars show the SEM. Statistical comparisons were made using the un-paired T-test. This experiment was done twice with a minimum of 3 mice per group.

## The absence of B cell-derived LT does not affect T cell differentiation

Lymphotoxin is characterised as a Th1 cytokine due to the fact that LT $\alpha$  mRNA was only found in clones producing IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  but not those producing IL-4 and IL-5 (Cherwinski et al., 1987). When the expression of LT $\beta$  was examined, it was found that naïve T cells readily express LT $\beta$  after TCR engagement (Gramaglia et al., 1999). Although LT $\beta$  expression is not restricted to Th1 cells, IL-4 was shown to downregulate its expression leading to Th2 cells that do not express LT.

To determine whether OT-II T cell cytokine production was affected by the absence of LT production by B cells, cytokine production by OT-II T cells was examined various days after immunisation using ELISAs, as described previously. There was no obvious difference in the production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-4 by OT-II T cells from wildtype or LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  chimeras showing that B cell LT did not regulate OT-II T cell cytokine production (figure 6.6).



**Figure 6.6.** T cell differentiation is not affected by the absence of B cell-derived LT. Pooled splenocyte populations from wildtype or  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras were depleted of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and MHC-II positive cells. The cells were analysed for cytokine production as described in chapter four. These graphs show results from four days after immunisation but the other days showed similar results. The ELISAs were pooled data from at least three mice per group and were done twice for each day.

## Antibody production is unaffected by B cell-derived LTa

Blood samples were taken from mice sacrificed eight days after immunisation with DNP-OVA/alum to examine serum antibody levels. We determined whether the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras were able to produce both IgM and IgG antibodies in response to immunisation with DNP-OVA/alum. As shown in figure 6.7, both anti-DNP IgM and IgG antibody production were unaffected by the absence of B cell LT.



**Figure 6.7.** LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras are efficient at antibody production in response to DNP-OVA/alum. Mice that were transferred with OT-II T cells and immunised eight days earlier were bled to determine serum antibody amounts by ELISA. The error bars show the SEM. Results are representative of two experiments.

#### Discussion

Given the importance of LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$  in maintaining splenic architecture, it is possible that one of the reasons T cells respond less well in  $\mu$ MT mice (shown in first results chapter) is due to the lack of B cell-derived LT and TNF, resulting in disrupted splenic architecture. Therefore, bone-marrow chimeras were created where the B cells were unable to produce LT $\alpha$  or LT $\beta$  but could present Ag and provide cosimulatory molecules.

When the architecture of the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras was examined, FDCs were absent and MZMs were reduced but the B cell follicles were still distinct and T/B cell segregation was maintained. This showed that, after lymphoid development had occurred, B cell-derived LT was not required for T/B segregation but was essential for the presence of FDCs and normal MZM numbers. The  $\mu$ MT mice also lack FDCs and have greatly reduced MZMs (Crowley et al., 1999).

This crucial role of B cell-derived LT is consistent with cell transfer studies. Fu *et al* restored FDCs in RAG<sup>-/-</sup> mice by transferring B cells alone (Fu et al., 1998). Interestingly, when mice were created where only the B cells were deficient in LT $\beta$ , some FDCs (15-20%) were still present (Tumanov et al., 2002). This suggests that the lack of FDC in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras is likely to be due to absence of both LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$ . Therefore, both cytokines play a role in maintaining FDCs.

Given the complete lack of T and B cell segregation in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice and the importance of B cell-derived LT in maintaining FDC and MZMs, it was somewhat surprising that the T and B cells remained segregated in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras. Evidence that T/B segregation is relatively plastic comes from experiments using the LT $\beta$ R-Ig fusion protein to inhibit the LT $\beta$  pathway. When 6-week-old mice were given a prolonged LT $\beta$ R-Ig treatment, B cell follicular integrity was lost and the T/B border was lost (Mackay et al., 1997). Moreover, when SCID mice were treated with LT $\beta$ R-Ig one week before transfer of

splenocytes, the T and B cells did not segregate properly whereas they did in controltreated mice (Gonzalez et al., 1998). There are two possible reasons for these discrepancies. It is possible that the LT required for T/B segregation is delivered by cells other than splenocytes; when  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  splenocytes were transferred to SCID mice they were able to segregate (Gonzalez et al., 1998). Another possibility is that the molecule required for T/B segregation is actually LIGHT, a recently discovered ligand for LT $\beta$ R (Mauri et al., 1998).

In this study, when OT-II T cells were used to examine T cell expansion in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras, the T cell expansion was lower at day 3 but by the peak of the response normal levels of expansion was seen. Thus, although the expansion was slightly slower in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras, OT-II T cells could expand fully in these mice. This shows that the loss of LT from B cells, and therefore FDCs and MZMs, is not required for optimal T cell expansion in this system.

The delayed expansion of T cells may explain the delayed response to influenza infection in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice seen by others (Lund et al., 2002). Since the mice eventually clear the infection, it shows that, in the absence of LT $\alpha$  signalling and organised lymphoid tissue, mice can still generate a response to influenza but the response takes longer to occur. It would be interesting to compare OT-II expansion in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice to wildtype mice and the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras to see if I detect an even slower onset of T cell expansion in the complete absence of LT $\alpha$ . Any difference between the complete  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice and the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras would either be because another cell type which expresses LT $\alpha$ plays a role in T cell expansion or because LT $\alpha$  plays a role in both organogenesis and maintenance of lymphoid tissues.

The proportions of OT-II T cells in the peripheral tissues were examined to determine whether disrupted splenic architecture affected T cell migration. It was particularly relevant to look at this since  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  and  $LT\beta R^{-/-}$  mice have increased numbers of

lymphocytes in the peripheral tissues including the lungs and livers (Banks et al., 1995; Futterer et al., 1998). Moreover, Lo *et al* showed that there was more robust homing of OT-II cells to the lungs of  $LT\beta R^{-/-}$  mice compared to wildtype mice (Lo et al., 2003). Only naïve T cells were examined in this study, however, so whether effector T cell migration is also affected has not been examined. When the chimeras were examined at various days after immunisation for migration of OT-II T cells to the lungs and livers, there was no statistical difference in T cell migration between the two groups showing that B cell-derived LT does not affect T cell migration. It would be interesting to examine OT-II T cell migration in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice to determine whether  $LT\alpha$  produced by another cell type can affect T cell migration. To determine whether LT $\alpha$  on T cell themselves can affect migration, OT-II mice could be crossed with  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice and the OT-II/LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  T cells transferred to wildtype mice to follow migration of the cells after immunisation.

It was interesting to examine T cell differentiation in these chimeras because LT has been characterised as a Th1 cytokine (Cherwinski et al., 1987). Suresh *et al* examined splenocytes from LCMV-infected mice for CD4<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma$  production in response to an MHC-II-restricted epitope. They found less IFN- $\gamma$  production from LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  splenocytes compared to wildtype splenocytes (Suresh et al., 2002). Unfortunately, from this study it is impossible to determine whether less CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were activated or less T cells differentiated into IFN- $\gamma$  producers. A suggestion that CD4 T cell differentiation could be affected comes from a study examining CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice. They showed that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion was similar to wildtype mice but they were functionally defective, as measured by CTL assays and IFN- $\gamma$  production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4, cytokine production was similar in both wildtype and LT $\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras. Therefore, LT from B cells does not affect T cell differentiation. It remains to be determined whether OT-II T cells are used.

Antibody production was examined in the  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras. Normal levels of IgM and IgG were produced in these mice in response to DNP-OVA/alum showing that isotype switching was not affected in the absence of LT on B cells. This result is most likely due to the fact that a strong immunisation protocol was used. Indeed, when  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were immunised with Ag in adjuvant they developed robust IgG responses (Fu et al., 1997). Since GC formation and isotype switching do not occur in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice when Ag without adjuvant is used for immunisation, it is likely that these chimeras will have this similar defect.

It remains to be determined whether memory responses are reduced in these mice. Since OT-II T cell expansion reached normal levels in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  B cell chimeras and Fu *et al* found that memory T cells from  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice were able to help B cells make antibody responses efficiently (Fu et al., 2000), it is likely that T cell memory responses would be normal in these chimeras. However, it is possible that B cell memory formation would be defective in these chimeras. B cell memory responses were reduced in  $LT\alpha^{-/-}$  mice even when immunised with Ag in adjuvant, which allowed a robust IgG response (Fu et al., 2000). These chimeras would be an excellent tool for determining if memory B cell responses are still defective when LT is produced by all cells except B cells.

In summary, chimeras where the B cells cannot provide LT lack FDCs and MZMs but maintain T/B segregation. When OT-II T cell responses were followed in these chimeras, the initial expansion was lower compared to wildtype chimeras but the expansion reached normal levels by the peak of the response. Thus, T cells can expand efficiently when B cells are deficient in LT. In addition, T cell differentiation was unaffected by the absence of LT on B cells.

To properly understand the role of B cells in controlling splenic architecture, it would be interesting to make mice where the B cells are genetically deficient in both TNF and LT.

This would be more comparable to  $\mu MT$  mice since both B cell-derived TNF and LT would be absent during organogenesis.

"A conclusion is the place where you got tired of thinking."

## Steven Wright

## **Discussion and Conclusions**

#### Summary

The aim of this PhD project was to elucidate the role of B cells in regulating T cell responses. There have been a number of studies examining T cell responses in the absence of B cells; however, many of these have given conflicting results. Therefore, I began by examining T cell responses in  $\mu$ MT mice using the OT-II adoptive transfer system. The advantage to the OT-II system is that T cell expansion can be examined *ex vivo* without the need for *in vitro* restimulations. I showed that the OT-II T cells divided less in  $\mu$ MT mice compared to wildtype mice. Therefore, optimal expansion of T cells requires the presence of B cells.

Having determined that B cells do indeed play a role in enhancing T cell expansion, I then went on to examine how B cells exert this effect. There are a number of possible ways B cells can affect T cells responses including Ag presentation, costimulatory stimulation, cytokine production and antibody production. First, the requirement for Ag presentation by B cells was examined. To do this, bone-marrow chimeras were produced where the B cells were deficient in MHC-II and could not, therefore, present Ag to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells whereas other APCs, including DCs, which are thought to be essential for the initial activation of T cells, could present Ag. Using both the OT-II adoptive transfer system and the MHC-II tetramer system, the T cells expanded to a lesser degree when B cells were deficient in MHC-II. Moreover, T cell memory responses were also decreased in the MHC-II-/- B cell chimeras. Thus, both primary and memory T cell responses are regulated by a cognate interaction with B cells through MHC-II. Importantly, the primary responses were examined using two different methods. When the adoptive transfer system was used, the mice were immunised with a hapten-carrier Ag in alum whereas when the MHC-II tetramers were used to detect polyclonal T cells responses, the immunisation protocols used here were peptide in CFA or peptide-pulsed DCs.

## Chapter 7: Final Discussion

It is likely that the reduced numbers of memory T cells present in MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cells chimeras is due to the suboptimal T cell priming in the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras however a role for B cell MHC-II in the maintenance of memory T cells has not been examined in this system and may also be important. It also remains to be determined whether B cell MHC-II is required for the memory recall response. This is highly likely given that B cells are thought to be more important later in T cell responses. This is for two reasons; Ag-specific B cells are present at very low frequencies in the naïve state; and memory T cells seem to be less stringent in their requirement for activation and can be activated by both activated and resting B cells (Croft et al., 1994).

A second mechanism through which B cells could regulate T cell responses is through the provision of costimulation. In order to address this question, bone-marrow chimeras were created in which the B cells were deficient for CD40, but the other APCs could provide this costimulation. Under these circumstances, OT-II T cells could expand to the same degree as in wildtype chimeras. Thus, CD40 expression by B cells was not required for T cell expansion. This result was somewhat surprising given the integral role of CD40 in maturing B cells. CD40 signalling induces the upregulation of several molecules including CD80 (Yellin et al., 1994) and OX40L (Murata et al., 2000). Thus, although it is possible that other costimulatory molecules are required from B cells for optimal T cell responses, it would be predicted that the upregulation of these (e.g. OX40L) would be impaired in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cells.

The architecture of the secondary lymphoid tissues must be highly organised in order to allow the efficient interaction of various cell types. Given that the splenic architecture is disrupted in  $\mu$ MT mice, this could be another possible reason for the decreased T cell responses in these mice. B cell-derived LT $\alpha$  and LT $\beta$  play a crucial role in forming and maintaining the architecture of secondary lymphoid tissues. Therefore, bone-marrow chimeras were created where the B cells could produce neither LT $\alpha$  nor LT $\beta$ . This led to disrupted splenic architecture as shown by the absence of FDCs and MZMs. Although there was less T cell division at three days post-immunisation, by the peak of response, T

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

cells responded equally in LT<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras compared to wildtype chimeras. Thus, the absence of FDCs and a MZM compartment did not result in decreased T cell responses.

Taken together, B cells are essential for optimal T cell primary and memory responses. The principal mechanism appears to be through MHC-II-mediated cognate interactions rather than provision of costimulatory stimulation, antibody production or maintenance of splenic architecture.

#### Discussion

Having shown that MHC-II on B cells is required for efficient T cell responses using both the OT-II system and MHC-II tetramers, it is important to consider why MHC-II could be important. The most likely scenario is that MHC-II expression by B cells allows B cell Ag-presentation leading to increased T cell responses, most likely due to the increased numbers of APCs available.

However, given that the MHC-II molecule has also been shown to be involved in signalling, another possibility is that the interaction of the MHC-II molecule with a TCR may give B cells additional signals that result in the upregulation of other costimulatory molecules or increased cytokine production and it is these that regulate T cell responses. MHC signalling has a wide range of effects on B cell function including Ag presentation (Nabavi et al., 1989), proliferation (Cambier and Lehmann, 1989), apoptosis (Catlett et al., 2001) and cytokine release (Guo et al., 1999).

There are several ways in which the role of MHC-II signalling in B cell Ag presentation to T cells could be investigated. Two different signalling pathways are induced by the aggregation of MHC-II on B cells. One requires the cytoplasmic domain of the MHC-II  $\beta$  chain while the other only occurs in B cells previously stimulated with IL-4 or through

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

BCR aggregation. The signalling that occurs through the  $\beta$  chain cytoplasmic tail is important for Ag presentation and translocation of protein kinase C (PKC) to the nucleus (Nabavi et al., 1989; St-Pierre et al., 1989; Wade et al., 1989). Mice have been produced with MHC-II molecules lacking most of the  $\beta$  chain cytoplasmic domain (Smiley et al., 1995). Unlike MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> mice, these mice have normal CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell development (Smiley et al., 1995). To determine whether the signalling through the  $\beta$  chain of the MHC-II molecule can affect the ability of B cells to regulate T cell responses, it would be interesting to compare OT-II T cell responses in chimeras with B cells expressing fully functional MHC-II to those with B cells lacking the cytoplasmic domain of the  $\beta$  chain.

The other MHC-II signalling pathway, which occurs only in stimulated B cells, does not require the cytoplasmic domains of MHC-II (Andre et al., 1994). It is the transmembrane sequences of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains of MHC-II that are critical for this signalling (Harton et al., 1995). Consequently, creating chimeras with B cells expressing truncated MHC-II will only deplete the PKC signalling pathway but not this pathway. Although this signalling pathway is only beginning to be understood, it has recently been reported that the transmembrane region of the MHC-II molecule can bind the signalling transducers Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  (the signalling molecules involved in BCR signalling) (Lang et al., 2001). To study the involvement of both signalling pathways activated by the cross-linking of MHC-II molecules, it would be interesting to compare T cell responses in wildtype chimeras and chimeras with mutant MHC-II molecules that do not bind the Ig $\alpha$  and Ig $\beta$  molecules. B cells expressing mutations in their transmembrane domain would allow this to be examined.

Another difference between the wildtype chimeras and the MHC-IT<sup>/-</sup> B cell chimeras is that the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras do not produce Ag-specific IgG. When interpreting results from these chimeras it is important to take this into account. In these experiments, I cannot rule out that the loss of the Ag-specific IgG response caused the reduced T cell expansion in these mice. IgG could possibly enhance T cell responses by binding to Ag and increasing the Ag uptake by APCs. This is unlikely, however, given that the

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

144

decreased T cell expansion was seen as early as day three after immunisation, before an Ag-specific IgG response can occur. Moreover, a DNP-specific IgG response fails to occur in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras and there was no difference in OT-II T cell expansion in these chimeras. This shows that normal T cell expansion can occur in the absence of Ag-specific IgG.

It would be interesting to examine the expression of costimulatory molecules and cytokines by B cells in the absence of MHC-II or CD40. For example, signalling through MHC-II on several B cell lines has been shown to induce  $LT\alpha$  production (Guo et al., 1999). Therefore, it is possible that cytokine production from B cells in the MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras differs from that in wildtype chimeras. Both MHC-II and CD40-signalling leads to the upregulation of costimulatory molecules. A microarray system where multiple cytokines and costimulatory molecules can be examined at once would be ideal to identify additional differences between wildtype B cells and those that lack MHC-II or CD40.

Having shown that MHC-II on B cells is required for optimal T cell priming, it would be interesting to examine which subset of B cells is involved in this regulation. There are two main types of B cells in the spleen and the system I have used has not distinguished between them. Follicular B cells are IgM<sup>dull</sup>IgD<sup>bright</sup> and are involved in TD responses whereas MZ B cells are IgM<sup>bright</sup> IgD<sup>dull</sup> and are involved in both TD and TI responses. Although follicular B cells have been given the most attention when examining T and B cell interaction, Kearney and colleagues have recently demonstrated that marginal zone B cells can present protein Ag to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells resulting in T cell expansion both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Attanavanich and Kearney, 2004). Therefore, it would be interesting to examine whether MHC-II on follicular B cells versus marginal zone (MZ) B cells are important in this system or whether they both play a role. There are several mice that have been produced that do not possess marginal zones, including protein kinase 2 (Pyk2) deficient mice (Guinamard et al., 2000) and dedicator of cytokinesis 2 (Dock2) deficient mice (Fukui et al., 2001). To determine if MZ B cells play a role in this system, bone-

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

145

marrow chimeras could be made by combining wildtype or MHC-II<sup>-/-</sup> bone-marrow with bone-marrow from marginal zone deficient mice.

## Conclusions

It is critical for vaccine design that a strong immunological response is generated. In order to achieve this, the requirements for the induction of immune responses need to be understood. My results have shown that MHC-II expression by B cells is required for optimal T cell memory generation, therefore, an effective vaccine strategy must take this into account. By understanding the critical role B cells play in promoting T cell expansion and memory development, it becomes possible to exploit these mechanisms to design more efficacious vaccines. The data shown here demonstrate that B cells play a role in enhancing T cell responses, mainly through the provision of MHC-II although costimulatory molecules other than CD40 may also be required. Thus, increasing Ag presentation by B cells may enhance the efficacy of vaccines. Factors that increase Ag presentation by B cells include CD40 signalling (Clatza et al., 2003) and MHC-II signalling (Nabavi et al., 1989). For example, Castiglioni et al generated a DNA vaccine that contained a B cell specific promoter to target expression to B cells. When this was used in mice with defective DCs, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell priming still occurred. This shows that B cells can be an important APC in vivo. Thus, given my results, a vaccine strategy that activates B cells as well as DCs will be a more effective vaccine strategy than one that concentrates only on DCs.

## Appendix

As described in chapter five, CD40<sup>-/-</sup> B cell chimeras were immunised with wildtype dendritic cells to compare to results achieved by Megan MacLeod in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Work completed by Megan MacLeod as part of her PhD showed that the primary response in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice could not be seen when CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice were immunised with peptide in CFA (figure 8.1). Therefore, mice were immunised with wildtype dendritic cells to overcome this defect in priming.



**Figure 8.1**. Tetramer staining cannot be seen in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice when immunised with H19env/CFA. Percentage of tetramer positive cells, out of CD4 cells, were examined in the spleens of C57BL/6, CD40 and CD40L knockout mice immunised with H19env-CFA 9 days previously. Graph courtesy of Megan.

## Chapter 8: Appendix



**Figure 8.2.** A population of tetramer positive cells can be detected in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> mice when they are immunised with C57BL/6 BM-DCs. DCs were grown from bone-marrow from C57BL/6 mice then activated with PBS and pulsed with H19env or pOVA.  $1 \times 10^6$  DCs were used to immunise each mouse and mice examined for tetramers cells six days after immunisation. Graph courtesy of Megan.

"Success is the ability to go from one failure to another with no loss of enthusiasm."

## Sir Winston Churchill

Chapter 8: Appendix

## References

Abbas, A. K., Haber, S., and Rock, K. L. (1985). Antigen presentation by hapten-specific B lymphocytes. II. Specificity and properties of antigen-presenting B lymphocytes, and function of immunoglobulin receptors. J Immunol 135, 1661-1667.

Abbas, A. K., Murphy, K. M., and Sher, A. (1996). Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. Nature 383, 787-793.

Agarwal, S., and Rao, A. (1998). Modulation of chromatin structure regulates cytokine gene expression during T cell differentiation. Immunity 9, 765-775.

Aichele, P., Zinke, J., Grode, L., Schwendener, R. A., Kaufmann, S. H., and Seiler, P. (2003). Macrophages of the splenic marginal zone are essential for trapping of bloodborne particulate antigen but dispensable for induction of specific T cell responses. J Immunol 171, 1148-1155.

al-Shamkhani, A., Birkeland, M. L., Puklavec, M., Brown, M. H., James, W., and Barclay, A. N. (1996). OX40 is differentially expressed on activated rat and mouse T cells and is the sole receptor for the OX40 ligand. Eur J Immunol *26*, 1695-1699.

Albert, M. L., Sauter, B., and Bhardwaj, N. (1998). Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I-restricted CTLs. Nature 392, 86-89.

Alimzhanov, M. B., Kuprash, D. V., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., Luz, A., Turetskaya, R. L., Tarakhovsky, A., Rajewsky, K., Nedospasov, S. A., and Pfeffer, K. (1997). Abnormal development of secondary lymphoid tissues in lymphotoxin beta- deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 9302-9307.

Altman, J. D., Moss, P. A., Goulder, P. J., Barouch, D. H., McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., Bell, J. I., McMichael, A. J., and Davis, M. M. (1996). Phenotypic analysis of antigenspecific T lymphocytes. Science 274, 94-96.

Andre, P., Cambier, J. C., Wade, T. K., Raetz, T., and Wade, W. F. (1994). Distinct structural compartmentalization of the signal transducing functions of major histocompatibility complex class II (Ia) molecules. J Exp Med *179*, 763-768.

Asano, M. S., and Ahmed, R. (1996). CD8 T cell memory in B cell-deficient mice. J Exp Med 183, 2165-2174.

Assenmacher, M., Lohning, M., Scheffold, A., Richter, A., Miltenyi, S., Schmitz, J., and Radbruch, A. (1998). Commitment of individual Th1-like lymphocytes to expression of IFN- gamma versus IL-4 and IL-10: selective induction of IL-10 by sequential stimulation of naive Th cells with IL-12 and IL-4. J Immunol *161*, 2825-2832.

Attanavanich, K., and Kearney, J. F. (2004). Marginal zone, but not follicular B cells, are potent activators of naive CD4 T cells. J Immunol 172, 803-811.

Bajenoff, M., Granjeaud, S., and Guerder, S. (2003). The strategy of T cell antigenpresenting cell encounter in antigen-draining lymph nodes revealed by imaging of initial T cell activation. J Exp Med *198*, 715-724. Banks, T. A., Rouse, B. T., Kerley, M. K., Blair, P. J., Godfrey, V. L., Kuklin, N. A., Bouley, D. M., Thomas, J., Kanangat, S., and Mucenski, M. L. (1995). Lymphotoxinalpha-deficient mice. Effects on secondary lymphoid organ development and humoral immune responsiveness. J Immunol 155, 1685-1693.

Barnden, M. J., Allison, J., Heath, W. R., and Carbone, F. R. (1998). Defective TCR expression in transgenic mice constructed using cDNA-based alpha- and beta-chain genes under the control of heterologous regulatory elements. Immunol Cell Biol *76*, 34-40.

Becker, T. C., Wherry, E. J., Boone, D., Murali-Krishna, K., Antia, R., Ma, A., and Ahmed, R. (2002). Interleukin 15 is required for proliferative renewal of virus-specific memory CD8 T cells. J Exp Med 195, 1541-1548.

Berg, E. L., Robinson, M. K., Warnock, R. A., and Butcher, E. C. (1991). The human peripheral lymph node vascular addressin is a ligand for LECAM-1, the peripheral lymph node homing receptor. J Cell Biol *114*, 343-349.

Bergmann, C. C., Ramakrishna, C., Kornacki, M., and Stohlman, S. A. (2001). Impaired T cell immunity in B cell-deficient mice following viral central nervous system infection. J Immunol *167*, 1575-1583.

Bevan, M. J. (1976). Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J Exp Med 143, 1283-1288.

Bhattacharya, A., Dorf, M. E., and Springer, T. A. (1981). A shared alloantigenic determinant on Ia antigens encoded by the I-A and I-E subregions: evidence for I region gene duplication. J Immunol *127*, 2488-2495.

Bjorkdahl, O., Barber, K. A., Brett, S. J., Daly, M. G., Plumpton, C., Elshourbagy, N. A., Tite, J. P., and Thomsen, L. L. (2003). Characterization of CC-chemokine receptor 7 expression on murine T cells in lymphoid tissues. Immunology *110*, 170-179.

Borriello, F., Sethna, M. P., Boyd, S. D., Schweitzer, A. N., Tivol, E. A., Jacoby, D., Strom, T. B., Simpson, E. M., Freeman, G. J., and Sharpe, A. H. (1997). B7-1 and B7-2 have overlapping, critical roles in immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. Immunity *6*, 303-313.

Bourgeois, C., Rocha, B., and Tanchot, C. (2002). A role for CD40 expression on CD8+ T cells in the generation of CD8+ T cell memory. Science 297, 2060-2063.

Bousso, P., and Robey, E. (2003). Dynamics of CD8+ T cell priming by dendritic cells in intact lymph nodes. Nat Immunol 4, 579-585.

Bradley, L. M., Harbertson, J., Biederman, E., Zhang, Y., Bradley, S. M., and Linton, P. J. (2002). Availability of antigen-presenting cells can determine the extent of CD4 effector expansion and priming for secretion of Th2 cytokines in vivo. Eur J Immunol *32*, 2338-2346.

Browning, J. L., Androlewicz, M. J., and Ware, C. F. (1991). Lymphotoxin and an associated 33-kDa glycoprotein are expressed on the surface of an activated human T cell hybridoma. J Immunol *147*, 1230-1237.

Bunce, C., and Bell, E. B. (1997). CD45RC isoforms define two types of CD4 memory T cells, one of which depends on persisting antigen. J Exp Med 185, 767-776.

Cahalan, M. D., Parker, I., Wei, S. H., and Miller, M. J. (2002). Two-photon tissue imaging: seeing the immune system in a fresh light. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 872-880.

Camacho, S. A., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., and Berek, C. (1998). The dynamic structure of the germinal center. Immunol Today 19, 511-514.

Cambier, J. C., and Lehmann, K. R. (1989). Ia-mediated signal transduction leads to proliferation of primed B lymphocytes. J Exp Med 170, 877-886.

Cameron, T. O., Cochran, J. R., Yassine-Diab, B., Sekaly, R. P., and Stern, L. J. (2001). Cutting edge: detection of antigen-specific CD4+ T cells by HLA-DR1 oligomers is dependent on the T cell activation state. J Immunol *166*, 741-745.

Casamayor-Palleja, M., Feuillard, J., Ball, J., Drew, M., and MacLennan, I. C. (1996). Centrocytes rapidly adopt a memory B cell phenotype on co-culture with autologous germinal centre T cell-enriched preparations. Int Immunol *8*, 737-744.

Cassell, D. J., and Schwartz, R. H. (1994). A quantitative analysis of antigen-presenting cell function: activated B cells stimulate naive CD4 T cells but are inferior to dendritic cells in providing costimulation. J Exp Med *180*, 1829-1840.

Castiglioni, P., Lu, C., Lo, D., Croft, M., Langlade-Demoyen, P., Zanetti, M., and Gerloni, M. (2003). CD4 T cell priming in dendritic cell-deficient mice. Int Immunol 15, 127-136.

Catlett, I. M., Xie, P., Hostager, B. S., and Bishop, G. A. (2001). Signaling through MHC class II molecules blocks CD95-induced apoptosis. J Immunol *166*, 6019-6024.

Caux, C., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B., Dubois, B., Van Kooten, C., Durand, I., and Banchereau, J. (1994). Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 cross-linking. J Exp Med *180*, 1263-1272.

Cella, M., Scheidegger, D., Palmer-Lehmann, K., Lane, P., Lanzavecchia, A., and Alber, G. (1996). Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. J Exp Med *184*, 747-752.

Chan, O., and Shlomchik, M. J. (1998). A new role for B cells in systemic autoimmunity: B cells promote spontaneous T cell activation in MRL-lpr/lpr mice. J Immunol *160*, 51-59.

Chan, O. T., Hannum, L. G., Haberman, A. M., Madaio, M. P., and Shlomchik, M. J. (1999). A novel mouse with B cells but lacking serum antibody reveals an antibodyindependent role for B cells in murine lupus. J Exp Med *189*, 1639-1648.

Chen, J., Trounstine, M., Alt, F. W., Young, F., Kurahara, C., Loring, J. F., and Huszar, D. (1993). Immunoglobulin gene rearrangement in B cell deficient mice generated by targeted deletion of the JH locus. Int Immunol 5, 647-656.

Cheng, P. C., Steele, C. R., Gu, L., Song, W., and Pierce, S. K. (1999). MHC class II antigen processing in B cells: accelerated intracellular targeting of antigens. J Immunol *162*, 7171-7180.

Cherwinski, H. M., Schumacher, J. H., Brown, K. D., and Mosmann, T. R. (1987). Two types of mouse helper T cell clone. III. Further differences in lymphokine synthesis between Th1 and Th2 clones revealed by RNA hybridization, functionally monospecific bioassays, and monoclonal antibodies. J Exp Med *166*, 1229-1244.

Cinamon, G., Matloubian, M., Lesneski, M. J., Xu, Y., Low, C., Lu, T., Proia, R. L., and Cyster, J. G. (2004). Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 promotes B cell localization in the splenic marginal zone. Nat Immunol 5, 713-720.

Clatza, A., Bonifaz, L. C., Vignali, D. A., and Moreno, J. (2003). CD40-induced aggregation of MHC class II and CD80 on the cell surface leads to an early enhancement in antigen presentation. J Immunol *171*, 6478-6487.

Coffman, R. L., and Reiner, S. L. (1999). Instruction, selection, or tampering with the odds? Science 284, 1283, 1285.

Conboy, I. M., DeKruyff, R. H., Tate, K. M., Cao, Z. A., Moore, T. A., Umetsu, D. T., and Jones, P. P. (1997). Novel genetic regulation of T helper 1 (Th1)/Th2 cytokine production and encephalitogenicity in inbred mouse strains. J Exp Med 185, 439-451.

Constant, S., Schweitzer, N., West, J., Ranney, P., and Bottomly, K. (1995). B lymphocytes can be competent antigen-presenting cells for priming CD4+ T cells to protein antigens in vivo. J Immunol *155*, 3734-3741.

Constant, S. L. (1999). B lymphocytes as antigen-presenting cells for CD4+ T cell priming in vivo. J Immunol *162*, 5695-5703.

Cosgrove, D., Gray, D., Dierich, A., Kaufman, J., Lemeur, M., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. (1991). Mice lacking MHC class II molecules. Cell 66, 1051-1066.

Croft, M., Bradley, L. M., and Swain, S. L. (1994). Naive versus memory CD4 T cell response to antigen. Memory cells are less dependent on accessory cell costimulation and can respond to many antigen-presenting cell types including resting B cells. J Immunol *152*, 2675-2685.

Crowe, P. D., VanArsdale, T. L., Walter, B. N., Ware, C. F., Hession, C., Ehrenfels, B., Browning, J. L., Din, W. S., Goodwin, R. G., and Smith, C. A. (1994). A lymphotoxinbeta-specific receptor. Science 264, 707-710.

Crowley, M. T., Reilly, C. R., and Lo, D. (1999). Influence of lymphocytes on the presence and organization of dendritic cell subsets in the spleen. J Immunol *163*, 4894-4900.

Cunningham, A. F., Serre, K., Mohr, E., Khan, M., and Toellner, K. M. (2004). Loss of CD154 impairs the Th2 extrafollicular plasma cell response but not early T cell proliferation and interleukin-4 induction. Immunology *113*, 187-193.

Cyster, J. G. (1999). Chemokines and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. Science 286, 2098-2102.

Cyster, J. G., Ansel, K. M., Reif, K., Ekland, E. H., Hyman, P. L., Tang, H. L., Luther, S. A., and Ngo, V. N. (2000). Follicular stromal cells and lymphocyte homing to follicles. Immunol Rev *176*, 181-193.

De Togni, P., Goellner, J., Ruddle, N. H., Streeter, P. R., Fick, A., Mariathasan, S., Smith, S. C., Carlson, R., Shornick, L. P., Strauss-Schoenberger, J., and et al. (1994). Abnormal development of peripheral lymphoid organs in mice deficient in lymphotoxin. Science 264, 703-707.

Diehn, M., Alizadeh, A. A., Rando, O. J., Liu, C. L., Stankunas, K., Botstein, D., Crabtree, G. R., and Brown, P. O. (2002). Genomic expression programs and the integration of the CD28 costimulatory signal in T cell activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 11796-11801.

Dijkstra, C. D., Kamperdijk, E. W., and Dopp, E. A. (1984). The ontogenetic development of the follicular dendritic cell. An ultrastructural study by means of intravenously injected horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-anti-HRP complexes as marker. Cell Tissue Res 236, 203-206.

DiPaolo, R. J., and Unanue, E. R. (2002). Cutting edge: the relative distribution of T cells responding to chemically dominant or minor epitopes of lysozyme is not affected by CD40-CD40 ligand and B7-CD28-CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways. J Immunol *169*, 2832-2836.

Doherty, P. C. (1998). The numbers game for virus-specific CD8+ T cells. Science 280, 227.

Doyle, A. G., Buttigieg, K., Groves, P., Johnson, B. J., and Kelso, A. (1999). The activated type 1-polarized CD8(+) T cell population isolated from an effector site contains cells with flexible cytokine profiles. J Exp Med *190*, 1081-1092.

Epstein, M. M., Di Rosa, F., Jankovic, D., Sher, A., and Matzinger, P. (1995). Successful T cell priming in B cell-deficient mice. J Exp Med 182, 915-922.

Erickson, S. L., de Sauvage, F. J., Kikly, K., Carver-Moore, K., Pitts-Meek, S., Gillett, N., Sheehan, K. C., Schreiber, R. D., Goeddel, D. V., and Moore, M. W. (1994). Decreased sensitivity to tumour-necrosis factor but normal T-cell development in TNF receptor-2-deficient mice. Nature *372*, 560-563.

Ettinger, R., Mebius, R., Browning, J. L., Michie, S. A., van Tuijl, S., Kraal, G., van Ewijk, W., and McDevitt, H. O. (1998). Effects of tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin on peripheral lymphoid tissue development. Int Immunol *10*, 727-741.

Eugster, H. P., Muller, M., Karrer, U., Car, B. D., Schnyder, B., Eng, V. M., Woerly, G., Le Hir, M., di Padova, F., Aguet, M., *et al.* (1996). Multiple immune abnormalities in tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin- alpha double-deficient mice. Int Immunol *8*, 23-36.

Evans, D. E., Prell, R. A., Thalhofer, C. J., Hurwitz, A. A., and Weinberg, A. D. (2001). Engagement of OX40 enhances antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell mobilization/memory development and humoral immunity: comparison of alphaOX-40 with alphaCTLA-4. J Immunol *167*, 6804-6811. Ferguson, S. E., Han, S., Kelsoe, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1996). CD28 is required for germinal center formation. J Immunol 156, 4576-4581.

Fillatreau, S., and Gray, D. (2003). T cell accumulation in B cell follicles is regulated by dendritic cells and is independent of B cell activation. J Exp Med 197, 195-206.

Fillatreau, S., Sweenie, C. H., McGeachy, M. J., Gray, D., and Anderton, S. M. (2002). B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. Nat Immunol 3, 944-950.

Fitzpatrick, D. R., Shirley, K. M., and Kelso, A. (1999). Cutting edge: stable epigenetic inheritance of regional IFN-gamma promoter demethylation in CD44highCD8+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol *162*, 5053-5057.

Fitzpatrick, D. R., Shirley, K. M., McDonald, L. E., Bielefeldt-Ohmann, H., Kay, G. F., and Kelso, A. (1998). Distinct methylation of the interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) and interleukin 3 (IL-3) genes in newly activated primary CD8+ T lymphocytes: regional IFN-gamma promoter demethylation and mRNA expression are heritable in CD44(high)CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med *188*, 103-117.

Flynn, S., Toellner, K. M., Raykundalia, C., Goodall, M., and Lane, P. (1998). CD4 T cell cytokine differentiation: the B cell activation molecule, OX40 ligand, instructs CD4 T cells to express interleukin 4 and upregulates expression of the chemokine receptor, Blr-1. J Exp Med *188*, 297-304.

Foy, T. M., Laman, J. D., Ledbetter, J. A., Aruffo, A., Claasen, E., and Noelle, R. J. (1994a). gp39-CD40 interactions are essential for germinal centre formation and the development of B cell memory. J Exp Med *180*, 157.

Foy, T. M., Laman, J. D., Ledbetter, J. A., Aruffo, A., Claassen, E., and Noelle, R. J. (1994b). gp39-CD40 interactions are essential for germinal center formation and the development of B cell memory. J Exp Med 180, 157-163.

Fu, Y. X., and Chaplin, D. D. (1999). Development and maturation of secondary lymphoid tissues. Annu Rev Immunol 17, 399-433.

Fu, Y. X., Huang, G., Wang, Y., and Chaplin, D. D. (1998). B lymphocytes induce the formation of follicular dendritic cell clusters in a lymphotoxin alpha-dependent fashion. J Exp Med *187*, 1009-1018.

Fu, Y. X., Huang, G., Wang, Y., and Chaplin, D. D. (2000). Lymphotoxin-alphadependent spleen microenvironment supports the generation of memory B cells and is required for their subsequent antigen-induced activation. J Immunol *164*, 2508-2514.

Fu, Y. X., Molina, H., Matsumoto, M., Huang, G., Min, J., and Chaplin, D. D. (1997). Lymphotoxin-alpha (LTalpha) supports development of splenic follicular structure that is required for IgG responses. J Exp Med *185*, 2111-2120.

Fukui, Y., Hashimoto, O., Sanui, T., Oono, T., Koga, H., Abe, M., Inayoshi, A., Noda, M., Oike, M., Shirai, T., and Sasazuki, T. (2001). Haematopoietic cell-specific CDM family protein DOCK2 is essential for lymphocyte migration. Nature *412*, 826-831.

Futterer, A., Mink, K., Luz, A., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., and Pfeffer, K. (1998). The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. Immunity 9, 59-70.

Chapter 9: References

Garside, P., Ingulli, E., Merica, R. R., Johnson, J. G., Noelle, R. J., and Jenkins, M. K. (1998). Visualization of specific B and T lymphocyte interactions in the lymph node. Science 281, 96-99.

Gonzalez, M., Mackay, F., Browning, J. L., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., and Noelle, R. J. (1998). The sequential role of lymphotoxin and B cells in the development of splenic follicles. J Exp Med 187, 997-1007.

Gorham, J. D., Guler, M. L., Steen, R. G., Mackey, A. J., Daly, M. J., Frederick, K., Dietrich, W. F., and Murphy, K. M. (1996). Genetic mapping of a murine locus controlling development of T helper 1/T helper 2 type responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 12467-12472.

Gramaglia, I., Jember, A., Pippig, S. D., Weinberg, A. D., Killeen, N., and Croft, M. (2000). The OX40 costimulatory receptor determines the development of CD4 memory by regulating primary clonal expansion. J Immunol *165*, 3043-3050.

Gramaglia, I., Mauri, D. N., Miner, K. T., Ware, C. F., and Croft, M. (1999). Lymphotoxin alphabeta is expressed on recently activated naive and Th1-like CD4 cells but is down-regulated by IL-4 during Th2 differentiation. J Immunol *162*, 1333-1338.

Gray, D., Kumararatne, D. S., Lortan, J., Khan, M., and MacLennan, I. C. (1984). Relation of intra-splenic migration of marginal zone B cells to antigen localization on follicular dendritic cells. Immunology 52, 659-669.

Gray, D., MacLennan, I. C., Bazin, H., and Khan, M. (1982). Migrant mu+ delta+ and static mu+ delta- B lymphocyte subsets. Eur J Immunol 12, 564-569.

Gray, D., and Matzinger, P. (1991). T cell memory is short-lived in the absence of antigen. J Exp Med 174, 969-974.

Grewal, I. S., Foellmer, H. G., Grewal, K. D., Xu, J., Hardardottir, F., Baron, J. L., Janeway, C. A., Jr., and Flavell, R. A. (1996). Requirement for CD40 ligand in costimulation induction, T cell activation, and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Science 273, 1864-1867.

Guinamard, R., Okigaki, M., Schlessinger, J., and Ravetch, J. V. (2000). Absence of marginal zone B cells in Pyk-2-deficient mice defines their role in the humoral response. Nat Immunol 1, 31-36.

Gunn, M. D., Ngo, V. N., Ansel, K. M., Ekland, E. H., Cyster, J. G., and Williams, L. T. (1998a). A B-cell-homing chemokine made in lymphoid follicles activates Burkitt's lymphoma receptor-1. Nature *391*, 799-803.

Gunn, M. D., Tangemann, K., Tam, C., Cyster, J. G., Rosen, S. D., and Williams, L. T. (1998b). A chemokine expressed in lymphoid high endothelial venules promotes the adhesion and chemotaxis of naive T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 258-263.

Guo, W., Mourad, W., Charron, D., and Al-Daccak, R. (1999). Ligation of MHC class II molecules differentially upregulates TNF beta gene expression in B cell lines of different MHC class II haplotypes. Hum Immunol *60*, 312-322.

Harton, J. A., Van Hagen, A. E., and Bishop, G. A. (1995). The cytoplasmic and transmembrane domains of MHC class II beta chains deliver distinct signals required for MHC class II-mediated B cell activation. Immunity *3*, 349-358.

Hjelmstrom, P., Juedes, A. E., Fjell, J., and Ruddle, N. H. (1998). B-cell-deficient mice develop experimental allergic encephalomyelitis with demyelination after myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein sensitization. J Immunol *161*, 4480-4483.

Hommel, M., and Kyewski, B. (2003). Dynamic changes during the immune response in T cell-antigen-presenting cell clusters isolated from lymph nodes. J Exp Med 197, 269-280.

Howland, K. C., Ausubel, L. J., London, C. A., and Abbas, A. K. (2000). The roles of CD28 and CD40 ligand in T cell activation and tolerance. J Immunol 164, 4465-4470.

Hu, H., Huston, G., Duso, D., Lepak, N., Roman, E., and Swain, S. L. (2001). CD4(+) T cell effectors can become memory cells with high efficiency and without further division. Nat Immunol 2, 705-710.

Huang, A. Y., Qi, H., and Germain, R. N. (2004). Illuminating the landscape of in vivo immunity; insights from dynamic in situ imaging of secondary lymphoid tissues. Immunity *21*, 331-339.

Ishida, T., Mizushima, S., Azuma, S., Kobayashi, N., Tojo, T., Suzuki, K., Aizawa, S., Watanabe, T., Mosialos, G., Kieff, E., *et al.* (1996a). Identification of TRAF6, a novel tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor protein that mediates signaling from an amino-terminal domain of the CD40 cytoplasmic region. J Biol Chem 271, 28745-28748.

Ishida, T. K., Tojo, T., Aoki, T., Kobayashi, N., Ohishi, T., Watanabe, T., Yamamoto, T., and Inoue, J. (1996b). TRAF5, a novel tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor family protein, mediates CD40 signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 9437-9442.

Itano, A. A., and Jenkins, M. K. (2003). Antigen presentation to naive CD4 T cells in the lymph node. Nat Immunol 4, 733-739.

Itano, A. A., McSorley, S. J., Reinhardt, R. L., Ehst, B. D., Ingulli, E., Rudensky, A. Y., and Jenkins, M. K. (2003). Distinct dendritic cell populations sequentially present antigen to CD4 T cells and stimulate different aspects of cell-mediated immunity. Immunity *19*, 47-57.

Jacob, J., and Baltimore, D. (1999). Modelling T-cell memory by genetic marking of memory T cells in vivo. Nature 399, 593-597.

Jacob, J., Kelsoe, G., Rajewsky, K., and Weiss, U. (1991). Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. Nature 354, 389-392.

Janeway, C. A., Jr., Ron, J., and Katz, M. E. (1987). The B cell is the initiating antigenpresenting cell in peripheral lymph nodes. J Immunol 138, 1051-1055.

Jenkins, M. K. (1994). The ups and downs of T cell costimulation. Immunity 1, 443-446.

Jenkins, M. K., Taylor, P. S., Norton, S. D., and Urdahl, K. B. (1991). CD28 delivers a costimulatory signal involved in antigen-specific IL-2 production by human T cells. J Immunol *147*, 2461-2466.

Kaech, S. M., Hemby, S., Kersh, E., and Ahmed, R. (2002). Molecular and functional profiling of memory CD8 T cell differentiation. Cell 111, 837-851.

Kaech, S. M., Tan, J. T., Wherry, E. J., Konieczny, B. T., Surh, C. D., and Ahmed, R. (2003). Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. Nat Immunol *4*, 1191-1198.

Kapasi, Z. F., Qin, D., Kerr, W. G., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., Shultz, L. D., Tew, J. G., and Szakal, A. K. (1998). Follicular dendritic cell (FDC) precursors in primary lymphoid tissues. J Immunol *160*, 1078-1084.

Karulin, A. Y., Hesse, M. D., Tary-Lehmann, M., and Lehmann, P. V. (2000). Singlecytokine-producing CD4 memory cells predominate in type 1 and type 2 immunity. J Immunol *164*, 1862-1872.

Kass, S. U., Landsberger, N., and Wolffe, A. P. (1997). DNA methylation directs a timedependent repression of transcription initiation. Curr Biol 7, 157-165.

Kassiotis, G., Garcia, S., Simpson, E., and Stockinger, B. (2002). Impairment of immunological memory in the absence of MHC despite survival of memory T cells. Nat Immunol *3*, 244-250.

Kawabe, T., Naka, T., Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Fujiwara, H., Suematsu, S., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Kikutani, H. (1994). The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. Immunity *1*, 167-178.

Kearney, E. R., Walunas, T. L., Karr, R. W., Morton, P. A., Loh, D. Y., Bluestone, J. A., and Jenkins, M. K. (1995). Antigen-dependent clonal expansion of a trace population of antigen-specific CD4+ T cells in vivo is dependent on CD28 costimulation and inhibited by CTLA-4. J Immunol 155, 1032-1036.

Kitamura, D., Roes, J., Kuhn, R., and Rajewsky, K. (1991). A B cell-deficient mouse by targeted disruption of the membrane exon of the immunoglobulin mu chain gene. Nature *350*, 423-426.

Klonowski, K. D., Williams, K. J., Marzo, A. L., Blair, D. A., Lingenheld, E. G., and Lefrancois, L. (2004). Dynamics of blood-borne CD8 memory T cell migration in vivo. Immunity 20, 551-562.

Kondrack, R. M., Harbertson, J., Tan, J. T., McBreen, M. E., Surh, C. D., and Bradley, L. M. (2003). Interleukin 7 regulates the survival and generation of memory CD4 cells. J Exp Med *198*, 1797-1806.

Koni, P. A., and Flavell, R. A. (1999). Lymph node germinal centers form in the absence of follicular dendritic cell networks. J Exp Med 189, 855-864.

Koni, P. A., Sacca, R., Lawton, P., Browning, J. L., Ruddle, N. H., and Flavell, R. A. (1997). Distinct roles in lymphoid organogenesis for lymphotoxins alpha and beta revealed in lymphotoxin beta-deficient mice. Immunity *6*, 491-500.

Kopf, M., Brombacher, F., and Bachmann, M. F. (2002). Role of IgM antibodies versus B cells in influenza virus-specific immunity. Eur J Immunol 32, 2229-2236.

Kumaraguru, U., Davis, I. A., Deshpande, S., Tevethia, S. S., and Rouse, B. T. (2001). Lymphotoxin alpha-/- mice develop functionally impaired CD8+ T cell responses and fail to contain virus infection of the central nervous system. J Immunol *166*, 1066-1074.

Kurt-Jones, E. A., Liano, D., HayGlass, K. A., Benacerraf, B., Sy, M. S., and Abbas, A. K. (1988). The role of antigen-presenting B cells in T cell priming in vivo. Studies of B cell-deficient mice. J Immunol *140*, 3773-3778.

Lalvani, A., Brookes, R., Hambleton, S., Britton, W. J., Hill, A. V., and McMichael, A. J. (1997). Rapid effector function in CD8+ memory T cells. J Exp Med 186, 859-865.

Lane, P., Traunecker, A., Hubele, S., Inui, S., Lanzavecchia, A., and Gray, D. (1992). Activated human T cells express a ligand for the human B cell-associated antigen CD40 which participates in T cell-dependent activation of B lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 22, 2573-2578.

Lang, P., Stolpa, J. C., Freiberg, B. A., Crawford, F., Kappler, J., Kupfer, A., and Cambier, J. C. (2001). TCR-induced transmembrane signaling by peptide/MHC class II via associated Ig-alpha/beta dimers. Science 291, 1537-1540.

Langenkamp, A., Messi, M., Lanzavecchia, A., and Sallusto, F. (2000). Kinetics of dendritic cell activation: impact on priming of TH1, TH2 and nonpolarized T cells. Nat Immunol 1, 311-316.

Lantz, O., Grandjean, I., Matzinger, P., and Di Santo, J. P. (2000). Gamma chain required for naive CD4+ T cell survival but not for antigen proliferation. Nat Immunol 1, 54-58.

Lanzavecchia, A. (1998). Immunology. Licence to kill. Nature 393, 413-414.

Le Hir, M., Bluethmann, H., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., Muller, M., di Padova, F., Moore, M., Ryffel, B., and Eugster, H. P. (1996). Differentiation of follicular dendritic cells and full antibody responses require tumor necrosis factor receptor-1 signaling. J Exp Med *183*, 2367-2372.

Lee, B. O., Hartson, L., and Randall, T. D. (2003a). CD40-deficient, influenza-specific CD8 memory T cells develop and function normally in a CD40-sufficient environment. J Exp Med *198*, 1759-1764.

Lee, B. O., Haynes, L., Eaton, S. M., Swain, S. L., and Randall, T. D. (2002). The biological outcome of CD40 signaling is dependent on the duration of CD40 ligand expression: reciprocal regulation by interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-12. J Exp Med *196*, 693-704.

Lee, B. O., Moyron-Quiroz, J., Rangel-Moreno, J., Kusser, K. L., Hartson, L., Sprague, F., Lund, F. E., and Randall, T. D. (2003b). CD40, but not CD154, expression on B cells is necessary for optimal primary B cell responses. J Immunol *171*, 5707-5717.

Lefrancois, L., Altman, J. D., Williams, K., and Olson, S. (2000). Soluble antigen and CD40 triggering are sufficient to induce primary and memory cytotoxic T cells. J Immunol *164*, 725-732.

Legler, D. F., Loetscher, M., Roos, R. S., Clark-Lewis, I., Baggiolini, M., and Moser, B. (1998). B cell-attracting chemokine 1, a human CXC chemokine expressed in lymphoid tissues, selectively attracts B lymphocytes via BLR1/CXCR5. J Exp Med *187*, 655-660.

Chapter 9: References

Lenardo, M., Chan, K. M., Hornung, F., McFarland, H., Siegel, R., Wang, J., and Zheng, L. (1999). Mature T lymphocyte apoptosis--immune regulation in a dynamic and unpredictable antigenic environment. Annu Rev Immunol *17*, 221-253.

Lighvani, A. A., Frucht, D. M., Jankovic, D., Yamane, H., Aliberti, J., Hissong, B. D., Nguyen, B. V., Gadina, M., Sher, A., Paul, W. E., and O'Shea, J. J. (2001). T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 15137-15142.

Linton, P. J., Bautista, B., Biederman, E., Bradley, E. S., Harbertson, J., Kondrack, R. M., Padrick, R. C., and Bradley, L. M. (2003). Costimulation via OX40L expressed by B cells is sufficient to determine the extent of primary CD4 cell expansion and Th2 cytokine secretion in vivo. J Exp Med *197*, 875-883.

Linton, P. J., Harbertson, J., and Bradley, L. M. (2000). A critical role for B cells in the development of memory CD4 cells. J Immunol *165*, 5558-5565.

Liu, Y. J., Johnson, G. D., Gordon, J., and MacLennan, I. C. (1992). Germinal centres in T-cell-dependent antibody responses. Immunol Today 13, 17-21.

Liu, Y. J., Malisan, F., de Bouteiller, O., Guret, C., Lebecque, S., Banchereau, J., Mills, F. C., Max, E. E., and Martinez-Valdez, H. (1996). Within germinal centers, isotype switching of immunoglobulin genes occurs after the onset of somatic mutation. Immunity *4*, 241-250.

Lo, J. C., Chin, R. K., Lee, Y., Kang, H. S., Wang, Y., Weinstock, J. V., Banks, T., Ware, C. F., Franzoso, G., and Fu, Y. X. (2003). Differential regulation of CCL21 in lymphoid/nonlymphoid tissues for effectively attracting T cells to peripheral tissues. J Clin Invest *112*, 1495-1505.

London, C. A., Lodge, M. P., and Abbas, A. K. (2000). Functional responses and costimulator dependence of memory CD4+ T cells. J Immunol *164*, 265-272.

Lumsden, J. M., Williams, J. A., and Hodes, R. J. (2003). Differential requirements for expression of CD80/86 and CD40 on B cells for T-dependent antibody responses in vivo. J Immunol *170*, 781-787.

Lund, F. E., Partida-Sanchez, S., Lee, B. O., Kusser, K. L., Hartson, L., Hogan, R. J., Woodland, D. L., and Randall, T. D. (2002). Lymphotoxin-alpha-deficient mice make delayed, but effective, T and B cell responses to influenza. J Immunol *169*, 5236-5243.

Lyons, A. B., and Parish, C. R. (1994). Determination of lymphocyte division by flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods *171*, 131-137.

Macaulay, A. E., DeKruyff, R. H., and Umetsu, D. T. (1998). Antigen-primed T cells from B cell-deficient JHD mice fail to provide B cell help. J Immunol *160*, 1694-1700.

Mackay, F., and Browning, J. L. (1998). Turning off follicular dendritic cells. Nature 395, 26-27.

Mackay, F., Majeau, G. R., Lawton, P., Hochman, P. S., and Browning, J. L. (1997). Lymphotoxin but not tumor necrosis factor functions to maintain splenic architecture and humoral responsiveness in adult mice. Eur J Immunol 27, 2033-2042.

MacLennan, I. C., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Toellner, K. M., Casamayor-Palleja, M., Chan, E., Sze, D. M., Luther, S. A., and Orbea, H. A. (1997). The changing preference of T and B cells for partners as T-dependent antibody responses develop. Immunological Reviews *156*, 53-66.

MandikNayak, L., Huang, G., Sheehan, K. C. F., Erikson, J., and Chaplin, D. D. (2001). signaling through TNF Receptor p55 in TNF-alpha-deficient mice alters the CXCL13/CCL19/CCL21 ration in the spleen and induces maturation and migration of anergic B cells into the B cell follicle. J of Immunology *167*, 1920-19228.

Manickasingham, S., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2000). Microbial and T cell-derived stimuli regulate antigen presentation by dendritic cells in vivo. J Immunol *165*, 5027-5034.

Manjunath, N., Shankar, P., Wan, J., Weninger, W., Crowley, M. A., Hieshima, K., Springer, T. A., Fan, X., Shen, H., Lieberman, J., and von Andrian, U. H. (2001). Effector differentiation is not prerequisite for generation of memory cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest *108*, 871-878.

Martin, F., and Kearney, J. F. (2001). B1 cells: similarities and differences with other B cell subsets. Curr Opin Immunol 13, 195-201.

Martin, F., and Kearney, J. F. (2002). Marginal-zone B cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 323-335.

Marzo, A. L., Vezys, V., Klonowski, K. D., Lee, S. J., Muralimohan, G., Moore, M., Tough, D. F., and Lefrancois, L. (2004). Fully functional memory CD8 T cells in the absence of CD4 T cells. J Immunol *173*, 969-975.

Masopust, D., Vezys, V., Usherwood, E. J., Cauley, L. S., Olson, S., Marzo, A. L., Ward, R. L., Woodland, D. L., and Lefrancois, L. (2004). Activated primary and memory CD8 T cells migrate to nonlymphoid tissues regardless of site of activation or tissue of origin. J Immunol *172*, 4875-4882.

Matloubian, M., Concepcion, R. J., and Ahmed, R. (1994). CD4+ T cells are required to sustain CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell responses during chronic viral infection. J Virol *68*, 8056-8063.

Matsumoto, M., Fu, Y. X., Molina, H., Huang, G., Kim, J., Thomas, D. A., Nahm, M. H., and Chaplin, D. D. (1997). Distinct roles of lymphotoxin alpha and the type I tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor in the establishment of follicular dendritic cells from non-bone marrow-derived cells. J Exp Med *186*, 1997-2004.

Matsumoto, M., Lo, S. F., Carruthers, C. J., Min, J., Mariathasan, S., Huang, G., Plas, D. R., Martin, S. M., Geha, R. S., Nahm, M. H., and Chaplin, D. D. (1996). Affinity maturation without germinal centres in lymphotoxin-alpha-deficient mice. Nature *382*, 462-466.

Mauri, D. N., Ebner, R., Montgomery, R. I., Kochel, K. D., Cheung, T. C., Yu, G. L., Ruben, S., Murphy, M., Eisenberg, R. J., Cohen, G. H., *et al.* (1998). LIGHT, a new member of the TNF superfamily, and lymphotoxin alpha are ligands for herpesvirus entry mediator. Immunity *8*, 21-30.

Mempel, T. R., Henrickson, S. E., and Von Andrian, U. H. (2004). T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. Nature 427, 154-159.

Miga, A. J., Masters, S. R., Durell, B. G., Gonzalez, M., Jenkins, M. K., Maliszewski, C., Kikutani, H., Wade, W. F., and Noelle, R. J. (2001). Dendritic cell longevity and T cell persistence is controlled by CD154-CD40 interactions. Eur J Immunol *31*, 959-965.

Miller, M. J., Safrina, O., Parker, I., and Cahalan, M. D. (2004). Imaging the single cell dynamics of CD4+ T cell activation by dendritic cells in lymph nodes. J Exp Med 200, 847-856.

Miller, M. J., Wei, S. H., Cahalan, M. D., and Parker, I. (2003). Autonomous T cell trafficking examined in vivo with intravital two-photon microscopy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 2604-2609.

Miller, M. J., Wei, S. H., Parker, I., and Cahalan, M. D. (2002). Two-photon imaging of lymphocyte motility and antigen response in intact lymph node. Science 296, 1869-1873.

Mogil, R. J., Radvanyi, L., Gonzalez-Quintial, R., Miller, R., Mills, G., Theofilopoulos, A. N., and Green, D. R. (1995). Fas (CD95) participates in peripheral T cell deletion and associated apoptosis in vivo. Int Immunol 7, 1451-1458.

Moodycliffe, A. M., Shreedhar, V., Ullrich, S. E., Walterscheid, J., Bucana, C., Kripke, M. L., and Flores-Romo, L. (2000). CD40-CD40 ligand interactions in vivo regulate migration of antigen-bearing dendritic cells from the skin to draining lymph nodes. J Exp Med 191, 2011-2020.

Mora, J. R., Bono, M. R., Manjunath, N., Weninger, W., Cavanagh, L. L., Rosemblatt, M., and Von Andrian, U. H. (2003). Selective imprinting of gut-homing T cells by Peyer's patch dendritic cells. Nature 424, 88-93.

Moser, M., and Murphy, K. M. (2000). Dendritic cell regulation of TH1-TH2 development. Nat Immunol 1, 199-205.

Moskophidis, D., Lechner, F., Pircher, H., and Zinkernagel, R. M. (1993). Virus persistence in acutely infected immunocompetent mice by exhaustion of antiviral cytotoxic effector T cells. Nature *362*, 758-761.

Moulin, V., Andris, F., Thielemans, K., Maliszewski, C., Urbain, J., and Moser, M. (2000). B lymphocytes regulate dendritic cell (DC) function in vivo: increased interleukin 12 production by DCs from B cell-deficient mice results in T helper cell type 1 deviation. J Exp Med *192*, 475-482.

Muller, S., Hunziker, L., Enzler, S., Buhler-Jungo, M., Di Santo, J. P., Zinkernagel, R. M., and Mueller, C. (2002). Role of an intact splenic microarchitecture in early lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus production. J Virol *76*, 2375-2383.

Murali-Krishna, K., Lau, L. L., Sambhara, S., Lemonnier, F., Altman, J., and Ahmed, R. (1999). Persistence of memory CD8 T cells in MHC class I-deficient mice. Science 286, 1377-1381.

Murata, K., Ishii, N., Takano, H., Miura, S., Ndhlovu, L. C., Nose, M., Noda, T., and Sugamura, K. (2000). Impairment of antigen-presenting cell function in mice lacking expression of OX40 ligand. J Exp Med *191*, 365-374.

Chapter 9: References

Murphy, E., Shibuya, K., Hosken, N., Openshaw, P., Maino, V., Davis, K., Murphy, K., and O'Garra, A. (1996). Reversibility of T helper 1 and 2 populations is lost after long-term stimulation. J Exp Med *183*, 901-913.

Muzio, M., Chinnaiyan, A. M., Kischkel, F. C., O'Rourke, K., Shevchenko, A., Ni, J., Scaffidi, C., Bretz, J. D., Zhang, M., Gentz, R., *et al.* (1996). FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/APO-1) death-inducing signaling complex. Cell *85*, 817-827.

Myers, K. J., Sprent, J., Dougherty, J. P., and Ron, Y. (1992). Synergy between encephalitogenic T cells and myelin basic protein-specific antibodies in the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 41, 1-8.

Nabavi, N., Ghogawala, Z., Myer, A., Griffith, I. J., Wade, W. F., Chen, Z. Z., McKean, D. J., and Glimcher, L. H. (1989). Antigen presentation abrogated in cells expressing truncated Ia molecules. J Immunol *142*, 1444-1447.

Naito, M., Nagai, H., Kawano, S., Umezu, H., Zhu, H., Moriyama, H., Yamamoto, T., Takatsuka, H., and Takei, Y. (1996). Liposome-encapsulated dichloromethylene diphosphonate induces macrophage apoptosis in vivo and in vitro. J Leukoc Biol *60*, 337-344.

Ngo, V. N., Cornall, R. J., and Cyster, J. G. (2001). Splenic T zone development is B cell dependent. J Exp Med 194, 1649-1660.

Ngo, V. N., Korner, H., Gunn, M. D., Schmidt, K. N., Riminton, D. S., Cooper, M. D., Browning, J. L., Sedgwick, J. D., and Cyster, J. G. (1999). Lymphotoxin alpha/beta and tumor necrosis factor are required for stromal cell expression of homing chemokines in B and T cell areas of the spleen. J Exp Med *189*, 403-412.

Ngo, V. N., Tang, H. L., and Cyster, J. G. (1998). Epstein-Barr virus-induced molecule 1 ligand chemokine is expressed by dendritic cells in lymphoid tissues and strongly attracts naive T cells and activated B cells. J Exp Med *188*, 181-191.

Nolte, M. A., Belien, J. A., Schadee-Eestermans, I., Jansen, W., Unger, W. W., van Rooijen, N., Kraal, G., and Mebius, R. E. (2003). A conduit system distributes chemokines and small blood-borne molecules through the splenic white pulp. J Exp Med 198, 505-512.

Nossal, G. J., Abbot, A., Mitchell, J., and Lummus, Z. (1968). Antigens in immunity. XV. Ultrastructural features of antigen capture in primary and secondary lymphoid follicles. J Exp Med *127*, 277-290.

O'Garra, A., Stapleton, G., Dhar, V., Pearce, M., Schumacher, J., Rugo, H., Barbis, D., Stall, A., Cupp, J., and Moore, K. (1990). Production of cytokines by mouse B cells: B lymphomas and normal B cells produce interleukin 10. Int Immunol 2, 821-832.

Oliver, A. M., Martin, F., and Kearney, J. F. (1999). IgMhighCD21high lymphocytes enriched in the splenic marginal zone generate effector cells more rapidly than the bulk of follicular B cells. J Immunol *162*, 7198-7207.

Oliver, A. R., Lyon, G. M., and Ruddle, N. H. (2003). Rat and human myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteins induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by different mechanisms in C57BL/6 mice. J Immunol *171*, 462-468.

Opferman, J. T., Ober, B. T., and Ashton-Rickardt, P. G. (1999). Linear differentiation of cytotoxic effectors into memory T lymphocytes. Science 283, 1745-1748.

Ouyang, W., Lohning, M., Gao, Z., Assenmacher, M., Ranganath, S., Radbruch, A., and Murphy, K. M. (2000). Stat6-independent GATA-3 autoactivation directs IL-4-independent Th2 development and commitment. Immunity *12*, 27-37.

Oxenius, A., Campbell, K. A., Maliszewski, C. R., Kishimoto, T., Kikutani, H., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R. M., and Bachmann, M. F. (1996). CD40-CD40 ligand interactions are critical in T-B cooperation but not for other anti-viral CD4+ T cell functions. J Exp Med *183*, 2209-2218.

Ozaki, M. E., Coren, B. A., Huynh, T. N., Redondo, D. J., Kikutani, H., and Webb, S. R. (1999). CD4+ T cell responses to CD40-deficient APCs: defects in proliferation and negative selection apply only with B cells as APCs. J Immunol *163*, 5250-5256.

Pasparakis, M., Alexopoulou, L., Episkopou, V., and Kollias, G. (1996). Immune and inflammatory responses in TNF alpha-deficient mice: a critical requirement for TNF alpha in the formation of primary B cell follicles, follicular dendritic cell networks and germinal centers, and in the maturation of the humoral immune response. J Exp Med 184, 1397-1411.

Pasparakis, M., Alexopoulou, L., Grell, M., Pfizenmaier, K., Bluethmann, H., and Kollias, G. (1997). Peyer's patch organogenesis is intact yet formation of B lymphocyte follicles is defective in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice deficient for tumor necrosis factor and its 55-kDa receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 6319-6323.

Pihlgren, M., Dubois, P. M., Tomkowiak, M., Sjogren, T., and Marvel, J. (1996). Resting memory CD8+ T cells are hyperreactive to antigenic challenge in vitro. J Exp Med 184, 2141-2151.

Potsch, C., Vohringer, D., and Pircher, H. (1999). Distinct migration patterns of naive and effector CD8 T cells in the spleen: correlation with CCR7 receptor expression and chemokine reactivity. Eur J Immunol 29, 3562-3570.

Poudrier, J., van Essen, D., Morales-Alcelay, S., Leanderson, T., Bergthorsdottir, S., and Gray, D. (1998). CD40 ligand signals optimize T helper cell cytokine production: role in Th2 development and induction of germinal centers. Eur J Immunol 28, 3371-3383.

Pulendran, B., Lingappa, J., Kennedy, M. K., Smith, J., Teepe, M., Rudensky, A., Maliszewski, C. R., and Maraskovsky, E. (1997). Developmental pathways of dendritic cells in vivo: distinct function, phenotype, and localization of dendritic cell subsets in FLT3 ligand-treated mice. J Immunol *159*, 2222-2231.

randolph, D. A., Huang, G., carruthers, C. J. L., Bromley, L. E., and Chaplin, D. D. (1999). the role of CCR7 in Th1 and Th2 cell localisation and delivery of B cell help in vivo. science 286, 2159-2162.
Reif, K., Ekland, E. H., Ohl, L., Nakano, H., Lipp, M., Forster, R., and Cyster, J. G. (2002). Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. Nature *416*, 94-99.

Reinhardt, R. L., Khoruts, A., Merica, R., Zell, T., and Jenkins, M. K. (2001). Visualizing the generation of memory CD4 T cells in the whole body. Nature 410, 101-105.

Rivera, A., Chen, C. C., Ron, N., Dougherty, J. P., and Ron, Y. (2001). Role of B cells as antigen-presenting cells in vivo revisited: antigen- specific B cells are essential for T cell expansion in lymph nodes and for systemic T cell responses to low antigen concentrations. Int Immunol 13, 1583-1593.

Rock, K. L., Benacerraf, B., and Abbas, A. K. (1984). Antigen presentation by haptenspecific B lymphocytes. I. Role of surface immunoglobulin receptors. J Exp Med 160, 1102-1113.

Rogers, P. R., Song, J., Gramaglia, I., Killeen, N., and Croft, M. (2001). OX40 promotes Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 expression and is essential for long-term survival of CD4 T cells. Immunity 15, 445-455.

Ron, Y., and Sprent, J. (1987). T cell priming in vivo: a major role for B cells in presenting antigen to T cells in lymph nodes. J Immunol 138, 2848-2856.

Ryffel, B., and Mihatsch, M. J. (1993). TNF receptor distribution in human tissues. Int Rev Exp Pathol 34 Pt B, 149-156.

Sacca, R., Turley, S., Soong, L., Mellman, I., and Ruddle, N. H. (1997). Transgenic expression of lymphotoxin restores lymph nodes to lymphotoxin-alpha-deficient mice. J Immunol *159*, 4252-4260.

Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Forster, R., Lipp, M., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1999). Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature 401, 708-712.

Sallusto, F., Schaerli, P., Loetscher, P., Schaniel, C., Lenig, D., Mackay, C. R., Qin, S., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1998). Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. Eur J Immunol 28, 2760-2769.

Sanders, V. M., Snyder, J. M., Uhr, J. W., and Vitetta, E. S. (1986). Characterization of the physical interaction between antigen-specific B and T cells. J Immunol *137*, 2395-2404.

Sangster, M. Y., Riberdy, J. M., Gonzalez, M., Topham, D. J., Baumgarth, N., and Doherty, P. C. (2003). An early CD4+ T cell-dependent immunoglobulin A response to influenza infection in the absence of key cognate T-B interactions. J Exp Med *198*, 1011-1021.

Schepers, K., Toebes, M., Sotthewes, G., Vyth-Dreese, F. A., Dellemijn, T. A., Melief, C. J., Ossendorp, F., and Schumacher, T. N. (2002). Differential kinetics of antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses in the regression of retrovirus-induced sarcomas. J Immunol *169*, 3191-3199.

Schoenberger, S. P., Toes, R. E., van der Voort, E. I., Offringa, R., and Melief, C. J. (1998). T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature *393*, 480-483.

Scott, P. (1989). The role of TH1 and TH2 cells in experimental cutaneous leishmaniasis. Exp Parasitol 68, 369-372.

Serreze, D. V., Chapman, H. D., Varnum, D. S., Hanson, M. S., Reifsnyder, P. C., Richard, S. D., Fleming, S. A., Leiter, E. H., and Shultz, L. D. (1996). B lymphocytes are essential for the initiation of T cell-mediated autoimmune diabetes: analysis of a new "speed congenic" stock of NOD.Ig mu null mice. J Exp Med 184, 2049-2053.

Shedlock, D. J., and Shen, H. (2003). Requirement for CD4 T cell help in generating functional CD8 T cell memory. Science 300, 337-339.

Shen, H., Whitmire, J. K., Fan, X., Shedlock, D. J., Kaech, S. M., and Ahmed, R. (2003). A Specific Role for B Cells in the Generation of CD8 T Cell Memory by Recombinant Listeria monocytogenes. J Immunol *170*, 1443-1451.

Smiley, S. T., Laufer, T. M., Lo, D., Glimcher, L. H., and Grusby, M. J. (1995). Transgenic mice expressing MHC class II molecules with truncated A beta cytoplasmic domains reveal signaling-independent defects in antigen presentation. Int Immunol 7, 665-677.

Smith, K. M., Brewer, J. M., Rush, C. M., Riley, J., and Garside, P. (2004). In vivo generated Th1 cells can migrate to B cell follicles to support B cell responses. J Immunol *173*, 1640-1646.

Sornasse, T., Larenas, P. V., Davis, K. A., de Vries, J. E., and Yssel, H. (1996). Differentiation and stability of T helper 1 and 2 cells derived from naive human neonatal CD4+ T cells, analyzed at the single-cell level. J Exp Med *184*, 473-483.

Sprent, J. (1997). Immunological memory. Curr Opin Immunol 9, 371-379.

Sprent, J., and Tough, D. F. T cell death and memory. Science 293, 245.

St-Pierre, Y., Nabavi, N., Ghogawala, Z., Glimcher, L. H., and Watts, T. H. (1989). A functional role for signal transduction via the cytoplasmic domains of MHC class II proteins. J Immunol *143*, 808-812.

Stockinger, B., Zal, T., Zal, A., and Gray, D. (1996). B cells solicit their own help from T cells. J Exp Med 183, 891-899.

Stoll, S., Delon, J., Brotz, T. M., and Germain, R. N. (2002). Dynamic imaging of T celldendritic cell interactions in lymph nodes. Science 296, 1873-1876.

Stuber, E., Neurath, M., Calderhead, D., Fell, H. P., and Strober, W. (1995). Crosslinking of OX40 ligand, a member of the TNF/NGF cytokine family, induces proliferation and differentiation in murine splenic B cells. Immunity 2, 507-521.

Sun, J. C., and Bevan, M. J. (2004). Cutting edge: long-lived CD8 memory and protective immunity in the absence of CD40 expression on CD8 T cells. J Immunol *172*, 3385-3389.

Suresh, M., Lanier, G., Large, M. K., Whitmire, J. K., Altman, J. D., Ruddle, N. H., and Ahmed, R. (2002). Role of lymphotoxin alpha in T-cell responses during an acute viral infection. J Virol *76*, 3943-3951.

Swain, S. L. (1994). generation and in vivo persistence of polarized Th cells. immunity 1, 543-552.

Swain, S. L., Croft, M., Dubey, C., Haynes, L., Rogers, P., Zhang, X., and Bradley, L. M. (1996). From naive to memory T cells. Immunol Rev 150, 143-167.

Swain, S. L., Hu, H., and Huston, G. (1999). Class II-independent generation of CD4 memory T cells from effectors. Science 286, 1381-1383.

Thomsen, A. R., Johansen, J., Marker, O., and Christensen, J. P. (1996). Exhaustion of CTL memory and recrudescence of viremia in lymphocytic choriomeningitis virusinfected MHC class II-deficient mice and B cell-deficient mice. J Immunol 157, 3074-3080.

Topham, D. J., Tripp, R. A., Hamilton-Easton, A. M., Sarawar, S. R., and Doherty, P. C. (1996). Quantitative analysis of the influenza virus-specific CD4+ T cell memory in the absence of B cells and Ig. J Immunol *157*, 2947-2952.

Tumanov, A., Kuprash, D., Lagarkova, M., Grivennikov, S., Abe, K., Shakhov, A., Drutskaya, L., Stewart, C., Chervonsky, A., and Nedospasov, S. (2002). Distinct role of surface lymphotoxin expressed by B cells in the organization of secondary lymphoid tissues. Immunity *17*, 239-250.

Unsoeld, H., Krautwald, S., Voehringer, D., Kunzendorf, U., and Pircher, H. (2002). Cutting edge: CCR7+ and CCR7- memory T cells do not differ in immediate effector cell function. J Immunol *169*, 638-641.

van Essen, D., Dullforce, P., Brocker, T., and Gray, D. (2000). Cellular interactions involved in Th cell memory. J Immunol *165*, 3640-3646.

Van Parijs, L., Peterson, D. A., and Abbas, A. K. (1998). The Fas/Fas ligand pathway and Bcl-2 regulate T cell responses to model self and foreign antigens. Immunity 8, 265-274.

Wade, W. F., Chen, Z. Z., Maki, R., McKercher, S., Palmer, E., Cambier, J. C., and Freed, J. H. (1989). Altered I-A protein-mediated transmembrane signaling in B cells that express truncated I-Ak protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 6297-6301.

Wang, Y., Wang, J., Sun, Y., Wu, Q., and Fu, Y. X. (2001). Complementary effects of TNF and lymphotoxin on the formation of germinal center and follicular dendritic cells. J Immunol *166*, 330-337.

Ware, C. F., VanArsdale, T. L., Crowe, P. D., and Browning, J. L. (1995). The ligands and receptors of the lymphotoxin system. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 198, 175-218.

Wherry, E. J., Teichgraber, V., Becker, T. C., Masopust, D., Kaech, S. M., Antia, R., von Andrian, U. H., and Ahmed, R. (2003). Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. Nat Immunol 4, 225-234.

Whitmire, J. K., Asano, M. S., Murali-Krishna, K., Suresh, M., and Ahmed, R. (1998). Long-term CD4 Th1 and Th2 memory following acute lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. J Virol 72, 8281-8288.

Whitmire, J. K., Flavell, R. A., Grewal, I. S., Larsen, C. P., Pearson, T. C., and Ahmed, R. (1999). CD40-CD40 ligand costimulation is required for generating antiviral CD4 T cell responses but is dispensable for CD8 T cell responses. J Immunol *163*, 3194-3201.

Wykes, M., Pombo, A., Jenkins, C., and MacPherson, G. G. (1998a). Dendritic cells interact directly with naive B lymphocytes to transfer antigen and initiate class switching in a primary T-dependent response. J Immunol *161*, 1313-1319.

Wykes, M., Poudrier, J., Lindstedt, R., and Gray, D. (1998b). Regulation of cytoplasmic, surface and soluble forms of CD40 ligand in mouse B cells. Eur J Immunol 28, 548-559.

Yap, G., Pesin, M., and Sher, A. (2000). Cutting edge: IL-12 is required for the maintenance of IFN-gamma production in T cells mediating chronic resistance to the intracellular pathogen, Toxoplasma gondii. J Immunol *165*, 628-631.

Yellin, M. J., Sinning, J., Covey, L. R., Sherman, W., Lee, J. J., Glickman-Nir, E., Sippel, K. C., Rogers, J., Cleary, A. M., Parker, M., and et al. (1994). T lymphocyte T cell-B cell-activating molecule/CD40-L molecules induce normal B cells or chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells to express CD80 (B7/BB-1) and enhance their costimulatory activity. J Immunol 153, 666-674.

Yip, H. C., Karulin, A. Y., Tary-Lehmann, M., Hesse, M. D., Radeke, H., Heeger, P. S., Trezza, R. P., Heinzel, F. P., Forsthuber, T., and Lehmann, P. V. (1999). Adjuvant-guided type-1 and type-2 immunity: infectious/noninfectious dichotomy defines the class of response. J Immunol *162*, 3942-3949.

Zhang, X., Sun, S., Hwang, I., Tough, D. F., and Sprent, J. (1998). Potent and selective stimulation of memory-phenotype CD8+ T cells in vivo by IL-15. Immunity 8, 591-599.

Zhong, G., Reis e Sousa, C., and Germain, R. N. (1997). Antigen-unspecific B cells and lymphoid dendritic cells both show extensive surface expression of processed antigenmajor histocompatibility complex class II complexes after soluble protein exposure in vivo or in vitro. J Exp Med *186*, 673-682. "How some of the writers I come across get through their books without dying of boredom is beyond me."

## William Gaddis